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China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B % & [ 2 B R A 7]

CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement (appointed on 6 April 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Han Zhenghai (Joint Board Chairman)
Ms. Yang Xiaogjiu (resigned on 13 February 2022)
Mr. Yan Peng (resigned on 30 December 2021)
Ms. Li Jiangtao
(appointed on 17 June 2021 and
resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Deng Dongping (re-designated on 12 July 2021)
Mr. Liu Lihan (re-designated on 12 July 2021)
Mr. Gao Yun
(appointed on é August 2021 and
further appointed as Joint Board Chairman
on 20 September 2021)
Mr. Zhu Zhikun (appointed on é August 2021)
Mr. Zeng Xiaohui
(appointed on 20 September 2021 and
resigned on 20 December 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lai Yuen Piu (retired on 16 September 2021)

Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie (resigned on 17 June 2021)
Mr. Deng Dongping (ceased on 12 July 2021)

Mr. Liu Lihan (ceased on 12 July 2021)

Ms. Mo Li (appointed on 17 June 2021)
Mr. Kan Yat Kit
(appointed on 12 July 2021 and
resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (appointed on 12 July 2021)
Mr. Shi Zhu (appointed on 6 August 2021)
Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 20 September 2021)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~AEER

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Kan Yat Kit
(appointed on 12 July 2021 and
resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lai Yuen Piu (retired on 16 September 2021)
Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie (resigned on 17 June 2021)
Mr. Deng Dongping (ceased on 12 July 2021)

Mr. Liu Lihan (ceased on 12 July 2021)

Ms. Mo Li (Chairman)
(appointed on 17 June 2021 and further as
committee chairman on 6 April 2022)

Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (appointed on 12 July 2021)
Mr. Shi Zhu (appointed on 6 August 2021)
Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 20 September 2021)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Mo Li (Chairman)
(appointed as member on 17 June 2021 and
further as committee chairman on 12 July 2021)

Mr. Lai Yuen Piu (retired on 16 September 2021)
Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie (resigned on 17 June 2021)
Mr. Deng Dongping (ceased on 12 July 2021)

Mr. Liu Lihan (ceased on 12 July 2021)

Mr. Kan Yat Kit
(appointed on 12 July 2021 and
resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (appointed on 12 July 2021)
Mr. Han Zhenghai
Mr. Shi Zhu (appointed on 6 August 2021)
Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 20 September 2021)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEER

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Han Zhenghai (Chairman)

Mr. Lai Yuen Piu (retired on 16 September 2021)

Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie (resigned on 17 June 2021)
Mr. Deng Dongping (ceased on 12 July 2021)

Mr. Liu Lihan (ceased on 12 July 2021)

Ms. Mo Li (appointed on 17 June 2021)
Mr. Kan Yat Kit
(appointed on 12 July 2021 and
resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (appointed on 12 July 2021)
Mr. Shi Zhu (appointed on 6 August 2021)
Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 20 September 2021)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (Chairman)

Mr. Lai Yuen Piu (retired on 16 September 2021)

Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie (resigned on 17 June 2021)
Mr. Deng Dongping (ceased on 12 July 2021)

Mr. Liu Lihan (ceased on 12 July 2021)

Ms. Mo Li (appointed on 17 June 2021)
Mr. Kan Yat Kit
(appointed on 12 July 2021 and
resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (appointed on 12 July 2021)
Mr. Shi Zhu (appointed on 6 August 2021)
Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 20 September 2021)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~AEER

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr. Li Wancheng
Ms. Ho Wing Yan

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Han Zhenghai
Mr. Li Wancheng

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Dah Sing Bank, Limited

China CITIC Bank International Limited
O-Bank Co., Limited

AUDITOR
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISERS

Hong Kong Law
Patrick Mak & Tse Solicitors

Bermuda Law
Conyers Dill & Pearman

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
MUFG Fund Service (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road, Pembroke HM08
Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEER

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Suites 6303-04, 63/F, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road,

Wanchai,

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.chinainvestment.com.hk

STOCK CODE
204
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
RS

Fortheyearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET THETT
Proceeds from disposals of financial assets HERAFEFAGEEBREEZ
at fair value through profit or loss MBEEZMBRE 109,490 22,467
Revenue Wz - -
Loss for the year attributable to owners of ZAAREBEAEGEERFEEEE
the Company (20,010) (15,450)
2022 2021
—E-_F T
Net asset value per share BEREERE HK$0.10/ 7T  HK$0.04/8 7T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED N

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022 was nil
(2021: nil), which remained unchanged when compared with that
of last year. The Group incurred a loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company amounting to approximately
HK$20,010,000 which increased by approximately HK$4,560,000
or 29.51% when compared with the loss of approximately
HK$15,450,000 incurred in last year. The increased in the loss for
the year was mainly attributable to the increase in administrative
expenses, and the increase in change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss during the year under review.
The net asset value per share of the Group as at 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$0.10 (2021: HK$0.04). The Board has decided not
to declare a final dividend for the year.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Details of all investments of the Group are included in note 18, 19,
20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$51,574,000 (2021: approximately HK$8,504,000).
The Group had the net current assets and the net assets of
approximately HK$157,046,000 (2021: HK$39,902,000) and
approximately HK$224,016,000 (2021: HK$49,331,000) respectively
as at 31 March 2022. The Group had other borrowing of
approximately HK$2,694,000 at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$nil). The
current ratio, calculated on the basis of total current assets over
total current liabilities, was approximately 16.52 (2021: 8.71) as at 31
March 2022.

As at 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 1.2% (2021: nil).

The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts HK$2,694,000 (2021:
HK$nil) divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company
HK$224,016,000 (2021: HK$49,331,000) as the respective reporting
date. For this purpose, total debts are defined as amounts due
to former director and bond holders as shown in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details in the changes of the capital structure of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements. The capital of the Company
comprises only ordinary shares as at 31 March 2022.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the business transactions of the Group are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The management of the Group
will closely monitor the fluctuation in these currencies and take
appropriate actions when needed. As at 31 March 2022, the Group
did not engage in currency hedging nor did it adopt any formal
hedging activities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, there were no charges on the Group's assets
and the Group did not have any contingent liabilities.

OTHER INCOME

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's other income was
approximately HK$10,100,000 which increased by approximately
HK$9,057,000 or 868.36% when compared of approximately
HK$1,043,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021. The increased is
mainly attributable to interest income from other financial assets at
amortised cost of HK$4,999,000 and exchange gain of HK$4,696,000
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

NET LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the net loss was approximately
HK$15,268,000 which increased by approximately HK$6,545,000
or 75.03% when compared of approximately HK$8,723,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2021. The increased is mainly attributable to
the net loss of listed equity investment for the year ended 31 March
2022.
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11 #79,057,0007% JT 5(868.36% ° & 1)y £ B
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED N

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER THE EXPECTED

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

A net amount of approximately HK$24,422,000 was recognised
for reversal of impairment loss under the ECL model for the year
ended 31 March 2022 that details are set out in the note 8 to the
consolidated financial statement.

STAFF COST (INCLUDED IN ADMINISTRATIVE AND

OTHER EXPENSES)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 10 (2021: é) full time employees
(exclusive of directors). The Group's total staff costs (including
directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately HK$17,058,000
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$2,791,000). The
employees were remunerated based on their responsibilities and
performance.

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES
Administrative and other expenses for the year ended 31
March 2022 amounted to approximately HK$36,992,000 (2021:
HK$7,770,000), representing an increase of approximately
HK$29,222,000 or 376.09%, which was mainly due to increase in
staff costs, short-term leases, impairment and share-based payment
expenses. Such information is set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statement.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$2,272,000 (2021: HK$nil), represented an
increase of approximately HK$2,272,000. Such increase was mainly

due to the increase of interest on bonds during the year ended 31
March 2022.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Details are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROSPECT

During 2021-2022, the Group successfully got through the
challenges of the outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic. Along with
the mitigation of the novel coronavirus pandemic, the business
environment is expected to drive the financial markets to grow
significantly. As regards the global economy, it is expected that an
increase in economic activities in the rest of 2022 may be led by the
pent-up demand from 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

In December 2021, the Central Economic Working Conference
convened and pointed out that Macroeconomic policies in 2022
should be stable and effective. We must continue to implement
a proactive fiscal policy and a prudent monetary policy. Proactive
fiscal policy should improve efficiency and pay more attention to
precision and sustainability. It is necessary to ensure the intensity
of fiscal expenditure and accelerate the progress of expenditure.
Given that China’s economic development in 2022 will face triple
pressures of demand contraction, supply shocks and weakening
expectations. Under the impact of the epidemic of the century,
the evolution of the century-old situation has accelerated, and
the external environment has become more complex, severe and
uncertain. Therefore, it is required that in 2022, “focus on stabilizing
the macroeconomic market and keep the economy operating within
a reasonable range”, "all regions and departments should shoulder
the responsibility of stabilizing the macro economy, and all parties
should actively introduce policies that are conducive to economic
stability”. In the new financial year, the Group will adopt a more
cautious and proactive attitude in seeking potential business
opportunities in the market. In addition, the Group’s investment
strategy will explore more diversified investment opportunities
with various industries. The Group is aiming at implementing an
efficient and compliant internal control, pragmatically deploying its
investment strategy, and strengthen its financial situation in order
to bring favorable return to our Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of
the Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan")

Mr. Chan, aged 58, has been appointed as an executive Director
since 29 May 2012. He is also the chairman of the Risk Management
Committee. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor of Science degree from
the College of Business Administration of the University of South
Florida in the United States of America. Mr. Chan is currently a
licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities) and type
9 (asset management) regulated activities under the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Mr. Chan was appointed as execute Director of China Innovation
Investment Limited (Stock Code: 1217) (“CIl") in June 2003,
China Investment and Finance Group Limited (Stock Code: 1226)
("CIFG") in March 2011, Capital VC Limited (Stock Code: 2324)
("CVC") in November 2012, China New Economy Fund Limited
(Stock Code: 80) (“CNEF") in June 2013, National Investments
Fund Limited (Stock Code: 1227) (“NIF") in March 2019, Core
Economy Investment Group Limited (Stock Code: 339) ("EIG")
from 18 January 2021 to 15 June 2021 and Goldstone Investment
Group Limited (Stock Code: 901) (“GIG") in November 2021. ClI,
CIFG, CVC, CNEF, NIF, EIG and GIG are all investment companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan was an executive Director
of China Trends Holding Limited ("CTH") in February 2016 and re-
appointed as a non-executive Director in December 2020. CTH
once was a company listed on the Stock Exchange GEM board (the
Stock Code before delisting: 8171).

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement (“"Mr. Chan")

Mr. Chan, aged 64, has been appointed as an executive Director
of the Company since 6 April 2022. Mr. Chan is a member of
The Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong Limited and a
Certified Financial Planner in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan obtained a
higher diploma in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now known as the Polytechnic University of Hong Kong) in
November 1980 and a Master of Science in corporate governance
& directorship from the Hong Kong Baptist University in November
2008.
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ESNGREEEBE

Mr. Chan was an executive director of Goldstone Investment
Group Limited (formerly known as Eagle Ride Investment Holdings
Limited, Stock Code: 901), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
from November 2013 to October 2020. Mr. Chan had over 27
years of experience in the financial industry, including professional
management of investments on behalf of third-party investors
and experiences as responsible officers for type 4 (advising on
securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the SFO for a number of corporations.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Han Zhenghai (“Mr. Han")

Mr. Han, aged 44, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
since 20 January 2021 and additionally as the Chairman of the Board
since 11 March 2021. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Han
has extensive experience in investment and management business.
He has been serving as a manager of Beijing Zhongmin Zhenxing
Construction Technology Co., Ltd.* Gt RAPRIREEZREHE AR AR
and president of Beijing China Zhiyuan Technology Co., Ltd.* (3t X
FPEBURRHEBMR A F]) since June 2020 and May 2017, respectively.

In addition, he also served as vice president and chief executive
officer of Beijing Ruihai Zongheng Marketing Consultant Co., Ltd.*
(tRB S EEEEBER AT AT from July 2007 to May 2017,
and was appointed as an expert of the National Policy Think Tank
Expert Committee of China Industrial Cooperation Association* (H
BTXAERBZBREEEREZESE) in May 2018. From November
2020 to February 2021, he was appointed as an executive Director
of Ling Rui Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 784), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was also appointed
as an executive Director of Golden Faith Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 2863), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange from April 2021 to January 2022.

Mr. Gao Yun (“Mr. Gao")

Mr. Gao, aged 41, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
since 6 August 2021 and as the Joint Chairman of the Board since
20 September 2021. Mr. Gao graduated from Eastern Michigan
University of the United States with a Master of Science degree. He
has served as senior management of a number of listed companies
and large conglomerates for over 18 years. Over the years, Mr.
Gao has focused on the integration of the Internet and the real
economy, through a comprehensive service system such as supply
chain financial services, logistics services and information services,
together with media communications, and an industrial economy
that combines online and offline. Mr. Gao is the general manager
of B & BX it j& 3% 2 7] (unofficial translated as International
Supply Chain Company of Bao Neng Group).
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Deng Dongping (“Mr. Deng”)

Mr. Deng, aged 48, has been appointed as independent non-
executive Director on 13 November 2020 and re-designated to
non-executive Director on 12 July 2021. Mr. Deng graduated from
Tianjin Normal University majoring in business administration. After
over 10 years’ military service in the PRC, Mr. Deng has held senior
positions in the cultural industry in mainland China. He is now
the deputy director of the Chinese Volunteer Emergency Rescue
Volunteer Committee.

Mr. Liu Lihan (“Mr. Liu")

Mr. Liu, aged 64, has been appointed as independent non-
executive Director on 11 March 2021 and re-designated to non-
executive Director on 12 July 2021. Mr. Liu holds a Master degree in
Economics from Nankai University. Mr. Liu has held senior positions
in various banks and financial institutions in China before and is
currently the president of an investment management company.
Mr. Liu has a wealth of experience in financial and investment
sectors. From September 2015 to February 2016, Mr. Liu was an
executive director of Co-Prosperity Holdings Limited (now known
as Asia Television Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 707), a company
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Mr. Zhu Zhikun (“Mr. Zhu")

Mr. Zhu, aged 23, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company since 6 August 2021. Mr. Zhu has a wealth of
experience in multi-dimensional investments and, in particular,
mineral resources development and logistics information. Mr. Zhu
is the founder of H T )L R#& & B R 2 7 (unofficially translated
as Zhanjiang City Jiangjing Investment Company Limited), as well
as a shareholder of F & & % & R 2 7] (unofficially translated
as Qiangu Minerals Company Limited) and participating in its
operations.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Mo Li (“Ms. Mo")

Ms. Mo, aged 47, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since 17 June 2021. Ms. Mo is the chairman of
the Audit Committee, a member the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management Committee.
Ms. Mo obtained a bachelor’'s degree from Hunan University,
majoring in accounting. Ms. Mo has rich experience in financial
and management business. Ms. Mo has been serving as a sales
representative in Unitedhealth in the United States since April
2022. From August 2019 to October 2021, Ms. Mo served as a sales
representative in Humana in the United States. From January 2010
to March 2012 and from August 2014 to May 2019, Ms. Mo served
as a director of Shen Zhen Shi ECO Building Facade Consultant
Limited. She was also a vice manager of personal business
department of Ping An Bank Fuhong Branch from April 2012 to
August 2014.

Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (“Mr. Lok")

Mr. Lok, aged 47, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company since 12 July 2021. Mr. Lok is a
member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management Committee
of the Company. Mr. Lok graduated from the Department of
Economics, Xiamen University, majoring in business management;
and holds a Bachelor of Laws degree from the Law School of Beijing
University as well as a Master of Laws degree from the School of
Law of Renmin University of China, majoring in Constitution Law
and Administrative Law. Mr. Lok had held senior positions in large
conglomerates and is well versed in asset management, securities
and futures dealing, corporate finance, family trust, insurance
brokerage, fintech, business consulting and corporate governance.
Mr. Lok is currently a responsible officer licensed under the SFO to
conduct type 1 (Dealing in Securities), 4 (Advising on Securities) and
9 (Asset Management) regulated activities as well as the managing
director of Ruilian Financial Group Company Limited, a subsidiary
of Chuanglian Holdings Limited (Hong Kong Stock Code: 2371).
Mr. Lok is also ardent in educational and social affairs.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Shi Zhu (“Mr. Shi")

Mr. Shi, aged 54, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 2 August 2021. Mr. Shi
is a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committee of the Company. Mr. Shi obtained his first degree
in Bachelor of Arts, majoring in English, from the Anhui Fuyang
Teacher’s University in the PRC in July 1989 and his second degree
in Bachelor of law, majoring in Journalism, from the Communication
University of China in July 1993. Mr. Shi worked at the Ministry of
Commerce of the PRC for over 15 years. From November 1993 to
May 2000, Mr. Shi served various positions including front-page
editor as well as deputy chief editor and chief editor of the English
version of International Business Monthly under International
Business Daily, a publishing entity under the Ministry of Commerce
of the PRC. Mr. Shi was appointed by the Ministry of Commerce
of the PRC to work at the Embassy of the PRC in New Zealand
where he acted as the Commercial Consul and was in charge of
economic and commercial affairs from June 2000 to December
2000 and Mr. Shi subsequently returned to International Business
Daily and served various positions including chief editor of
Important News, director of general office, chief editor of China-
ASEAN Business Week, chief editor of Features from January 2001
to February 2008. After that, Mr. Shi migrated to Hong Kong under
the Quality Migrant Admission Scheme in February 2008. Mr. Shi
was the director of BOCHK Wealth Achieve Fund Series SPC, a
serial investment fund company wholly owned by BOCHK Asset
Management Limited from May 2017 to January 2020. Mr. Shi was
also the director and general manager of Shenzhen Sanhong Asset
Management Limited, a private equity company incorporated in
the PRC which principally engaged in equity investment and supply
chain finance in the PRC and South East Asia, from September 2015
to October 2020. In addition, Mr. Shi is a director of Joyful Capital
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong which principally
engaged in investment and investment consultancy in Hong Kong
and the PRC, since May 2008. Besides, Mr. Shi is an independent
non-executive director of Hua Lien International (Holding) Company
Limited (Stock Code: 969), a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange since December 2017.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Yuan Wei (“"Mr. Yuan”)

Mr. Yuan, aged 43, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 20 September
2021. Mr. Yuan is a member of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Risk Management Committee of the Company. Mr. Yuan obtained
his Bachelor's Degree in Law and Master’'s Degree in Commercial
Law from China University of Political Science and Law, and his
Ph.D. from the Law School of Beijing University. Mr. Yuan has over
15 years of experience in legal related work and is particularly
well versed in Hong Kong initial public offerings, mergers and
acquisitions and financing, dispute resolution and infrastructure
projects. He is currently a partner of Beijing Lifang (Shenzhen) Law
Firm.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Ms. Lin Yudan (“Ms. Lin")

Since Ms. Lin Yudan resigned as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company on 12 July 2021, nobody has been appointed.

(* for identification purpose only)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Investment Development Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group”)) hereby present its report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in investment
for medium to long-term capital appreciation purposes, and
investment in listed and unlisted securities. There have been no
significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities
during the year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 81 of the annual report. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Review and Future Prospect

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group's future business development are
provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis section on
pages 8 to 11 of this Annual Report.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section on pages 8 to 11 of this Annual
Report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Use of proceeds

(i)

On 4 May 2021, the Company proposes to raise gross
proceeds of approximately HK$127,000,000 before expenses
by way of a rights issue of up to 634,892,864 Rights Shares at
a price of HK$0.2 per Rights Share on the basis of one Rights
Share for every two existing Shares held by the shareholders.

On 12 July 2021, being the latest time for acceptance and
payment for the Rights Shares and for application and
payment for the excess Rights Shares, in aggregate, 7 valid
acceptances and applications in respect of 24,616,353 Rights
Shares have been accepted and applied for, representing
approximately 3.88% of the maximum number of 634,892,864
Rights Shares offered under the Rights Issue. As a result of the
under-subscription of the Rights Shares and in accordance
with the Underwriting Agreement, the Underwriter and the
Sub-Underwriter has procured subscribers to subscribe for
610,276,511 Underwritten Shares in aggregate, representing
approximately 96.12% of the maximum number of 634,892,864
Rights Shares being offered under the Rights Issue.

The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue are approximately
HK$127 million and the net proceeds from the Rights Issue,
after deducting the underwriting commission and all other
relevant expenses for the Rights Issue, are estimated to
be approximately HK$122 million. The Company will apply
the net proceeds of the Rights Issue as to (i) approximately
HK$100 million for future investments in the future pursuant to
the investment objectives of the Company for the upcoming
twelve (12) months; and (i) approximately HK$22 million for
general working capital for the upcoming twenty-four (24)
months.

Approval has been granted by the Listing Committee of the
Stock Exchange for the listing of, and permission to deal in,
the Rights Shares. Dealings in the fully-paid Rights Shares
were to commence on the Stock Exchange at 9:00 a.m. on
Wednesday, 21 July 2021. Allotment and issue of rights
shares on 20 July 2021 pursuant to the rights issue as set out
in the prospectus of the Company dated 25 June 2021 are
634,892,864,
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the net proceed was

subsequently used as follows:

Net proceeds raised
as at 19 July 2021

Intended use of the
unutilised proceeds

R-ZZB--ftAtThA ABRARERE
EEENMERRFHE Bt 8 AR

HK$122.0 million (the “Unutilised

Proceeds”) working capital
12208 BT ([ RBAMERIEA]D 2088BET - —REEES
Other HK$100.0 million — investments
HAt 100088 T -KRE

(ii)

20

On 18 October 2021, the Placing Agents and the Company
entered into the Placing Agreement pursuant to which the
Placing Agents agreed to place, on a best effort basis, up to
380,900,000 Placing Shares at the Placing Price of HK$0.15
to currently expected not less than six Placees who are
Independent Third Parties.

The Placing Agreement has been fulfilled and completion
of the Placing took place on 8 November 2021. A total of
380,900,000 Placing Shares, representing approximately
16.67% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the Placing Shares as at the date of this
announcement, have been successfully placed to not less than
six Placees (who are individual, corporate and/or institutional
investors), who and whose ultimate beneficial owner(s)
are Independent Third Parties. The net proceeds from the
Placing, after deducting all related costs, commission and
expenses, amount to approximately HK$56.6 million, which
is intended to be utilised for the general working capital of
the Group and future investment opportunities as may be
identified from time to time. The net proceeds raised per
Placing Share would be approximately HK$0.1485 per Share.
For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated on 25 June 2021 and 19 July 2021.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the net proceedwas BEZZT-__F=-A=+—HILFE -

subsequently used as follows:

Net proceeds raised

as at 8 November 2021
R=2=—%+—-ANH
ERENFEREFEE

HK$56.6 million (the “Unutilised

Proceeds”)

56.6A 8B (I RBAMEHEAL)

Other

(i) On 28 June 2021, the Company entered into a sale and

RO (2
FrERERR (8)

Fi %

FRBEFEEZEEABNOT

Intended use of the
unutilised proceeds
KEARERE
Bt 8 AR

HK$14.2 million — general
working capital
142688 TT - —MEEES
HK$28.3 million — repayment
of the borrowings and
finance costs
283BBET - BEERR
B T A AR
HK$14.1 million — investments
141E8BT -RE

Hit
(iii)

purchase agreement with an independent third party by
which the Company agreed to sell, and the buyer agreed

to buy 1% (representing 1 owned share) of equity interest in
Huge Leader for a cash consideration of HK$50,000. As the
consideration for disposal of equity interest in Huge Leader

falls below 70% of their respective fair value as at 31 March
2019, the chairman of the Group is required to pay a total
amount of shortfall of HK$264,000 (after taking into account
the considerations received) to the Company under the terms

of the Deed of Indemnity.

Actual use the unutilised proceeds
during the year ended 31 March
2022
BE-E-_—_F=ZA=+—HLEE
RBAMBRENERAR

HK$3.7 million — general working
capital

J7VEEBA L - —REEED

HK$31.0 million — repayment of the
borrowings and finance costs

JNO0BEEARTT - BEBRMMBAA

HK$21.9 million — investments
2198 8B T -KRE

W-Z-_—FXA-+N\B AQFH
BYE-FAVUEEHHE Bt N
ARAIREHE  MEARENBRE2RK
{&50,0007% 7t B8 B Huge Leader #91% A% 4
(BEMBRBBERD) - AR L EHuge
leader RIEMREBERERRE_Z—NF =
BA=+—B&%E82AFENIO% - RIERE
BERENKER  AEBEXEERMARF
S 4 R B8264,00008 T (KR EF M B EE
RE) -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Important Events after the Year-end Date

On 6 April 2022, the Company entered into the following
Agreements: (A) the Wole Agreement with Zheng Hongping (  ZF
41 3 ) (the "Wole Vendor”) in respect of the acquisition of 100%
of Lanzhou Wile Home Furnishing Service Co. Limited ( B M %
%X ERT AR R A) (the “"Wole Target”) at the consideration
of HK$36 million to be settled by the allotment and issue of
the Wole Consideration Shares; (B) the Jiajiafu Agreement with
Tider Holdings Limited (the “Jiajiafu Vendor”) in respect of the
acquisition of 7% of Jiajiafu Modern Agriculture (HK) Limited ( =X
REHREE(FB) BR 2 8)) (the "Jiajiafu Target”) at the
consideration of HK$40 million to be settled as to (a) HK$10,928,000
by cash and (b) HK$29,072,000 by the allotment and issue of the
Jiajiafu Consideration Shares.

On 8 April 2022 the Company and the Wole Vendor entered into
a new agreement (the "New Wole Agreement”) to acquire 30%
equity interest in the B /N B & K E IR % B R & £ A & (Lanzhou
Wole Home Furnishing Service Co. Ltd.*, a company incorporated
in the PRC). The New Wole Agreement shall supersede the Wole
Agreement, which was terminated and became void on 8 April
2022.

At the SGM held on 26 May 2022, all the following resolutions: (A)
To approve the issue of the Wole Consideration Shares pursuant
to the Wole Agreement; (B) To approve the issue of the Jiajiafu
Consideration Shares pursuant to the Jiajiafu Agreement were duly
passed as ordinary resolutions of the Company. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated on 6 April 2022, 7
April 2022, 8 April 2022, 10 May 2022 and 26 May 2022.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's principal business activities are exposed to a
variety of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity
risk, operational risk and market risk. Details of the aforesaid
key risks and risk mitigation measures are set out in “Financial
Risk Management Objectives and Policies” in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policy and Performance

We are committed to protect the environment by introducing a
green policy to enhance the awareness of environmental protection
among staff. The Group has implemented internal recycling
programme for office consumables such as toner cartridges and
paper to help protect the environment and natural resources.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in offices
and branch premises where applicable, such as taking initiatives to
reduce paper usage by encouraging the use of websites and online
version of corporate communications. As regards reduction of
power consumption, lighting, air-conditioners and office equipment
will be turned off when not in use.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. The Group has been allocating resources
to ensure the Group’s ongoing compliance with the updated
applicable rules and regulations. During the year under review, the
Group has, to the best of our knowledge, complied with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
"Listing Rules”), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Company Law of Bermuda, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
other relevant rules and regulations.

Relationships with Key Stakeholders
The Group's success lies also on the support from key stakeholders,
including shareholders, employees, bankers, and service providers.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to our shareholders. Description of the shareholders’
rights and our investor relations can be found in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 53 to 70 of this Annual Report.

Employees

The Group treasures our employees as the most important assets
of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resources
management is to reward and recognise our employees by
providing a competitive remuneration package, appropriate
incentives such as share options and bonus, and opportunities
within the Group for career advancement.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Bankers

The Group has maintained excellent relationship with our bankers
and has been soliciting funds from our bankers as and when
necessary.

Service Providers

The Group's good relationships with its key service providers are
important in our provision of effective and efficient services as well
as meeting business challenges and regulatory requirements. The
key service providers provide professional services to the Group
which are key to our success.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the
year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 83 to 84 and in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company
had HK$166,301,000 reserves available for distribution to
shareholders (2021: HK$Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group is engaged in investment for medium to long-term
capital appreciation purposes, and investment in listed and unlisted
securities, there are no major customers and suppliers during the
year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 176. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Director
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee
Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement (appointed on 6 April 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Han Zhenhai
Ms. Yang Xiaoqiu (resigned on 13 February 2022)
Mr. Yan Peng (resigned on 30 December 2021)
Ms. Li Jiangtao
(appointed on 17 June 2021 and resigned on é April 2022)

Mr. Deng Dongping (re-designated on 12 July 2021)

Mr. Liu Lihan (re-designated on 12 July 2021)

Mr. Zhu Zhikun (appointed on é August 2021)

Mr. Gao Yun
(appointed on 6 August 2021 and further appointed as
Joint Board Chairman on 20 September 2021)

Mr. Zeng Xiaohui
(appointed on 20 September 2021 and
resigned on 20 December 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lai Yuen Piu (retired on 16 September 2021)
Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie (resigned on 17 June 2021)
Mr. Deng Dongping
(ceased on 12 July 2021)
Mr. Liu Lihan
(ceased on 12 July 2021)
Ms. Mo Li (appointed on 17 June 2021)
Mr. Kan Yat Kit
(appointed on 12 July 2021 and
resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (appointed on 12 July 2021)
Mr. Shi Zhu (appointed on é August 2021)
Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 20 September 2021)

Directors respectively subject to retirement or rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with Bye-law 120 and Bye-law 153 of the Company’s Bye-laws and
eligible for re-election thereat will be contained in a circular to be
separately issued to the shareholders of the Company.

China Investment Development Limited » f B % & 1 2 B R A A)

BEE
RAFEARBEEARERR ZARAESE
mr

HITES
REFRLLE
BREW R E (RZFZ—FWANAEZT)

FHITES

BIEBNE

BB (RZE——F_HA+=HEFF)

BEELtE (R=ZF=Z—F+ZH=+HFFE)

T@EXT
(RZFBZ—F A+ +HAEZTRR
CE - CFEPANHET)

HMEFLEE (RZFZ—F LA+ ZHEHFF)

Rk (RZFZ—F LA+ = HEFT)

KAEEE ( RZFB-—F/NNANHEZF)

BELEE
(RZFZ—FNANAEZFRER
B FAAFHE—HEZFR
EEXZHEFE)

R e S A
(RZFZ—FANA-F+ HEZERR
—E - —FAF A AT

BUFHITES
RREYLE (RZFZ—FAAFNHEF)
REBLL (RZZF=Z—FNH++HEHT)
B F £
(R=—ZF=——F+HA+=-HTHEMT)
BB E
(R—F=-——F+H+=-HTHEMT)
Bt (R-F-——F A+ +HEZT)
5 m B &
(RZEBE-Z—F+ A+ _-_HAEZTRR
—E - —FPANHEE)
SRRELEE (RZFZ—FLAFZHEZE)
AL E (RZFZ—FNANAEZE)
RBAE (RZFEZ—FAAZFHEZE)

RIE A QR A E R4 B 512006k & 515315 -
ARARAIEERRBFREG Lo Rl EER
BESEMABEKRER @EW%% g

RBTHFETFTARRBRENE

Annual Report & § 2022 25



China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B % & [ 2 B R A 7]

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 12 to 17 of the
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions held by
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, the “SFO") as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
"Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were
as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the Company

EEREREERERE

ARABEERAEBESRE
NERFI2EITE o

12 /8 2 7B 85

EERIETHRAEBRKRS - HBERAD
REERzER

RZE_—_F=ZA=+—8 EERAEARF
FETBRAERARBREMAEEZE (TER
BELAGKED ([EHREBEKRD] ) EXVE)
2l - HEROIEEZIPHEEERLAR
RElRBEELFR P ERAEIRKEEFTEZLE
Rt R RARE - IR L R0
&l EMBTAESHETEFIHNIZEST
Al (A ESTAEARARALEB

BARBHARLT ((BRA)) 2R
%) LUNE

ArmBm kEEBROZHE

Number of shares/underlying shares held

FERG/ HERAEE

Number of shares Approximate

Number of  issuable on share percentage of

Name of Director Capacity in which interests are held shares held optionsheld ~ Total interests shareholding

FEEREZ HRERA

BEng BEERZEH FEROEE TETROHE BER ARl

(Note)

(#3t)

Han Zhenghai & IF /§ Beneficial owner B2 # 5 A 87,720,000 21,781,857 109,501,857 479%

GaoYun g ZE Beneficial owner EEH B A 5,960,000 22,000,000 27,960,000 1.22%

Deng Dongping ¥ & ¥ Beneficial owner EX#EE A 0 18,821,857 18,821,857 0.82%

Liu Lihan 2137 % Beneficial owner E 5 A A 0 18,821,857 18,821,857 0.82%

Zhu Zhikun % 2 38 Beneficial owner Bz B A 45,760,000 22,000,000 67,760,000 296%

Mo Li B Beneficial owner E& A A 0 882,185 882,185 0.04%

Lok Chiu Chan 5% F3 & Beneficial owner B % H A 0 1,882,185 1,882,185 0.08%

ShiZhu & 1 Beneficial owner EREE A 0 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.04%

Yuan Wei & & Beneficial owner EX#EE A 0 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.04%

Note: Btat -

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the Company's BREB AL IEARARR T __F=ZHA=+—HZ

issued share capital of 2,285,578,593 shares as at 31 March 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2022, the following persons, other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company, were interested or had short
positions in more than 5% of the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

Capacity in which

Name of shareholder interests are held
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H X EFEHARAETBTBRAEMERAEAR
A EEMARZEZE (ExREFLHEKRD
EXVER) 2Bty - HEROXERET - &
BERARRQBRIEREZF KB &G F3521%
AGFEZECMARBEETRESTTAE
ARBRBRA 2z EmORE -

FERRK

RZEBE-_ZF=ZA=Z+—H BREZFHAR
AFEITHRABN  EREZBHFRLRBEKH
FIKEGE2ERMAREE  HEARA
D RHEERMNS% A EERIAKE Z AT M
™

Approximate
Number of percentage of

shares held  shareholding

HREMA

BRER BB BEEERZEH FrERAEE BoLt
(Note 1)

(s 1)

Tse Yun Lam Aries Beneficial owner 317,502,000 13.89%

o 58 FR ERmEAA
Notes:
1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the

Company'’s issued share capital of 2,285,578,593 shares as at 31 March
2022.

EE

1. BEBS IR ARTR_E_—_F=ZA=1+—
H 2 B %17 8% 72,285,578, 593 I st E B -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company was
not notified of any persons, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, having any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the AGM held on 28 December 2018, the terms of a new
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) were adopted by providing
incentive to eligible participants to work better for the interests
of the Group, under which the Board may, at its discretion, offer
to grant an option to any full-time or part-time employee and
directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and service
providers of the Group (collectively the “Grantees”).

The old share option scheme (the "Old Scheme”) adopted by
the Company by ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the
Company on 9 April 2009 was terminated and replaced by the
Scheme at the AGM held on 28 December 2018. Details of the
Old scheme are shown in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of shares in issue on the date of adoption of
the Scheme. The total number of shares which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted under the Scheme to
each Grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates
is required to be approved by the independent non-executive
Directors. If the Board proposed to grant options to a substantial
shareholder or any independent non-executive Director or their
respective associates which will result in the number of shares to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue on the date of grant and having an aggregate value in excess
of HK$5 million, based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, such further grant of options will be subjected to the
shareholders’ approval in general meeting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21
days from the offer date or within such other period of time as may
be determined by the Board. Upon acceptance of the options, the
Grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration
for the grant.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any option granted
under the Scheme shall be priced as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, but must be at least the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the SEHK on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Company's
shares as quoted on the SEHK for the five consecutive business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal
value of a share of the Company.

The period during which an option may be exercise will be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any
time after the date upon which the option is deemed to be granted
and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date.
The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an option will not
carry voting rights until the completion of the registration of the
Grantee.

When the Scheme was adopted on 28 December 2018, the Scheme
Mandate Limit approved by the Shareholders was 88,218,572
Shares (after taking effect of the share consolidation (involving
consolidation of ten of the then shares of nominal value of
HK$0.001 into one Share of nominal value of HK$0.01) which has
taken effect on 21 March 2019).

There was no outstanding options at the beginning of the financial
year ended 31 March 2022.

On 2 August 2021, the Company granted 88,218,556 share options
("First Granted Options”) to the eligible Participants at the
exercise price of HK$0.50 per share and are vested and exercisable
immediately with the exercise period of 3 years from the date of
granted. The closing share price immediately before the date of
grant was HK$0.25.

For the First Granted Options, as at 31 March 2022: (i) 13,232,782
share options was lapsed; (i) 8,821,857 share options was cancelled;
and (i) no share option was exercised; (iv) 66,163,917 share options
remained outstanding.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The mandate limit of the Scheme (“Scheme Mandate Limit")
was refreshed to 190,467,859 after (i) the passing of an ordinary
resolution by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting
("Last AGM") held on 16 September 2021; (ii) the Stock Exchange
granting the approval of the listing of, and permission to deal in,
such number of Shares, representing 10% of the issued Shares as at
the date of the Last AGM, which may fall to be allotted and issued
pursuant to the exercise of the share option that may be granted
under the Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed.

On 7 January 2022, the Company granted 190,450,000 share
options (“Second Granted Options”) to the eligible Participants
at the exercise price of HK$0.068 per share and are vested and
exercisable immediately with the exercise period of 3 years from
the date of grant. The closing share price immediately before the
date of grant was HK$0.061.

For the Second Granted Options, as at 31 March 2022: (i) 1,000,000
share option was lapsed; (ii) 10,000,000 share options was cancelled;
and (iii) no Option was exercised; (iv) 179,450,000 Options remained
outstanding.

In total, 278,668,556 share option under the Scheme were granted,
as at 31 March 2022: (i) 14,232,782 share options was lapsed; (ii)
18,821,857 share option was cancelled; and (jii) no share option was
exercised; (iv) 245,613,917 share options remained outstanding,
which represented, there were 245,613,917 Shares available for
issue under the Scheme which represents approximately 10.74%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2022.
Details of the Scheme and share options movements are set out in
note 29 to the financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March, 2022, the Company had received
subscriptions for 117,950,000 share options of the Second Granted
Options with the exercise price of HK$0.068, which were exercised
on 14 April 2022.

On 14 April 2022, 161,950,000 Option of the Second Granted
Options was exercised with the exercise price of HK$0.068. The
closing share price immediately before the date of exercise was
HK$0.083.

On 17 May 2022, 13,500,000 Option of the Second Granted Options

was exercised with the exercise price of HK$0.068. The closing
share price immediately before the date of exercise was HK$0.088.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures”
above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or of any other body corporate granted to any Directors or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors,
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire
such rights in the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
was a party during or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes or
may cause a significant competition with the business of the Group
and any other conflict of interests which any such person has or
may have with the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and subject to the provisions
of the statutes, every Director or other officer of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable
for any loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or be
incurred by the Company in the execution of the duties of his office
or in relation thereto, provided that the Bye-law shall only have
effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the Bermuda
Companies Act. The Company has maintained Directors and
officers liability insurance during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE

COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the year, the Company had not purchased, sold or
redeemed any of its securities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

32 Annual Report £ ¥} 2022

BERERX

REBERARB 2 ERMAMURZIEOEIHRR
ARAEEEREMSABENEAREETRE
TREXEECEEBERAMREIRNELEZR
ERALAMT  AHAARAEETENR
B mMEEFFEHMCSABEREARER
HITBERETERERAZEMETERAR
AHRABHZEMBL  BEBREXTE
BRAEAE  HUERARNEEEREXLTARR
BREABZEAMBZBEATEN - ARAR
AEREOREELRSRABERREERR -

iR B8 £ 175
BEXFBBEZARTBRESE N - AR
ARAFELEIYL - RAFERTEFE
HRAEERARNRBHEITHRMDKALARAF
VKA BB A R B BT 2 A E
Z BRI E o

BE  HEIEOEQAFTLHES

ARTEBARFEBE  HERFEEEAE
AE% -

EXRBBERHEHBAR

REZ-_ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—HIFER
AR EERKEBRELENB A



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 10 (2021: 6) full time employees
(exclusive of directors). The Group's total staff costs (including
directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately HK$17,058,000
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$2,791,000). The
employees were remunerated based on their responsibilities and
performance.

The Company has adopted the model set out in Code Provision
E.1.2(c)(ii) of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its remuneration
model for determining the emoluments of the Directors. This
model stipulates that the Remuneration Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee would take into consideration, among
other things, the duties and responsibilities of the Directors and
senior management and prevailing market conditions when
determining their remuneration.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme to provide
incentives to eligible persons, including Directors, employees,
consultants, suppliers and customers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
of the Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. Amongst other
duties, the principal duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control of
the Group. The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Lok Chiu Chan, Mr. Shi
Zhu and Mr. Yuan Wei, and Ms. Mo Li is the Committee Chairman.
The audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2022 have been audited by Fan, Chan &
Co. Limited (“"FCCL"), whose term of office will expire upon the
conclusion of the AGM. A resolution to re-appoint FCCL as auditor
of the Company will be proposed to the shareholders of the
Company for approval at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Han Zhenghai
Joint Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE #HERERHRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

China Investment Development Limited (the "Company”) is
pleased to present its report on the Environmental, Social, and
Governance (the "ESG”") aspects (the “ESG Report”) to provide
an overview of the Group’s management on significant issues
affecting the operation and the performance of the Group in terms
of environmental and social aspects.

Being a listed company, apart from strictly complying with the
Code of Corporate Governance practices as set out in the Rules
(the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
to maintain a high ethical standard, the Board also strives to
be a responsible corporation by placing great emphasis on the
environmental protection, people oriented and community care.
The Board believes that these sustainability objectives can align
with the company’s business strategies to contribute most favorable
return for stakeholders.

PREPARATION BASIS AND SCOPE

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules — “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide"” and has complied with “comply or explain” provision in the
Listing Rules.

The Company is an investment company and is principally
engaged in investments in a diversified portfolio of listed and
unlisted companies. As an investment company, the Company
does not directly participate in the production and operation of
these listed and unlisted companies. While actively seeking to
optimise its investment portfolio and maximise shareholder return,
the Company lives up to its corporate social responsibility and
strikes a balance between the interests of stakeholders such as
the shareholders and the community, with the ultimate goal of
achieving a sustainable corporation.

The ESG Report covers the Group's overall performance,
commitment and approaches in workplace quality, environmental
protection, operating practices and community involvement in
relation to the abovementioned operations during the year ended
31 March 2022. All information and data disclosed herein were
based on formal documents and internal statistics of the Group.
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STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK AND ENGAGEMENT

We recognise the ESG Report as an important measure to
showcase our efforts in sustainable development. In realising
sustainable development, we are devoted to strike a balance of
the interests among various stakeholders, such as investors and
shareholders, customers, employees, work partners as well as the
community. The Company is searching for every opportunity to
understand and engage our stakeholder to ensure improvement
can be implemented to our investments. We strongly believe our
stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of our
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LRONBEF - BARIRNEREERRR -
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M HEETHEXRNEE - ABEEREM
MIRERENRE - ZfIBE > MEHBEEHE
BABERNSEGRNTEDEEEHER
MAB -

business.

The existing communication mechanism with stakeholders of the

Group is set forth as below:

Stakeholders
Flz=rEEEE

Expectations and concerns

HERBEETER

EAEENEZEBEENREBAENAT ¢

Communication Channels

BRERE

The Stock Exchange

Government and regulatory
authorities

BT R EEHE

Shareholders or investors

BRZIBEE

Employees

(=3
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— Compliance with the Listing Rules,
publishing of announcements in a
timely and accurate manner
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— Compliance with laws and regulations
- BTERRMER
— Business Sustainability

- EBAEsAN

— Return on investments
- RED#H

— Corporate governance
- REER

— Business compliance

- XBAER

—  Employees’ compensation and benefits

- RBE®RH NEHN

— Training and development

- BlEZER

- Protection for the labour force and
safety in the working

- BRI ELR2RE

— Meetings, trainings, seminars,
programmes, website update and
announcements

- g&  Hil - Mg RE - @

EHEAE

— Supervision on the compliance with local
laws and regulations

- BEEHEMEIERRARNETRER

— Routine reports

- PIITHRE

— Regular reports and announcements
- EHmERLSE

- Regular general meetings

- EHRRAE®

— Company's official website

- RAEH

—  Performance reviews

o

— Regular meetings and trainings
- Efes ki

— Organization of team activities

- HEEBEEY
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STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK AND ENGAGEMENT

(continued))

Stakeholders
Flz= BB A

Expectations and concerns

HERBIER

NBEBEENRERSHE (#)

Communication Channels

BRERE

Public and

NR KA -

Involvement in communities
2B [EEK
— Business compliance

- XBAER

Communities -

— Environmental protection awareness -

- REREEM

We welcome stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental, social

and governance approach and performance. Please share your

views with us via:

Address:

Phone:
Email:
Website:

Room 6303-04, 63/F,

Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

(852) 3102 1690
info@chinainvestment.com.hk

www.chinainvestment.com.hk

A. ENVIRONMENT

Al

Emission and Resources Consumption

The Company is committed to reduce carbon footprints
by pursuing energy saving and other environment
protection measures in our business operation. As
the Company is engaged in investment business, only
generate indirect greenhouse gas (“GHG") emission
limiting to electricity and paper consumptions in our
office setting and employee business travel. Non-
hazardous wastes (commercial wastes and the disposal
of computer devices and office equipment) produced
by the Company are also at a minimum. The details
of carbon dioxide equivalent emission and resources
consumption of the Group during the reporting period
was as follows:

— Volunteer activities

- HEIEH

— Public welfare and community activities

- REBANEMERESD
Company's official website
- RAIEH®

BPEENSmERESRMARERE

ERTHEMITERRBIELRE -
THEREEEMOZTENES

e M
BB A

ik BEET
BEEISTARRES
6318 6303-04=
FEE (852) 3102 1690
FH info@chinainvestment.com.hk
AHuk www.chinainvestment.com.hk
A RIR

Al BERYI R EREF

ARRBNIRBEEEXRBELZFTE
Tt &0 BE Ko EL b 3R 4R 15 e SRR 2 BR B
e BRARARERERT -
FHiULERMAZTNE N REBINE
ABERHEHEELARERE (R
ERB) RERERE - ARFE
ECEEEREY AXEVREE
BEREERPLRERE) TENE
EKFE - AEERBEHA AL
MPEMEENEREEZFBOT ¢

Water consumption EEIN Unit 2022 2021

By —E-CF —E—F

Quantity AE kgT %= N/A2F 78 2 N/ATT 3@ 1
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)
A.1. Emission and Resources Consumption (continued)

RIE ()
Al BEIRERER (&)

Printing paper consumption 3T ED4K & #% Unit 2022 2021
By —_E=-= —E
Quantity HE kgT = 62.50 24.00

Electric Energy consumption data and Equivalent Greenhouse Gas Emissions

BEREEEEERBEEREEKRER
2022
—E-=
Greenhouse Gas
Emissions (Kg COZe)
BERBHEK
(FR-E{RHERESR)

Electric Energy
Consumption (kWh)
BHRHE (TRE)

2,3892 1,696°

Notes:

1. In the year of 2021, the Company changed to a shared office
arrangement as its principle place of business in Hong Kong.
Both the fees for water and electricity usage are included
in the shared office arrangement and hence relevant data
cannot be obtained.

2. After the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong has been changed to Suites 6303-04, 63/F,
Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong with
effect from 16 December 2021, the fees for water usage are
included in the office lease arrangement and hence relevant
data cannot be obtained; the fees for electricity usage are
not included in the office lease arrangement and hence
relevant data can be presented thereafter.

2k The amount of carbon emissions per unit is 0.71 kg CO,-e
for the year 2021 as disclosed by HK Electric Investments
Limited.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, our Group
produced 1,696 Kg of carbon dioxide equivalent
emissions. There is no direct comparison rate as there is
no data in the previous year.

Our Group does not own any motor vehicle, hence
produced no greenhouse gases during the year.

No emission arises from our activities except for 1,696

kilograms of carbon dioxide equivalent emission of
electric energy consumption in the business office.
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A.

A2

CHERE

BHE

ENVIRONMENT (continued)
A,

Emission and Resources Consumption (continued)
Our employees did not travel by plane for business
during the year ended 31 March 2022. There was no
carbon dioxide and greenhouse gas emission generated
in this regard.

Due to the nature of the business, our Group's business
activities do not generate any hazardous waste and
do not have any direct and significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources in the course of its
operation.

Use of Resources

The Company commits to protect the environment by
mainly focusing on the reduction in electricity, paper
and water consumption. To achieve this, the Company
continually applies efficient consumption strategy
to improve resources saving and reduce resources
consumption.

Resource Efficiency Management

The Company adopted a number of energy-saving and
resources usage initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas
emission and conserve resources usage.

Electricity

The Company uses LED lighting system, which saves
up to 80% energy and has a long life of more than 10
times comparing with traditional lighting. In addition,
there are no ultraviolet and infrared rays in the LED
light spectrum, and the waste can be recycled. It does
not contain mercury vapor as in traditional fluorescent
lamps. There is no gas pollution and it is a typical green
lighting.

- Set the central air-conditioning system at room
temperature of 25.5° C;

- Set the computers and printers in energy saving
mode when not in use;

- Switch off lights in meeting rooms when not in

use;

- Switch off printers when all staff have left office;
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RiE #HERERRE

A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)
A.2. Use of Resources (continued)
Resource Efficiency Management (continued)
Electricity (continued)
- Turn off computers and monitors overnight except
it is required for working purpose such as system
updates;

- Remove all the electronic chargers from the
sockets when not in use; and

- Join the WWF Earth Hour 2022 event.

Paper:
- Print in duplex;
- Use recycled paper for printing;

Print in black and white; and

E-storage of documents.
Water:

Water consumption of the Company is minimal.
Employees are encouraged not to waste water.

A.3. The Environment and Natural Resources
Due to the nature of the business, in addition to the
above-mentioned emissions and resource usage, the
Company does not have any direct and significant
impacts on the environment and natural resources in

the course of its operation.

Staff members believe it is important to minimise the
impact on the environment and natural resources due to
by their operations. In fact, as the Company's operations
do not directly involve the use of natural resources,
there is comparatively little impact on the environment
and natural resources.
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B.

SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

Employees are regarded as the greatest and valuable
assets and core competitive advantage of the Company
and also provide driving force for the continuous
innovation of the Company.

The Company has set up a comprehensive human
resources management system, which was prepared in
compliance with or with reference to the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance, the PRC Labour Law ({1 #&
ARFEFE S E) %)) |, the PRC Labour Contract Law
((PEARILMBELEARIE)) and other existing

laws and regulations.

The Company has implemented a set of human
resources policy, which clearly states the recruitment
and promotion, staff benefits and welfare,
compensation and dismissal, training and development,
codes of ethics, safety and health, working hours and
rest periods, equal employment opportunities without
any discrimination against gender, marital status, age,
race, nationality and religion etc.

Furthermore, for all our employees, we provide fair
and adequate opportunities in terms of job promotion
and salary increment in recognising and rewarding our
employees; whilst we encourage career development
within our organisation by offering on-job training.
Provision of mandatory provident fund, pension,
medical and unemployment insurance, and a range of
other welfare benefits is guaranteed in compliance with
relevant Employment laws.

As at 31 March 2022, the proportion of male and female
employees were 6: 4. The proportion of age group of
below 30, 30 to 50 and over 50 were 1: 8: 1 respectively.
Among all employees, 60% were from Hong Kong and
40% from China. The employee composition (in number
of employees, excluding directors) by gender, employee
category, age group and geographical region were as
follows:

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total number of
10 employees (2021: 6). During the year 6 employees
(1 from China Mainland) left the company, and the

resulting turnover rate by gender and age group were
both 33%.
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B.

42

SOCIAL (continued)

B2.

B3.

Health and Safety

The Company is committed to providing and
maintaining a safe and healthy workplace for all
employees. Every employee has enough working space
in office and small fitness equipment is offered in office
to support health. The Company provides its staff with
mandatory provident fund (MPF) and, medical insurance
(including in-patient and out-patient). In the Year, no
work related injuries or fatalities were recorded.

The Company has developed a set of work safety
codes covering areas of environmental hygiene and
cleanliness, machine operation, smoking ban and fire
prevention, hazardous materials handling, arrangements
in times of typhoons and rainstorms, as well as response
to emergencies, etc. It also requires strict compliance
with these work safety codes by its employees. During
the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company recorded
no number of work-related fatalities and no lost days
due to work injury.

Development and training

The Company supports its staff to develop and enhance
their professional knowledge and skills to cope with
the evolving market environment and compliance
level. On top of on-job training, the staff members are
encouraged to take external professional training to
strengthen their work-related expertise.

The Company has always encouraged staff members to
attend courses or seminars organized by professional
bodies and regularly update their knowledge on
investments, accounting standards, Listing Rules, the
Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Companies
Ordinances.

The Company also offers education allowance
as incentive for employees to take professional

examinations.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B3.

B4.

Development and training (continued)

We adopt a five-day work per week and encourage
our employees to have a good balance among health,
work and social or family activities. Also we encourage
communication between employees and their
supervisors or the management of the Company. Based
on their requests and job performances, we provide
flexible career options to them to foster a better
personal development.

As at 31 March 2022, the average training hours for all
employees was 20 hours (2021: 20).

Labour Standards

The Company is in compliance with Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance, Regulations on Labour Security
Supervision and other applicable laws as the Group
sets a high standard in protecting employees. Relevant
guidelines are set out in employment contracts, internal
notices and other forms of documents.

The Company strictly prohibits any child labour or
forced labour, or any unfair treatment to our employees
and does not employ staff who are below 18 years
of age. The Company provides such rights and
benefits to its employees which are no less than those
required statutorily. No employee is paid less than
the minimum wage specified by the Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The
Company's contributions to the defined contribution
retirement scheme we operate under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are made by each monthly
contribution day.

We closely monitor our workplace conditions and
employees’ behavior. In any case of misconduct, we
will launch detailed investigations over the matters and

improve our preventive measures.
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B.

44

SOCIAL (continued)

B7.

Anti-Corruption

The Company is committed to adhering to the highest
ethical standards and maintaining a culture of integrity
and justice for preventing, detecting and reporting all
types of fraud, including corruption.

The Company seeks to encourage strict policies that
prohibit bribery and other improper payments to
public officials consistent with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
similar laws in other countries in which the Company
invests.

All staff members are to comply with provisions laid
down in the Staff Handbook, “Anti-bribery, Bribe-
taking, Bribe-providing, Conflict of Interest”. The
Staff Handbook stipulates that if an employee breaks
the Company’'s policy or any Hong Kong laws and
regulations, the Company has the right to terminate the
employment contract.

There was no legal case regarding corrupt practices
nor any case of corruption found or reported by the
Company during the Year.

The Risk Management Committee was set up to
regularly evaluate and determine the nature and extent
of risks to the Company. Interest of shareholders and
stakeholders can hence be further protected.

Since the Board has recognized the importance of
corporate governance practice, it strictly complies
with the Code of Corporate Governance practices as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Moreover,
anti-corruption policy is adopted and all directors and
employees are required to sign the Code of Conduct of
the Company.

Furthermore, the Company regularly updates and
informs employees which securities are forbidden to
purchase due to conflict of interests. During the Year,
no bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering was
found.
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. &€ (®)

B8. Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group is
committed to understanding the needs of the
communities in which we operate. We encourage
our employees to pursue their personal passions
and dedicate their time and skills to supporting
local communities. We strive to develop long-term
relationships with our stakeholders and bring a positive
impact on community development.

SOUND GOVERNANCE

To satisfy the expectation of shareholders, regulators and
others, the Company clearly promotes sound governance,
emphasizes on strong leadership and well management
that properly incentive appropriate behaviors. The senior
management of the Company is responsible for developing
company’s strategic direction and overseeing execution,
while the Board of Directors are in charged of oversight of
management's performance.

The annual report contains detailed information about the
members of the Board, including the Director biographical
information and the Board’s role in risk management
oversight.

Independence of Board of Directors

Board independence is essential to effective governance. An
independent Board serves the interests of shareholders by
effectively carrying out its fundamental obligation of oversight
of management. Four of the Company's eleven Board
members and each of the members of Audit Committee are
independent directors, and the majority of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee are independent
director, under the standards established by the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and the Company’s independence standards.

For more information, please refer to the part of corporate
governance in the annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

REPORTING INDEX

C HERERRERS

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages

Indicators (KPls)

TEHR  EH —REERBRERER =4} BER

A. Environmental

A RE

A1: Emissions

Al B

General Disclosure Emission and Resources 37-39

Consumption

— MR E HER ) B B JRE #E

KPI A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Emission and Resources 37-39
data Consumption

B R AR RAL P TE 2R S AR B B I BUR B B JRE R

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where Emission and Resources 37-39
appropriate, intensity Consumption

BRAERIERAL2 BEREBAENMER (NER) BE HER Y K B IR E R

KPI' A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Not applicable to the N/A
appropriate, intensity Group's business.

B A ERALS MELAREEEDHEER (WER) BE TERRAEBER - THEA

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where  Use of Resources 39-40
appropriate, intensity

B ERIERALL FMELAEREZEEDHEER (WER) BE BIRE A

KPI'A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and  Use of Resources 39-40
results achieved

B ERIERALS R ESF R ENE R EABRR BRER

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous  Use of Resources 39-40

B2 4R WIEIEA1L
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE - HERERBERS @)
REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)

TEHE  EH —-REERBEENEER E=4: 0] BR

A2: Use of Resources

A2 ERER

General Disclosure “Use of Resources” 39-40

—RIEE [&RE ]

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by "Use of Resources” 39-40
type in total and intensity

B B2 48 BB IR A2.1 RENESNEER SHEZERRERERT [BEREM]
i3

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity Not feasible for the N/A

Group to obtain water
consumption data.

B ERIERA22 BREKEREE ERFEKEHEBERNAE T
Eims NAAT o

it
H

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and ~ “Use of Resources” 39-40
results achieved

B A AR IRA23 fge RE A MR E R ERR [&RE

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in “Use of Resources” N/A

sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved

B 4 IR 1R A2.4 A RBGBER KR LA BEMERE - URE [ERER] 45
FHRKM R B R FTERR

=8
=i

KPI A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished Not applicable to the N/A
products and, if applicable, with reference to per Group's business.
unit produced

B34 BUEIREA25 B mAAAREMBNBER (NER) 84 TEARAKHEHER - N iE A
EBUGE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE - HERERBERS @)
REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)

TEHE  EH —-REERBEENEER E=4: 0] BR

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 BERARER

General Disclosure “The Environment 40
andNatural Resources”
—RWE [REMRKRAER]
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities ~ No significant impact N/A
on the environment and natural resources and the of activities on the
actions taken to manage them environment and natural
resources was noted.
8 2 48 AR 1R A3 HAEBEHHRBERRAERNEAZEN UERREBEIHHER TEA
ERREEEBETENTH BERRARERELEER
TE
B. Social
B.#&
Employment and Labour Practices
BRESZEIER
B1: Employment
B1: {E{&
General Disclosure “"Employment” 41
—RIEE [M& %
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age  “Employment” 41
group and geographical region
742 48 B 1R BT mIER - ERER - FiRAMNKEESHN  [ERE]
EERBH
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and  “"Employment” 41
geographical region
A4 48 A5 1R B1.2 wmIER - FRANKESONEERKRL [ERE]
=
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE - HERERBERS @)
REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)

TEHE  EH —-REERBEENEER E=4: 0] BR

B2: Health and safety

B2: REHRZZ
General Disclosure “Health and Safety” 42
— R E [MEREEL E]
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities No case of work-related N/A
fatality was noted.
7 42 48 45 1R B2.1 EAITEBEMILTH AR R X AREHRERIEMEME TEA
THRM -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury No case of lost days due to  N/A
work injury was noted.
i 48 A HE 1R B2.2 HAIGEEXTHERH AERRIGEEIXIE TEA
HEORD -
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety "Health and Safety” 42
measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored
i 48 A5 13 B2.3 AP BERERLT2ER - URE [EEREZZ]
BT RERT A
B3: Development and Training
B3 : /R R
General Disclosure “"Development and 42-43
Training”
—RIKE [3 R Rl
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender ~ “"Development and 42-43
and employee category Training”
B 52 45 BIE 1R B3 RUEBREEEMNESHXIEERD L [3 R Mgl
KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per “Development and 42-43
employee by gender and employee category Training”
7 4 4B AR5 1R B3.2 BUERREERMNE D H BRESTAXI  TEEREI

B 3 15 By 2K
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REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)

TEHE  EH —-REERBEENEER E=4: 0] BR

B4: Labour Standards

B4 : B TR

General Disclosure “Labour Standards” 43
— MR [4 T#8)]

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment “Labour Standards” 43

practices to avoid child and forced labour
7 42 48 A HE 1R B4 i BB EE AR RE T RG4S
T 8T8

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such "Labour Standards” 43
practices when discovered

4 48 A IE 1R BA.2 A EERERBARKERB BB RARIAN (4 TER]
g
5k

Operating Practices

“EEM

B5: Supply Chain Management
BS @ fiEEER

General Disclosure Not identified as material ~ N/A
aspect.

—RIEE TEEER/REAZE o TER

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region Not identified as material -
aspect.

7 42 48 A HE 1R B5.1 wrRE SN HEREE THEBRERNZE °

KPIB5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging - -

suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored

7 42 48 A5 12 B5.2 W BEARERHEERENED  WERTAH
BHNHEEHE - URBABHBNRITR

ERTA
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REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)

TEHE  EH —-REERBEENEER E=4: 0] BR

B6: Product Responsibility
B6 : EmEE

General Disclosure Not identified as material ~ N/A
aspect.

—RIXE TEEER/REAZE - TER

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Not identified as material -
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons aspect.

7 42 48 45 1R B6.T EEFCEXEMBHEPTRAL2ERREHN THEBERERERE °
AR H B DL

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related - -
complaints received and how they are dealt with

B 5245 B 1R B6.2 EEERER MRBORFBE AREHE G E

KPIB6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and - -
protecting intellectual property rights

Bl 5245 MIE1RB6.3 R RRENBEREE AN ED

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall - -
procedures

B4R B IR 1R B6.4 MO E EmE BE NEMmEWIEF

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and - -
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored

7 42 48 A HE 1R B6.5 RMHBEEENRERALBRER - ARIEHA
WMITRERTTE
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REPORTING INDEX (continued)

- HERERBRERS ()

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TERHEE  BEH - —REERBREERER =4} EED/N
B7: Anti-corruption
B7 : RES
General Disclosure “Anti-corruption” 44
—RIEE REF]
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding No concluded legal case N/A
corrupt practices brought against the Company or regarding corrupt
its employees during the reporting period and the practices was noted.
outcome of the case
B 42 45 8 1R BT RBEPANEARARAIEEEREVEELEN UARBREFLENES TEA
B FRDRRENEE MAFRER RAAERME o
KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- " Anti-corruption” 44
blowing procedures, how they are implemented
and monitored
742 45 M8 1R BT .2 e R BRET - URBEBRTE [RES]
ERNE
Community
#HE
B8: Community Investment
B8 : HERE
General Disclosure "Community Investment” 45

— R =

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport)

A 2 48 A5 12 B8 ZIXEREE (HE F  RESEH 415
koo @#FE - b - BF)

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the

focus area

742 45 M5 1% B8.2 EEIERABAER (NEBEREH)
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The Board recognises the importance of corporate governance
practice of a listed company and is committed to adopting the
standards of corporate governance. The board is responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties. It is in the interest
of the shareholders and stakeholders for a listed company to
operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-
regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms with
a clear definition of accountability of directors and management.
The Company and the Directors confirm, to the best of their
knowledge, that the Company has complied with the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2022, except for
the following deviations:

() The code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code requires that
the independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors, as equal board members, should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Some directors were unable to
attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on
16 September 2021 due to other important engagement.

(i)  The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Since Ms. Lin Yudan resigned as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company on 12 July 2021, nobody has been
appointed. The executive Board which includes all executive
directors, investment manager and senior management
have been delegated with the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the day-to-day operations of the Group while
reserving certain key matters for the approval by the Board.
After evaluation of the current situation of the Company
and considering of the board composition, the Board is of
the opinion that it is appropriate and in the best interests
of the Company at the present stage for such arrangement
as it helps to maintain the continuity of the policies and the
stability of the operations of the Company.

EXEFRALTRARCEEARR BRI -
M—EBRNRREXERRE  -EZCAER
BIOTEEERARE - LWRARAZEERER
B RMSEBTHRERR  BFAREE
hHl - WERRTEFTHREEEER - ¥4
BREERFAEAZNG - NABARESHE
R BEERA S ARARBE_FT -

ZA=+-—BLEFERA-—BHET LEHHAKN
B1aprE B TR ([REERTAI)

HE AT s B 1S JLBR S

() DEEARTRZTANERXECILERE
BUFATESTREMERTEFTER
HEMEEHBERSMUIEETGHE -
FEHEBRRAE  YHRRZEREARQ
E2TH HIrEZTRNEEMEEEH
AEEEARAR=ZT=Z—FALA+A
RRETHRRBEFAE -

(i) EEEARTAZTRMEXEC2UERE -
TFEETHEAR 2 ABERAERY © X H
e — ARBRME - TFEETHAERZ
BESDTEEWATLAZSEHT -

AEMRALXETR T -_—F+A+=8
HEARRITHRER®E  EAEBEZE -
WTEETS (RE2BATES) - &
EEBRREEEEEETSRERE
KEBERREAEBZBEEES  HET
TZFHANEEESZTSEMR - LFTEAR
ARBRAMRRLEEESSHK  BF
CREBENBBALTEBRERFTEAALAR
AIREND  REAALTHEEPHES A
ARABRTEEEREEEBE -
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(i)  The code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code requires that the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting. The chairman of the board should also invite the
chairmen of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any
other committees (as appropriate) to attend. In their absence,
the chairman should invite another member of the committee
or failing this their duly appointed delegate, to attend. These
persons should be available to answer questions at the
annual general meeting. Some of the committee chairmen
were unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 16 September 2021 due to other important
engagement.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board comprises two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan
Cheong Yee and Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement; five non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Han Zhenghai (Joint Chairman of the Board),
Mr. Gao Yun (Joint Chairman of the Board), Mr. Deng Dongping,
Mr. Liu Lihan and Mr. Zhu Zhikun; and four independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Lok Chiu Chan, Mr. Shi
Zhu and Mr. Yuan Wei.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, is collectively responsible for promoting its success
by directing and supervising its affairs and oversees the Group's
businesses, investment and strategic decisions and performance.
Directors take decisions objectively in the best interests of
the Company. The executive Board, investment manager and
senior management have been delegated with the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day operations of
the Group while reserving certain key matters for the approval
by the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the Board committees. Further details of these
Board committees are set out in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
board composition is formed to ensure strong independence
exists across the Board and has met recommended practice under
the Code for the Board to have at least one-third of its members
comprising independent non-executive Directors. The biographical
information of the existing Directors is set out on pages 12 to 17
under the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management”.
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(i) EEEATUZTIRXEF22EHRE -
EZgIRFRLERREFAS - EF
SXIFENEEFESZ - FH - REBRME
MEMEZEEE (MER) TFEHFE - W
HARBEHFE  EREEFR H%ZEBE®
B (e BRELFE - AR
ERAZERR)LE - ZRFALTELRE
BRAFAGUBRERRA - BNZEE
TFRAEEMEESHARELFEALQA
R-B_—FAATRNBETHRRE
FRE -

Exg

K&
EXCERMEBRTETRERZEERRE
WhE  ARFVTEFTBLEESEE (EFE
EER) "REAE (BEFEEBFEEFE)
MRFELE BTEEERKRBREE R
MEBLIFATESREFALL - WEEXLE -
AERERREREL -

i

EXZeREREREHNARE  EREEHEE
TREBESEHUREELXRY - EEAKHE
ZEE  REURKBUERRERRR - BF
EBMELENAARBARKRENDZNRE - #
TEEE  RELELRSATEERESFS
BEMZEREEREASEZATER -
ETIZFRVEREESEY - - &
ZENEZRZHEEETTEFEZES - %5
EREEZE—SSHABIARLALEERRE o

i

EECSREZHEITENE - ¥75 - BB
HthEKX HETBEZ2HE - BESe2¥H
EETHEREZSSREEY  UFETHA
HEESBAERI N Z—KEABIIEH
TEEZEZFE - BAEFBEEHIR
FNRNENTHEH [EERREREERBE] —& -



China Investment Development Limited » f B % & 1 2 B R A A)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TREBRSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition (continued)

Newly appointed directors of the Company would receive a
comprehensive and formal induction on appointment. Subsequently
they would receive briefing and professional development
necessary to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the
Company's operations and business and are fully aware of their
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Exchange
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
issuer’s business and governance policies.

Chairman

The Joint Chairmen of the Company takes the lead in formulating
overall strategies and policies of the Group; ensures the effective
performance by the Board of its functions, including compliance
with good corporate governance practices and encourages and
facilitates active contribution of Directors in Board activities. The
Joint Chairmen also ensures that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues arising at Board meetings and have received adequate,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner with the
assistance of the company secretary.

The respective roles and responsibilities of Mr. Han Zhenghai
(“Mr. Han") and Mr. Gao Yun (“Mr. Gao") as Joint Chairmen of
the Company (“Joint Chairmen”) under the memorandum of
continuance and bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws"”) and the
Listing Rules (including the Corporate Governance Code). Bye-law
95 of the Bye-laws stipulates for the chairman of the Company to
preside as the chairman at every general meeting of the Company.
Paragraph C.2 of the Corporate Governance Code sets out certain
roles and responsibilities of the chairman of the Company with
respect to the Company’s corporate governance matters.

BEE® (o)

RE &

AR EAMESEBRZEABESEE
BERMMAEAD - HAREZEEESHEN

BAREEERE - WEREFHAAFNE
BRMEBABRENTR  URT2NBHE
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BUR °

£S5
ARRIMFEEFSAEGNTAEE 2 BERE
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EWMBT  TREMEBEFHEENTES
2R LRE2ZERH > HEERBRIIESR
TREAEER -

BEBELE ([BEE]) RREELE ([HE
Bl RARAR z A FERBRSHEREABER
AR (TERAR) RETRAY (BREXE
AR BTERARBMETRE ([BEEX
Fl)ZBz2ABNRRBE - E2MAIFESKE
EARREIFEREARBEBRBRRAG LEFE
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman (continued)

Since Mr. Gao's appointment as a Joint Chairman (and the
redesignation of Mr. Han as a Joint Chairman) on 20 September
2021, Mr. Han and Mr. Gao have been serving clearly delineated
functions within the Group. Mr. Han is responsible for the roles
and responsibilities of a chairman of the Company under the Bye-
laws and the Listing Rules (including the Corporate Governance
Code). On the other hand, Mr. Gao is responsible for the overall
strategic development of the Group’s investments, given his
extensive experience and exposure in the business and financial
sectors in the PRC and abroad as well as his overseas educational
background. While Mr. Gao will spend more time and attention on
studying the getting complicated macro investment environment
in a bid to lead the direction of the Group’s development, he will
not be involved in day to day management of investment projects.
There is also a clear understanding and expectation by Board and
within the Company as to the segregated roles and responsibilities
of Mr. Han and Mr. Gao within the Group.

Executive Directors

The executive Directors are responsible for running the Group
and executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the
Group’s management team in accordance with the directions set
by the Board and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal
control system is in place and the Group's business conforms to
applicable laws and regulations.

Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring
the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their
participations provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. The Board consists
of four independent non-executive Directors and each of them has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. All independent non-executive
Directors are financially independent from the Company. The
Company confirmed with all independent non-executive Directors
as to their independence with reference to the factors as set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors (continued)

As one of the main pillars of good corporate governance, boards

are expected to have a suitable number of non-executive directors

("NEDs") including independent non-executive directors, and with

the right skills. The term of appointment of NED includes:

i)

(i)

(iv)

The process by which any new director, including a NED, can
be appointed will be governed by the Company’s articles
of association. The board may be able to appoint a NED,
this need shareholder approval at the next annual general
meeting.

The letter of appointment confirms the initial term of the
NED’s appointment, considering that the articles require
directors to retire by rotation and stand for re-election. The
letter also makes it clear that either the company or the NED
may terminate the appointment early by giving the other
party one (1) month notice in advance or payment of one (1)
month'’s remuneration in lieu of such notice.

A NED is subject to the same general legal duties as an
executive director.

Conflicts provisions in the appointment letter was balanced
carefully with the company's articles. The NED is required to
be absented from board discussions which present, or may
present, a conflict of interest. Alternatively, the NED can
attend the meeting and only be prevented from voting.
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TERERBE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EEg @
Board Meetings Exeel
The attendance of each Director at Board meetings duringtheyear BEZZ-_—_F=-A=+—H1LtFE r §&F
ended 31 March 2022 was as follows: ERESTEERIHLERHEOT
Number of meetings
attended/held
Name of Director o= HEBITEBREAE
Executive Director BITES
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee BREZE KL 42/48
Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement BRIBI % & 0/0
(appointed on 6 April 2022) (R-ZFZ—FpANHEZE)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Han Zhenghai RRIEEE A 46/48
Mr. Yang Xiaogiu (resigned on 13 February 2022) BB T 36/37
(R-F_—F_F+= Erf%?/f)
Mr. Yan Peng (resigned on 30 December 2021) BREEE(R=ZF=Z—F+= 30/31
=1 HEF)
Mr. Gao Yun mELE 23/24
(appointed on 6 August 2021 and further appointed as (R=E=—FNNANHEZ
Joint Board Chairman on 20 September 2021) RR-ZE——FANA -1 H#E—
BSEZIREESHETE)
Ms. Li Jiangtao FEELT 37/39
(appointed on 17 June 2021 and (RZFB-Z—FX AT +HEZ
resigned on é April 2022) ;'f)ﬂi/\_ E-—FRHNAE
[
Mr. Deng Dongping (re-designated on 12 July 2021) BRFEE(R=—ZF=-—F+H 31/35
+ = HEFF)
Mr. Liu Lihan (re-designated on 12 July 2021) BIESE (R=ZFE=Z—F+H 35/35
1T = HEHF)
Mr. Zhu Zhikun (appointed on 6 August 2021) KeREE (RZFZ—F/THN 13/24
HEZT)
Mr. Zeng Xiaohui H}%ﬁif‘ﬁi 3/3
(appointed on 20 September 2021 and (RZFZ—FANHA-+HEZ
resigned on 20 December 2021) FRR=-_F-—F+=H=+H
BFIE)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Lai Yuen Piu (retired on 16 September 2021) REMIE(R-_F-—FN1H 27/28
TN HRE)
Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie (resigned on 17 June 2021) ZRERLZ+ (R =-_F=—F A 717
1+ H &)
Mr. Deng Dongping (ceased on 12 July 2021) BRYIEER-_F-_—F+H 13/13
T =BT HEE)
Mr. Liu Lihan (ceased on 12 July 2021) Bl EEE (R=ZFE=-—F+H 12/13
+=HTEEE)
Mr. Kan Yat Kit 2] /ﬁﬂ%?ﬁi 30/34
(appointed on 12 July 2021 and (R_F_—F+H+_F
resigned on é April 2022) %fj)/f&/?\_ T —FMANA
s
Ms. Mo Li (appointed on 17 June 2021) R L (RZF-—4F 37/39
NHTHHEZE)
Mr. Shi Zhu (appointed on é August 2021) BRE (R=ZF=—F 18/19
NANHEZ(F)
Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 20 September 2021) RBEE(RZF=-—4F 9/16
A= +5ﬁ§§)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (appointed on 12 July 2021) SEMELE ( RZF=Z—%F 27/34

tAT-—HEZE)
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the company
secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all Directors.
All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum or training
courses on relevant topics which may count towards continuous
professional development training.

Pursuant to Code C.1.4 of the “Corporate Governance Code”,
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. For the period from 1 April 2021 to 31
March 2022, all Directors participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company's business
or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

COMPANY SECRETARIES

The company secretaries Mr. Li Wancheng and Ms. Ho Wing Yan
are service providers. They fulfill the requirement under rules 3.28
and 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The company secretaries report to the
Chairman and support the Board, ensure good information flow
within the Board and Board policy and procedures are followed,;
advise the Board on governance matters, facilitate induction and,
monitor the training and continuous professional development
of Directors. Each of them has attained not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the review period.

INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance, with
coverage being reviewed annually, to indemnify the Directors and
officers from their risk exposure arising from corporate activities.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

In respect of regular board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers of the meeting are sent in full to all directors in
advance before the intended date of a meeting. The management
has the obligation to supply the Board and the various Board
committees with adequate information in a timely manner to
enable the members to make informed decisions. Each Director
has separate and independent access to the Group's senior
management to acquire more information than is volunteered by
management and to make further enquiries if necessary.

B
EREEFERIET R QAAWEHE
MeEEEERELLTRALREMEREER
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ZHEBREMN  EHERTEERRSESHE
MEBATREETSHELNEFTENER -
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BAHERNAAIER A ESHE LB AR
BRIz AA2HEBERESERREY -

DNEWE

NREAMETEREERMAKMREZ L /RE R
HE - BENA LHRAEI228RI29EHR
oo ARAMERAIFER UXEESEE -
BREFEAEHMBIRHERIR - UREF
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FEeRHER  BYHRBFEE UREEE
FZRIRFBERRR - RERLDBEHE
FERZTIRTENBZHABEXEI -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Lok Chiu Chan, Mr. Shi Zhu
and Mr. Yuan Wei, and is chaired by Ms. Mo Li. The Audit
Committee meets at least twice a year. The Audit Committee
is mainly responsible for overseeing the Company's financial
reporting system and internal control procedures; making
recommendations to the Board in the appointment and removal of
the external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditors; and any questions of
resignation or dismissal of such auditors; and reviewing the interim
and annual reports and the financial statements of the Group. The
terms of reference are available on the Company’s website.

EREEE
ERZECRANBBUFATES (BRF LK
T REBELELE AFELELERRBRLELE) A
B THEMZIEEEFE - EREESE
FRIBITMAEH - EXZXEETITEARR
EEARAZMBEHBEGRAMEZRRF
REERERIERBMANEETSREER
DA B2 4t A 51 B A2 BUED 2 % M&x%ﬁﬁ:&
i A A% BUAD 2 B T 3k o B4R (E ) &R
&%ﬁ$%§¢%&¢§ﬁ%%&%%ﬁ%°
BRESENARRBEUAIHERN -

The attendance of each member at Audit Committee meetings BHEZZ-__F=A=+—HA1EFE K
during the year ended 31 March 2022 was as follows: EHFEEZZESSATHOT :
Number of meetings
attended/held
Name of Committee Member ZESHENRE HERBITEBRHE
Mr. Lai Yuen Piu (retired on 16 September 2021) REMLE(R-_FE=_—FNLH 2/2
TN HREF)
Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie (resigned on 17 June 2021) RER L+ (R=—F=—FH 11
1+ H &)
Mr. Deng Dongping (ceased on 12 July 2021) HRFEE(R=ZFE-Z—F+H 2/2
+= ET@#&)
Mr. Liu Lihan (ceased on 12 July 2021) BEFEE (R—FE-Z—F+H 2/2
T =—HATHEEFE)
Ms. Mo Li RRZE(R=—F=—FNATE 3/3
(appointed as member on 17 June 2021 and further as HEZ(FRBHKERKR ZF = —1F
committee chairman on 6 April 2022) TIANHME— A EETRES
FE)
Mr. Kan Yat Kit BEfErE(R-F= fﬁq’:ﬁ 2/2
(appointed on 12 July 2021 and ToHAEZFRR-EFE - ZF
resigned on 6 April 2022) AN HEEE)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (appointed on 12 July 2021) BMELE(RZF=Z—F+A 2/2
T ZHEZEF)
Mr. Shi Zhu (appointed on 6 August 2021) AEE(R-ZFE-_—F/NAN A 2/2
EZ ()
Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 20 September 2021) RE L%f'ﬁi (RZBZ—FANA=F 2/2
ZF)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee consists of one non-executive
Director and four independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Han Zhenghai, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Lok Chiu Chan, Mr. Shi Zhu and
Mr. Yuan Wei, and is chaired by Ms. Mo Li. The Remuneration
Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy for Directors and
senior management, and overseeing the remuneration packages
of the executive Directors and senior management. The terms of
reference are available on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee has considered and approved
the Group's policy for the remuneration of Directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has assessed the
performance of the executive Directors and considered the
remuneration package of executive Directors by reference to the
prevailing packages with companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are
disclosed on an individual basis in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group adopts a competitive remuneration
package for its employees. Promotion and salary increments are
assessed based on a performance related basis.

The attendance of each member at Remuneration Committee
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2022 was as follows:

ﬁ@ﬂ%é%

FHNZBE e 2 FATESMHEABIUIF
$M7§$($&E/5Ei BHzt - %%HDEE
Ak AREEERRERLLE) AKX YR
FMZLHEREER - THEZESETRAEIA

ARAEERRRERECFMRRRNESS
RftEZ  YTEFUTEFESREEEZ

HFEE ERBEEERNARRSEUAIHE
E‘Qﬁ o

Miﬁae%ﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁlﬁ$&
E@F TR -  HFMEZEED %m%ﬂﬁ
E2RR Iwﬂ%wﬂﬁEth”Tz
ﬁhﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁﬁmi%Z FENFE - @R
EECTMNFBRERANBHRRWT4HE -
$Elﬁﬁﬁa%%ﬂ SF N MES -
FHE N N F iR S A FERE R IR A E EE TR -

BEZZ-_—_F=ZA=+—BLFE ' &K
BEHEFMNEZEegZaHm T

Number of meetings
attended/held

Name of Committee Member EZESHENRE HEBITERYAE
Mr. Lai Yuen Piu (retired on 16 September 2021) BRI E 0/0
(RZF=Z—FNA+NHEFE)
Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie (resigned on 17 June 2021) %%gﬁﬂﬁi 0/0
(R=ZF= f/—c/\ﬁ+f5/%7f)
Mr. Deng Dongping (ceased on 12 July 2021) W?ﬁ?ﬁi (RZFE-_—F+H 0/0
+= ET@#/‘E)
Mr. Liu Lihan (ceased on 12 July 2021) BEEE (R _FE-_—F+H 0/0
+=HTHEE)
Ms. Mo Li RRZE (R =—F——FNATE 11
(appointed as member on 17 June 2021 and further as HEZ T ABKERR —F = —4F
committee chairman on 12 July 2021) +tAF+—HE—HEZHEFREE
21/E)
Mr. Kan Yat Kit WREEE R -_F-_—F+H 1/1
(appointed on 12 July 2021 and T oHEZARR-FE=—F/M
resigned on é April 2022) HANHET)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (appointed on 12 July 2021) SMBELE(R=ZF=Z—F+AH 1/1
T =—HEZEF)
Mr. Han Zhenghai BIEEEE
Mr. Shi Zhu (appointed on 6 August 2021) AREER-ZF-Z—FNANH 11
BZET)
Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 20 September 2021) &%‘Ef’ii (R=ZF=Z—FNA=F 0/0

Z1E)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee consists of four independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Lok Chiu Chan, Mr. Shi
Zhu and Mr. Yuan Wei as well as the Joint Chairman of the Board
and non-executive Director Mr. Han Zhenghai, and is chaired by Mr.
Han Zhenghai. The primary function of the Nomination Committee
is to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Group's corporate strategy. The
terms of reference are available on the Company’s website.

The attendance of each member at Nomination Committee
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2022 was as follows:

REEES
RAZESANBBEYIFATES (RARL
REBELEE  AEEERREBEELE) ARE
EEMEIRRFNTESTRIEELLEMANK -
YHBESELAEEIIE  -REZESIR
BESBFRIETSHEE - ABRER -
THREFE2EMARZRIREETR - NE
BAKEEERE - ERELERNARAH
SR ER] -

BE-_Z-_—_F#=ZA=Z=+—BIFE ' &K
BEHFREZEEZOHEOT ¢

Number of meetings
attended/held

Name of Committee Member EESHENRE HEEBITEEEYE

Mr. Lai Yuen Piu (retired on 16 September 2021) R E 2/2
(R=ZF=Z—F N A+ NHRF)

Ms. Yang Xiaogqiu (resigned on 13 February 2021) (P12 S S 4/4
(R=ZF-_—F_A+=HFE)

Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie (resigned on 17 June 2021) R EMZ+ 0/0
W““:-iﬁﬁ+fﬂ%@

Mr. Deng Dongping (ceased on 12 July 2021) HRFEE(RZFEZ—F+£H 1/1
+ =BT EEE)

Mr. Han Zhenghai (Chairman) BIEREE(EE) 4/4

Mr. Liu Lihan (ceased on 12 July 2021) BEFEE (R—FE-Z—F+H 1/1
1= ET@#E)

Ms. Mo Li (appointed on 17 June 2021) ERZt(R=ZB=Z—F~NA++ 3/3

HEZT)
Mr. Kan Yat Kit BRfrE (R=ZFE=-Z—F+AH 2/2
(appointed on 12 July 2021 and ToABZARR-FE_—_—FN
resigned on 6 April 2022) HNHEEHE)

Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (appointed on 12 July 2021) REBEEE (R-ZFE-—F+H 2/2
T =—HEZF)

Mr. Shi Zhu (appointed on 6 August 2021) ERRER=ZF=Z—FNANH 1/1
BZE)

Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 20 September 2021) RRAEERZFZ—FNLAZF 0/0

Z1F)
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company endeavours to ensure that the Board has the
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives that are required to support the execution of its
business strategy and in order for the Board to be effective.

The Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

o Character and integrity;

. Personal attributes including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, experience and expertise that are relevant to the
Company's business and corporate strategy, and the ability
to provide insights and practical wisdom based on those
attributes;

o Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, other directorships, memberships of various
committees and significant commitments;

o For independent non-executive directors to be appointed in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o Ability to develop a good working relationship with other
Board members and contribute to the Board’s working
relationship with senior management of the Company;

o Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Committee for achieving diversity on the
Board; and

° Any other perspectives appropriate to the Company's
business.

ESRABR
ARRBNARRESSHEETENER
BERAZTHBE  EHERTARAZE
BEMREEG 2 HROEE -

EHBEMERESREAR - REHZBEEE
ZE (K e ATER:

o mABAMHIE :

e BEABMK  BREAXARAXHMAFK
BRAEBNEXER - X M@ &
BMERMH  URERELBIEMR
HERNEERE S0k

s HFREFENE  FTEMEFIBM -
FHRZEE@KENERUEE Hr BER
ARHNKEHEETRE

s ERBLMRAUBRMREBILIFNTT
EER - REMRAPHNBILEIIRE
AREARRRSEL

s HRNEHEMEZENBERVYRIMNIE
iR YRESFEERARNASREEE
MTIERBERELTR

s EXEZNMLLBRURZBESGRERE
FEZEMERNEAATEENEF
&

s BIARAEBMETMEMAE -
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity
of Directors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience.

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences
in the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race,
gender and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be
taken into account in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit while taking
into account diversity (including gender diversity).

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
and recommend them to the Board for adoption. The Nomination
Committee will report annually, in the corporate governance report,
on the Board's composition under diversified perspectives, and
monitor the implementation of this policy.

The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the Board
members as of the date of this annual report:

EEERESTILEE
ARRIEERBUREFESTEAEBZ TN
Ex BRETRR) KR - F& > X1t
RHBEESREELER -

—EEEZTNEESREBRLEZAES
Rikee - HMERTEER  BF - Bk
MR REMERESFI T HMER - RAEHE
EZeEnNREAaRN BERLANE
2 -MABEFEREZEw  HUARAKES
RRA - XEBZ T (BFEMERZ T -

REAZESEBFEIWARAEREETES
EZLIEMAGFERR  YERFEFER
MZEMERR - RBZEBEEKEBFRE
XEARBRENERESTEN S TLERNA
Ko ARERABRZHIT -

TRE-THABEAFHRAPEZTSGKE
M % L

Gender Age Group Area
1 5l F iR A B =321
Hong China
Name of Director Male  Female 20to 50 50to 70 Kong Mainland

EEEE B4 ZM  20FE508% 508708 B FEAH
CHAN Cheong Yee BRE & % % %

CHAN Yiu Pun Clement FeR 2 #2 v \Y \Y

HAN Zhenghai FEIEE % % Vv
GAO Yun aBE v V Y,
DENG Dongping R T \ \ \
LIU Lihan B 7% v v v
ZHU Zhikun KRR v v %
MO Li BH) v %
LOK Chiu Chan SRR EE v V v

SHI Zhu AtE V V V

YUAN Wei & v Y v
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee consists of the executive Director
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee and four independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Lok Chiu Chan, Mr. Shi Zhu and
Mr. Yuan Wei, and is chaired by Mr. Chan Cheong Yee. The primary
function of the Risk Management Committee is to review, monitor,
manage and control the existing investments, developing and
reviewing the risk management policy and monitoring the effective
running of the risk management.

The attendance of each member at Risk Management Committee

RREEZES
REEERE@HATEETRERLERD
HBUFATESR (REART - MBESLE -
AEEERREREL) AR YHREEE
ERETFE  BEREEZESTIZBEAR
A EE BEERENBRARE  UHIETR
ERRREERRRMEZERREENERE
fE o

BE-Z--F=A=+—BHLEE  &BK

meetings during the year ended 31 March 2022 was as follows: BEHFRAREBEZEEERCHUT :
Number of meetings
attended/held
Name of Committee Member ZEEREH®HE HEBITERYE
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (Chairman) MERLE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Lai Yuen Piu (retired on 16 September 2021) R E 1/1
(R=ZF=Z—FNAFNHRF)
Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie (resigned on 17 June REB 2+ 0/0
2021) (#:g:—ﬁﬁﬁ+t5%5)
Mr. Deng Dongping (ceased on 12 July 2021) BRIPELE (RZFE-—F+H+=H 1/
THEE)
Mr. Liu Lihan (ceased on 12 July 2021) B EEE (R E-—F+A+=-H 1/1
THEE)
Ms. Mo Li (appointed on 17 June 2021) ERit 2/2
(RZBZ—FXNAT+HEZE)
Mr. Kan Yat Kit %hﬁ?’lﬁ%i 11
(appointed on 12 July 2021 and (RZFB-Z—F+ A+ _HEZER

resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (appointed on 12 July 2021)

Mr. Shi Zhu (appointed on 6 August 2021)

Mr. Yuan Wei (appointed on 20 September 2021)

RZFZZFPYHNHEE)
SSRBEE A
(RZFB-—F+A+-HEZF)
Atk
(RZFZ—FNANHEZF)
RERSLE
(R—_F-——FAA-+HEZ(T)

1/1

1/1

11

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During the year under
review, the Board has reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance.

ERERHAE
ZSQTIﬂ}iZim%%/ﬁ%EE% FEFXER8
ERTLEERBRE  BEBIREEAR

Al BUR - i%am%‘%ﬁ EEReREE
BBl RFEZXEE - A A BHAEST
FEREETEERIZBERERE - REEF
B EXZeCBFRARAIZEEERABER
B e
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial period
and to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Board also ensures the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements. The Directors, having made
appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. The statements of the auditor of the Group regarding
their responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 71 to 80 of this
Annual Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the
system of internal controls of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness, is committed to implementing an effective and sound
internal control system to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and the assets of the Group. Procedures have been designed
to safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposition, to
ensure the sufficient allocation of resources and manpower and
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication, and
to ensure compliance with applicable law, rules and regulations.
The procedures provide a reasonable but not absolute assurance
and prevention of material untrue statements or losses, as well
as management on the interruption of the Group’s management
system and risks existing in the course of arriving at the Group's
objectives.

The management of the Group has conducted a review on the
Group's internal control and risk management system for the
year ended 31 March 2022 with no material weakness found. The
management will continue to improve and strengthen its control
in order to enhance the corporate governance and safeguard the
interest of its shareholders.

The Company conducted an annual review for the need of setting
up an internal audit department. Given the Company’s simple
operating structure, it was decided by the Board that the Board be
directly responsible for the internal control system of the Company
and for reviewing its effectiveness.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance, emphasizing accountability and high degree of
transparency which enable our stakeholder to have trust and faith
in the Company to take care of their needs and to fulfill its social
responsibility. The Company has devised a Whistleblowing Policy
(the "Policy”) so that employees of the Company as well as relevant
third parties (e.g. customers, suppliers, etc., who deal with the
Company ("Third Parties”)) can raise concerns, in confidence, about
misconduct, malpractice or irregularities in any matters related to
the Company The Company also ensures that proper arrangements
are in place for the fair and independent investigation of such
matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

Whistleblowing matters may include but are not confined to: (i)
Breach of legal or regulatory requirements; (ii) Criminal offenses,
breach of civil law and miscarriage of justice; (iii) Malpractice,
impropriety or fraud relating to internal controls, accounting,
auditing and financial matters; (iv) Violation of rules of conducts
applicable within the Company or those of the Group; (v) Bribery or
corruption; and/or (vi) Deliberate concealment of any of the above.

The Company will make every effort to keep all whistleblowing
reports and identities of employees and/or Third Parties who have
made reports confidential.

In addition, having discovered any suspicious behavior, employees
could report to the relevant business department, or the executive
directors or management of the Company. The Company provides
anonymous reporting channels in case of corruption or deception.

In general, the whistle-blower should made their reports to the
chairman of the board of directors ("Board”) of the Company in
writing by post in a sealed envelope clearly marked “To be opened
by addressee only” at

Chairman of the board of directors

China Investment Development Limited

Suites 6303-04, 63/F, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wan chai,
Hong Kong

A report may also be submitted to the chairman of the Board via
the following email address: chairman@chinainvestment.com.hk, or
directly to the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company via
the following email address: whistleblower@chinainvestment.com.hk
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid and payable to the
Company'’s auditor, Fan, Chan & Co. Limited, for audit service of
the year ended 31 March 2022 is HK$420,000 and there is no non-
audit service provided during the year ended 31 March 2022.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all the
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

The Company also has established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of any unpublished
inside information of the Company or its securities.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director

Subject to the Bye-laws and applicable laws, rules and regulations,
the Company may in a general meeting by ordinary resolution elect
any person to be a director of the Company either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
may propose a person (the “Candidate”) other than a Director of
the Company for election as a director at a general meeting by
lodging the following documents at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong (Suites 6303-04, 63/F, Central Plaza,
18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
company secretary:

1. A written notice signed by the shareholder concerned which
is given of his/her intention to propose the Candidate for
election;

2. A written notice signed by the Candidate indicating his/
her willingness to be elected, together with the Candidate’s
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules; and

3. The Candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director (continued)

The period for lodgment of the above documents shall have
given to the company secretary of the Company during a period
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting.

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Special general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more registered members of the Company
deposited at the registered office in Bermuda specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the
written requisition of any one member of the Company which is
a recognised clearing house (or its nominee) deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The annual general meetings provide a useful forum for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman
of the Company as well as the chairman and members of various
Board committees are pleased to answer shareholders’ questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
Directors. Details of poll voting procedures and the rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are included in the circular to
shareholders despatched together with the annual report. The
circular also includes relevant details of proposed resolutions,
including biographies of each candidates standing for re-election.
The results of the poll are published on the Company’s website,
www.chinainvestment.com.hk, and on the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, (http://www.hkex.com.hk).

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the year under review, the Group has proactively
enhanced its corporate transparency and communications with
its shareholders and the investment community through the
announcement of its mandatory interim and final reports. Through
the timely distribution of other announcements, the Group has also
kept the public abreast of its latest developments.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BYZHBMKES

SLIR G 3t ERAT A MR 3]
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA INVESTMENT

DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

FERERZERLA

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investment Development Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 81 to 175, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects on the corresponding
figures of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section of our report, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Rooms 1007-1012, E5E

10/F., K. Wah Centre, 1t A&

191 Java Road, B HEE19158
North Point, EEREEA L
Hong Kong 10%1007—10125
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Comparability of the related current year’s figures and the
corresponding figures

As stated in the auditor’s report of the auditors of the Group for the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Predecessor Auditor”),
as at 31 March 2020, the Group held 18% equity interests in
Huge Leader Investment Development Limited ("Huge Leader”)
and 14% equity interests in Golden Resources Asia Limited
("Golden Resources”) which were determined as unquoted equity
instruments and accounted for as financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI"). During the year
ended 31 March 2020, the Group lost contact with the management
of Huge Leader and Golden Resources and could not get access
to the financial information of Huge Leader and Golden Resources.
The directors of the Company had measured the fair value of
the Group's interests in Huge Leader and Golden Resources as
at 31 March 2020 based on the net asset values of Huge Leader
and Golden Resources as at 31 March 2019, which was the latest
available financial information of these investee companies and
adjusted for factors they considered might affect their fair values.
As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of the Group's interest in Huge
Leader was estimated at HK$ nil.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group disposed of 17%
equity interests in Huge Leader and 14% equity interests in Golden
Resources at considerations of HK$762,000 and HK$816,000
respectively. A change in fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI
amounting to HK$762,000 and HK$816,000 were recognised in
consolidated other comprehensive income of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021, represent the disposal proceeds in
respect of Huge Leader and Golden Resources respectively. A
cumulative loss of approximately HK$8,683,000 and HK$9,184,000
were transferred from revaluation reserve to accumulated losses
in consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended
31 March 2021 upon the disposal of 17% equity interests in Huge
Leader and 14% equity interests in Golden Resources.

The Predecessor Auditor had issued a disclaimer of opinion on
these matters for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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BYZHERES

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (continued)
Comparability of the related current year’s figures and the
corresponding figures (continued)

As stated in the auditor’s report issued by the Predecessor Auditor
for the year ended 31 March 2021, the directors of the Company
did not provide them with the details of their estimation of the fair
value of these two investments as at 31 March 2020, and they were
therefore unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to assess the reasonableness of the directors’ estimation of the
fair values of the Group's interests in Huge Leader and Golden
Resources as at 31 March 2020. Any adjustments to the fair values of
these two investments as at 31 March 2020 found necessary would
(i) reduce the increase in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2021; (i) affect the elements making up the consolidated statement
of changes in equity; and (i) affect the related disclosures thereof
in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021. Our audit opinion on the current year's
consolidated financial statements is also modified because of the
possible effects of the above matters on the comparability of the
current year's figures and the corresponding figures.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER ("KAM")

BEEXEE ((BRELSE])

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional HREFEZFHEERBEREMOZIEHAE @ £XK
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the MHAHEGEUBFEHRENEZFZREED
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These F£IH - ZEFHAERKMEFRE M HEHRKRET
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the EBEEZLIHEREELFERE @ RMET
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our Bt BN REEE R ©

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter
ERERSHE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMERNMEERARERSR

Valuation of unlisted financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") and unlisted financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"):

BAVPEAAEERRE ([BAVEFAERSZRE] K
FLETHBEERRAFEFAEEMEZEKREE ([
ANFEFAEAMEENRERE]) NI ETHBHEENMG
& :

We identified the valuation of unlisted financial assets
at FVTPL and FVTOCI as a key audit matter due to the
inherent level of complex and subjective judgements and
estimates required in determining the fair values.

BB RRAFEFAEBRRRE RIZAFEFFAEEM
2EREREMNIFEHTHBEEENGEERBRESZEZER
FREREERATFEAFNERIZE  IHFELTHHE R
flat o
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of
unlisted investments in financial assets at FVTPL and
unlisted financial assets at FVTOCI included:
EMEEATEFATEBERENMBEEIFLTRE
RN FEGFATEAMEENREENIE LMY BEE
HHEETHRTFEE

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities, and
objectivity of the valuer and obtaining an
understanding of the valuer’s scope of work and
their terms of engagement;

. A EEMEEL BN REEE - T REE
B EY TR E K& T B IR

o Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuer’s
valuation approaches to assess if they meet the
requirements of the HKFRSs and industry norms;

e FEEEMZHERARTEE  UFHEES
HEBEEVBBRESERNRITEEINRE
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (“"KAM") (continued)

Key audit matter
HRERER

BEEXER ((BRELSRE]) @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMELNMEEERERSEE

The Group’s unlisted investments in convertible
bonds classified as FVTPL and unlisted equity
securities classified as FVTOCI are stated at fair value
of approximately HK$16 million and HK$4 million,
respectively at 31 March 2022, with a fair value gain on
FVTPL and fair value loss on FVTOCI of approximately
HK$6,531,000 and HK$5,069,000 respectively, recognised
in the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income respectively for the year
then ended as disclosed in note 21 and note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements. The fair values were
assessed by the management based on valuations
performed by an independent valuer engaged by the
Group.
EEERDEARATESAERREIEN A BARESIE
FTRERDBERRATFEFAEEMEEWEEIER I
TR ABEBSFR S _F=A=1T—HHEAFED
16EBBETRABEETIER  BEXA EFERQTER
AEBEHERENATER G RIEATFEFAEEMEEEK
=R IEH AP EBE S 546,531,000 7T %5,069,0007% 7T
DRIREEERNGE M2 EWAER - HWESTB
WERM T2 LM T20MIE - A FERERER E5H
LR B HERETR A EETAE -

Challenging the reasonableness of the key
assumptions and, inputs and appropriateness
of valuation models applied based on available
market data and our knowledge of the investee
industry and whether the assumptions inputs
and methodologies are consistent with those
used in prior year;
RIBFASMISEE M FIHREERITENRR
kB ETERJ[LBABIENSELERAERMGE
BENEEN ANAFARKRBABELITER
BEBEFERAERN

Reviewing supportive evidence for the
significant judgements and estimates of the
valuations and the key inputs used in the
valuations; and
EHGHENERHABTREAARGEMREIEE
ABIBER X HIRRE

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
valuation.

REEZ G EERME -
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KEY AUDIT MATTER ("KAM") (continued)

Key audit matter
HREREE

REELER ((BRELEE]) @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMERNMEEEREREE

Impairment assessment of financial assets at amortised
cost:

REEK AN EZ W EERERE

We identified impairment assessment of financial assets as a
key audit matter because the Group has deposits paid and
promissory notes with the net balances of approximately
HK$37 million and HK$105 million, respectively, as at 31
March 2022 which accounted for 15.8% and 44.5% of the
Group's total assets.
BABNMBEEEREFECABAREZEERE R
2 BREER-_FT-__F=ZA=t—HEAMEE kX
REBFESRS NN RIBES T RIGCEE BT
b EEEBEEIS8% RIS -

The assessment of impairment of financial assets at
amortised cost under the expected credit loss ("ECL")
model is considered to be a key audit matter as it requires
the application of judgement to reflect information about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
conditions, and use of subjective assumptions by the
management.

BHEEER (RPEEEER]) BX THREHK ARG
EZHMBEEREFHRELABARERZEZE  RAR
HEZEHRERAHABGRRBREEABEEMN - Ealk
ARARFMRRABRNER AR ERETBRE -

The ECL was assessed by the management with reference
to valuations performed by an independent valuer engaged
by the Group and other information of the assets.
BHEEBEERAEREES2E SEEEZENBEYMGERM
ETNEEREENEMERETHMG -
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of financial assets at amortised cost included:
BMHRBHEKAFTEZT R EERENHETH
BreiE:

J Understanding the key controls on how the
impairment assessment of financial assets at
amortised cost is estimated by the management;
THREEBMMMANZBEHENAHEZHBE
R E AT {4 RO BE SR I

J Reviewing and assessing the application of the
Group’s policy for calculating ECLs to consider
consistency of application;

ER LG EEEAEEHEERBEREREN
JERAZEERER —3E :

. Evaluating the independence, objectivity,
competence and capabilities of the valuer;

AP EMEEY - BB - Bk

o Evaluating techniques and methodologies in ECLs
model against the requirements of HKFRS 9;
FERBEEAEV B RS EREZORRENHAD
EEEBEERA RN RAE

o Assessing the reasonableness of the basis and
judgement of the management in determining
credit loss allowance on financial assets at
amortised cost;

T EEEE T REERANAECMBEE
MEEBERBZEERAGHONG M

o Testing the key data sources applied in the ECLs
computation on a sample basis by checking to the
supporting information and external data sources,
as applicable; and
FRREXFENRINBEERIR (WER) -
MEAATEREEBEFEPEANTIZNE
TR R

o Checking the mathematical accuracy of the ECLs.
RERHAEEBR A EERIE
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OTHER MATTER
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2021 were audited by another auditor who

expressed a disclaimer of opinion on those statements on 30 June
2021.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. As described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to satisfy
ourselves about the comparability of the current year's figures and
the corresponding figures. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude
whether or not the other information is materially misstated with
respect to this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

78  Annual Report 4 #§ 2022

BREMBRAREMBRRARENEE

BPWER  REGAMBHRRERISR
B B 70 BRRE S BE RR T 2 w0 B K85 3R R BR
BaERE  YHABRHEMERNZEE
HBE - RERMEZENOTHKNER B
T (ERER) ®E - BRI 2N ARRE FIEE
BEH - RMATERARENART R EAE
MATBEREREFTMEL - AERERS
KFHRE - ETERBLEBRRREL
ZEERETHERZTFENRX —ERER
BRI - SARRFRAL AT A MEFEEERRSIE - B
WA EENREERRERAERBEESR
EUMBHRRERAERESRAMBRRMIEL
REERE » B BBMERBAATRRES
X o

ERBEEFEZEEAET %@mL&¢ 9
PERTEXHE  RETEXERNEE -
BAIIR

o HAMFEEANEY u?yf&ﬁ%ﬁi
BF 75 3R R 3 1 B2 K88 AR PR A9 /L R
ﬁ&%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ%%ﬂkmﬂk*
FERFZRMBEENEZRE  EAK
=R ER o m%%%7%&&%%
BE EEEBER ERBRM - HEE
RREsEH z £ o lﬂib%ﬁlﬁﬁ
MERMEAERRAMNER SR KL
BREERMEFNEARERB LN

o o
ZON

i%p

s THEFRZHEMBOAIIES - URFE

EMEREF  BEMNYFYE EKE
NEEHNELMEELRER -
s HEEEZFFRASHBRENREMELE

SEEFTMERERENSEN -



China Investment Development Limited » f B % & 1 2 B R A A)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZBEAHRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued))

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

BREETR AR S MR RRARENEE (2

s HEFRARBELLESHEROREN
&R - REMEDRNERRE @ ®
EeBFEREEABRAAEENERT
HEM  RMAREHYE S£EONF
BREWENELEERRRE - WRHEMR
REFEEATHEENL  ABELEERH
MBEFRBEATEIZEESUBREK
THMEBRE  BREFHENOEETRE
AERTHMNER - RAANERISER
REENHRE R IEAMIMGEHNEZRE © 7
- RREBHBEAATELEHR E5E
T EE ?i i= RS o

=

§

. FEGAMBREOEEIBIR &

BMAZT  BREERE  URESUBR
BHRAERBBBIZMER -

e i BERBERNERBIAXBEINUBKE
HEDRTRE BENEZERE @ UEYH
FAMBREREXRER - RfIAE &
SEEZNTR  BEEHEHT - BAR
ERBERAEEZHRNEE -

BREMERSN > RMEREERRT (¥
B FENECEENERLTHURERSE
ZBRRE - BRERAESEZEHA AR
CEEMERERK -

BMEMREEBRIER  HBPHEMEFA
EBRBUMNEEEEEEE ) - WHEMM
BERENRAEMERASYERMB LK
MFFABMEMEMSEE » UREEANBR

T BHEBRREMERBNTHREERO
I ©

Annual Report & § 2022 79



China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B % & [ 2 B R A 7]

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BYZBMBES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Leung Kwong Kin

Practising Certificate Number P03702

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
nERmakEtEZERSER

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-CHE B
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i TERT TET
Revenue W= 7 - -
Other income Hipdg A 7 10,100 1,043
Net loss on financial assets BATEFATERRE
at fair value through profit or loss MBEEZBEFH (15,268) (8,723)
Impairment losses under the expected BHEEBEEEX TRESE
credit loss model, net of reversal MG 8 24,422 -
Administrative and other expenses TR E At 5 32 (36,992) (7,770)
Finance costs B B AR 9 (2,272) =
Share of result of an associate DR ERE 2 ER = =
Loss before income tax expense BRAEHRAXAIER 11 (20,010) (15,450)
Income tax expense P MR % 10 5 =
Loss for the year attributable ARRHEEARGERFEEER
to owners of the Company (20,010) (15,450)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income ~ H2®E (%) /i
ltem that will not be reclassified TEERHBEERERCER
to profit or loss:
— Change in fair value of financial assets — ZAFEFATEMEE
at fair value through other WREEB s HBEEZ
comprehensive income NEEEE (5,069) 3,301
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently H#E& A EHHEEER 2
to profit or loss: BE
— Exchange differences on translation — MR BB QR RE
of financial statements of PRC EEZERER
subsidiaries (1,213) =
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  AFEHEM2E (FX) /M
for the year, net of tax MKkHIE (6,282) 3,301
Total comprehensive expense for the year ANFE2HEF X B3 (26,292) (12,149)
Loss per share BRER 13
— Basic (HK cent per share) — AR (BRBWL) (1.07) (1.38)
— Diluted (HK cent per share) — BB (BREM) (1.07) (1.38)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR R &

Asat31March202 R — B -4 =A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CH —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B EE FERT FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ERN L 15 - 13
Right-of-use assets ERERE o 17 - =
Other financial assets at amortised cost R A EZ EMMBEE 18 64,200 -
Interest in an associate B’\\ /NI 19 - -
Financial assets at fair value through other EZAFE AT EMEEKEEE
comprehensive income HBEE 20 4,297 9,416
68,497 9,429
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets at fair value through ZRTEFAERSR
profit or loss Eﬁf%éfi_% 21 34,038 28,717
Other receivables, deposits paid and HEWHIE e ke Rk
prepayments 8 R I8 22 39,355 146
Other financial assets at amortised cost r%ﬁﬁﬁjﬁﬁﬁiz,ﬁ\@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁé 18 41,249 =
Amount due from shareholder JiE U % 23 949 7,713
Cash and cash equivalents ﬁ%&ﬁ%#ﬁ% 24 51,574 8,504
167,165 45,080
Current liabilities hREEE
Other payables and accrued charges HiprHRERETER 25 8,082 5,178
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 2,037 =
10,119 5,178
Net current assets RBEERE 157,046 39,902
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDAE 225,543 49,331
Non-current liability kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 1,527 =
Net assets BERE 224,016 49,331
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of FARBEEAEGES
the Company
Share capital N 27 22,856 12,698
Reserves & 201,160 36,633
Total equity EmmE 224,016 49,331

On behalf of the directors

Han Zhenghai
BIER
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREBR

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

Investment Share
Share Share  Shareholder  revaluation option Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium  contribution reserve reserve reserve losses Total
kA RGEE  REIE REEMERE BRERE  EXRE  2HER R

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER THL T TEL AL AL T TR
(Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28)
(Waor)  (Wsee)  (Wios)  (W&2s)  (Bfskee)  (WfE2s)

At 31 March 2020 & 1 Aprl 2020 H-E-BEF=A=1-AR
ZECZEMA-A 10,582 372,760 10934 (83,592) - (322) (269,292) 41,070
Loss for the year TEEER - - - = = = (15,450) (15,450)
Other comprehensive income 2 ERG
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value BATEFAEEMEANEREL
through other comprehensive income HBEELATEES - - - 3301 - - - 3,301
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year ~ AFE2EKE / (%) &% - - - 3,301 = S (15,450) (12,149)

Transfer of loss on disposal of financial asset at fair value EEHERAFEF AL MZE
through other comprehensive income to retained WERBHBEENERE

eamings REABH - - - 72,761 S s (72,761) s
Placing of new shares (note 27)) REHR (M&E270) 2,116 18,294 & = = & = 20,410
At 31 March 2021 RZB--£=ZfA=1-H 12,698 391,054 10,934 (7,530) - (322) (357,503) 49,331
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERBEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &

E_E-__HF=-A=+—HIHFE

Investment Share
Share Share  Shareholder  revaluation option  Exchange Accumulated
capital premium  contribution reserve reserve reserve losses Total
Ra  RGEE  RFEIE REEMEE BRERE  EXRE  ZiER &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TER iR TiEx TiEx TER TER TiEx
(Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28)
(W2 (W&28) (H3228) (Wzz28)  (WiE2s)  (HizE2e)
At 31 March 2021 & 1 April 2021 W-B--§=F=1+-RR
ZE--EWA-A 12,698 391,054 10,934 (7,530) S (322) (357,503) 49,331
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - (20,010) (20,010)
Other comprehensive income E2ERE
Exchange difference on translation of financial BEhEHELT
statements of PRC subsidiaries HERRELZELEE - - - - - (1,213) s (1,213)
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value BATEFAEEBZAREREL
through other comprehensive income BREEZATELD - - - (5,069) - - s (5,069)
Total comprehensive expense for the year rEERERYAR - - - (5,069) - (1,213) (20,010) (26,292)
Transfer of loss on disposal of financial asset at fair BRLERATENAELLZE
value through other comprehensive income to WEREBZMBEENERE
retained earnings RABF - - - 506 - s (506) s
Rights issue (note 27{) BB (W322760) 6349 120609 . . - . - 126978
Rights issuance expenses (note 27(i) i ARF 32 (Hiskar i) - (3,051) - - - - = (3,051)
Placing of new shares (note 27iii) FE AR (W& 270ii)) 3,809 53,326 s s = s s 57,135
New shares placement expenses (note 27(ii) HREER % (HE276i) = (918) s s = s s (918)
Recognition of equity-settled share based payment RANEREE RO - - - - 12,812 - - 12,812
Lapse of vested share options BEBBRELN - - - - (1,246) - 1,246 s
Subscriptions received from share option holders REBREREAZDE - - - - 8,021 - - 8,021
At 31 March 2022 R-8--f=A=1-A 22,856 561,040 10,934 (12,093) 19,587 (1,535) (376,773) 224,016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REERERE

Fortheyearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-C-F —E-—fF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B THET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RELEXBAERE
Loss before income tax expense BRETER A AIEE (20,010) (15,450)
Adjustments for: FTHFRELAE
Depreciation of property, ME - BERZENE
plant and equipment 1 15 38
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEENE 1 707 -
Impairment loss on property, plant and WE  BERZEREER
equipment 314 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets ERREEREER 3,537 -
Share based payment B 2 5 12,812 =
Net realised loss on disposals of HERATEFALERE
fair value of financial assets BEMBEEATEZE
at fair value through profit or loss I8 16,125 4,253
Bank interest income RITHEUWA 7 ©) )
Interest income from other financial REHEK AT 22 E M
assets at amortised cost BEZHBIKA (4,999) -
Dividend income BB A 7 = (362)
Interest expense on lease liabilities MERBZASRX 9 97 -
Interest expense on bonds EHRZFERX 2,175 -
Change in fair value of financial assets BAFEFAEEREERE Y
at fair value through profit or loss BREEC A NFEE (857) 4,470
Reversal of impairment loss on interest e 5 ) 2 R B S 1B [
receivable 22 (2,400) =
Impairment loss on other financial REHEN AT 22 B %
assets at amortised cost BEERERE 3,670 -
Reversal of impairment loss on deposit EfEERESERR
paid 22 (25,692) -
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  BERBEZ
plant and equipment Wz - (348)
Operating loss before working HEESRPA 2 KEFR
capital changes (14,509) (7,403)
Purchase of financial assets BERATESFAERRRERE
at fair value through profit or loss LHBEE (130,343) (34,724)
Proceeds from disposals of financial HERATEFAERREE
assets as fair value through profit or L BEEZBNRIE
loss 109,490 22,467
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables,  H b EWRFIE - 124 RIEN
deposits and prepayments FRIE (EM) R (2,415) 648
Increase in other payables and Hih e RIBREER
accrued charges #m 810 329
Cash used in operations REMERS (36,967) (18,683)
Interest received BUFE 2,403 4
Net cash used in operating activities RELBEBLTFE (34,564) (18,679)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GREBREREBR

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—fF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B THET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities RERETH2RERE
Dividend received Bl E - 362
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HjE#%% BEREEZ
and equipment A58 - 430
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B E ¥ - BFE k& (316) -
Purchase of other financial asset at BEREENAGE M
amortised cost BiE (104,120) =
Deposits paid for acquisition of B ERENEN RS
investments (167,707) -
Deposits refunded for acquisition of BHERENBRERS
investments 156,605 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at i & & A FEFF AL E M2 KE
fair value through other comprehensive BREsUMBEEZ
income 8 sA 50 2,478
Net cash (used in)/generated from REZE (i) FERE3E
investing activities (115,488) 3,270
Cash flows from financing activities REWETH2RERE
Proceeds from shareholder contribution WEFE 2 5508 21(c) 7,028 1,200
Subscription received from share option REBREREANRE
holders 8,021 =
Proceeds from bonds BHMEHRIE 63,225 =
Repayment of principal portion of bonds  EEEH 2 A& H 5 (61,225) -
Net proceeds from issuance of shares &R EBITRDZ
upon placement of shares P8 RIB %5 56,217
Net proceeds from rights issue of shares % 7 AT 15 ZIE 5 58 123,927 20,410
Repayment of principal portion of BEEEERLARED
lease liabilities (680) =
Interest paid on bonds BHEZENFE (2,081) =
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEBGBZENAAE 97) =
Net cash generated from financing MEETHRERE TR
activities 194,335 21,610
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents B¢ RESSEYEMFE 44,283 6,201
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ER# & 2 & (1,213) -
Cash and cash equivalents FYPRERASEEY
at beginning of year 8,504 2,303
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ERBERBEEEY 51,574 8,504
Analysis of the balance of cash and cash BHE&RBESEMEHR T
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBE2EEYD 51,574 8,504
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Investment Development Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 25 March 1998 and was de-registered
on 11 March 2011 and was registered by way of continuation
as an exempted company in Bermuda on 2 March 2011. The
Company'’s shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect
from 12 December 2000. Its registered office is located at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
and its principal office in Hong Kong is located at Suites
6303-04, 63/F, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding
for medium to long-term capital appreciation purposes, and
investment in listed and unlisted securities. The principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
Amendments to HKFRSs that are initially applied in
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

° Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2

. Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

o Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

—RER

FREEERZEER AR (IARA) B
R—hAWNAMNF=ZA_+HHEREHS
HMAKL s EREBRAR - HERZ
T——F=A+—HEHEIEM  BER=
TE-—FZA-HUBRZFAREER
EdRMAERERR - ARaRHAZ
ZEZEFE+_A+T_HRBRETBEBAR
SHERRAR ([BRA)) £ HiF
fift 9% = B i ) Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda @ £ &
BRENMEEMREBET B EEISHF
IR B 15 63126303-04F ©

ARBZEBEBNHARENESF
HERBAEREE  URKRERETR
FLEMES - ARFBETHBARZE
EXBHNGEM B RERME16 -

RABBUBREER ([FEUH

HEER])

RAFEASEACERMBREER

ZAEET

RAFEE  AKEEERAUATRAEE
S HREAERERNBTEN B REE

Al Z &7 -

e EBEWBHREERFNE  BEE
FHERIZE395E ~ BEAMBHHREER
7% - BEMBREERFIAR R
BV BRE L F6HR ZERTH/
FHENE — FIHER

s FEMBREEREISR ZEFTH
BREHEHETEE

e FBAMBMESENFRIGR 2BTR

CEC—FERNA=ZT AR ERE
HHEHTER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

2.

88

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are initially applied in
the current year (continued)

The initial application of the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material effect on the amounts
reported in these consolidated financial statements and/or
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective for the current accounting period. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these
new and amendments to HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and amendments to HKFRSs
would have a material impact on its results of operations and
financial position:

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts and the
Related Amendments

1 January 2023

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to
the Conceptual Framework

1 January 2022

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28, Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture

To be
determined

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current
and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

1 January 2023

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

1 January 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B IS AR MY RE

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of
Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant
and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous
Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs, Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

Effective for
accounting

periods beginning

on or after

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

The directors of the Group anticipate that the application of

all new and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations will have no

material impact on the consolidated financial statements of

the Group in the future.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

3.

90

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“"HKASs"”) and
Interpretations and the disclosure requirements of
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange ("Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except
for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), which are
measured at fair values as explained in the accounting
policies set out in note 4 below.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"). Each entity in the Group
maintains its books and record in its own functional
currency. The functional currency of the Company is
HK$.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”). Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case
the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the dates of acquisition or up to the
dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line
with those used by other members of the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations using
the acquisition method when the acquired set of
activities and assets meets the definition of a business
and control is transferred to the Group. In determining
whether a particular set of activities and assets is a
business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets
and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input
and substantive processes and whether the acquired set
has the ability to produce outputs.

4.

EXRETHBEBE

(a)

EReHRGEEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

4.

92

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued))

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the
Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured
at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains
or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group
may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to
measure the non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within the
measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition
date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued))

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity,
separately from equity attributable to owners of the
Company. Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.
Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amount of the Group's interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the relevant assets
or liabilities were disposed of.
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4.

94

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these
elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Associates

The associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor a joint venture. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but not control or joint control
over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for the
Group's share of the post-acquisition change in the
associates’ net assets except that losses in excess of
the Group's interest in the associate are not recognised
unless there is an obligation to make good those losses.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Associates (continued)

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor's share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against
the carrying value of the associate.

Any premium paid for the associate above the fair value
of the Group's share of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate and the
entire carrying amount of the investment is subject to
impairment test, by comparing the carrying amount with
its recoverable amount, which is higher of value in use
and fair value less costs to sell.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates are carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any. The results of associates
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable during the year.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease term or 4 years

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Motor vehicle 5 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset'’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets (including property, plant and
equipment) are recognised as deferred income in the
statement of financial position and transferred to profit
or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable and are recognised as other revenue, rather
than reducing the related expense.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Lease

The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term of less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost, which
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy
to account for lease liability); (ii) any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, less any
lease incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to
be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories. The Group measures
the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the
cost model, the Group measures the right-of-use assets
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liability. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Lease (continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that is not paid
at the commencement date of the lease are considered
to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable; (i) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement date; (iii)
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a
purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in the
lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the
underlying asset.
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100

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component)
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an
item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A
trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction
price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.

Annual Report £ ¥ 2022

4.

EXRSTHBERE )

(9)

BM#EITA

(i)

MBEE

Wk R FEFAER SRR
ZHBEE (TEBEABEK
DEREKE ZRAEEIN) 95
BAFEMEEAE WS ITT
ERHEBNXZRAGE -
TEEABEXND ZBWE S
RRFRXZEFE -

FRERERTABEZHBTE
ERXHH (AAREEALRE
BEHEEEER) R - 8
REBRRAERN —RETHR
Al BHELNHBARNE
EZHMBEEES -

EREBRAATETIANBE
EZRERNERETERINAE
ERMNEE SERBEEA

MYBKEE -

EHTA
BEETIEZBEFEIARA
EEEEZEEAEMERER
MZEEENRESRENH -
AEBBEEBIAS A= E
2875

REHEAA - HRFA AU
ERHEERENEE WA
WEEREERRATENE
TR B EEREHKAN
AAE REBHEAKATENY
BEEERRKBERNRIAG
B FBRA - BEXKRER
BRALRBENREBEDZER -
AR | T AR AE (] W s 0 18 2

X7
e



China Investment Development Limited » f B % & 1 2 B R A A)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVTOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVTOCI. Debt investments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest rate
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other
net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in
OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured at
fair value. Financial assets are classified as held
for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging

instruments.
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4.

102

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified
and measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the
business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for
debt instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at FVTOCI, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at FVTPL on initial
recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Company could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in the investment'’s fair value in OCI. This election
is made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Equity investments at FVTOCI are measured at fair
value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or
loss unless the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in
OCI and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All
other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss ("ECL") on other receivables
and other financial assets measured at amortised
cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are
the ECLs that result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and
(2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Company is
exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted
at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.

Loss allowances for other receivables and other
financial assets measured at amortised cost are
measured using HKFRS 9 general approach and
the ECLs are based on the 12-months ECLs.
However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.
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4.

104

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group's historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including forward-
looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held): or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
initially measured at fair value and financial
liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured
at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
other payables and accrued charges is
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period.
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4.

106

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued
are the consideration paid and are recognised
initially and measured at their fair value on
the date the financial liability or part thereof
is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured,
the equity instruments are measured to reflect the
fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss for the year.

Revenue recognition
Interest income is accrued on a timely basis on the

principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner
in which the carrying amount of the asset or liability
is realised or settled and that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in measuring
deferred tax amount is when an investment property
is carried at fair value under HKAS 40 “Investment
Property”. Unless the presumption is rebutted, the
deferred tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would apply on
sale of these investment properties at their carrying
amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sale.
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4.

108

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income ("OCI”) in which case the taxes
are also recognised in OCI.

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services that are vested at
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss with
a corresponding increase in the share option reserve
within equity.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

o Property, plant and equipment;
° Right-of-use assets; and
. Investment in subsidiaries and the associate

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which will probably result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.
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4.

110

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(m) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

Defined contribution retirement plans
Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss when the services are rendered by the
employees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the
earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances

and short-term deposits and highly liquid investments

with maturities of three months or less from the date

of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of

changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in

the management of its short-term commitments. For the

purpose of the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts

that are repayable on demand and that form an integral

part of the Group’s cash management are included in

cash and cash equivalents.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), which is the Company 's functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains
and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the entity
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair value in foreign currencies are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates when the
fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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4.

112

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation
currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(p) Related parties

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s

family is related to the Group if that person:

i)

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply:

0]

(i)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is the associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or the associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is the associate of the
third entity.
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4.

114

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)

(p)

(b)

(continued))

(v)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected to

influence, or be influenced by, that person in their

dealings with the entity and include:

i)

(i)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

children of that person'’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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5.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

Estimation of impairment loss recognised in respect
of other receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost

The Group individually assesses the ECL for other receivables
and other financial assets at amortised cost. The impairment
allowances are based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected credit loss rates. The Group makes its
estimates based on the ageing of its loan balances, debtors’
creditworthiness, historical write-off experience and existing
market condition including forward-looking estimates as at
the reporting date. If the financial condition of its debtors was
to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss might be
higher than expected, the Group would be required to revise
the basis of making the allowance and its future results would
be affected. The information about the ECL and the Group's
other receivables and other financial assets at amortised
cost are disclosed in notes 22, 18 and 36 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI| and FVTPL

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's unlisted investments in
convertible bonds classified as financial assets at FVTPL
and unlisted equity securities classified as financial assets
at FVTOCI, amounting to approximately HK$16,280,000
and HK$4,297,0000 respectively, are measured at fair value
which cannot be derived from active markets. In the absence
of an active market, the directors use their judgement in
selecting an appropriate valuation technique for those
financial instruments not quoted in an active market. This
value technique includes some assumptions not supported by
observable market prices and rates. Changes in assumptions
about these factors could affect the reported fair value of
financial instruments. Further disclosures are set out in notes
20, 21(b) and 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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6.

116

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An operating segment is a component of the Group that is
engaged in business activities from which the Group may
earn revenue and incur expenses, and is identified on the
basis of the internal management reporting information that
is provided to and regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief
operating decision maker in order to allocate resources and
assess performance of the segment. For the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021, the information reported to the
executive directors, who are the chief operating decision
makers for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of performance, do not contain profit or loss information of
each business line or geographical area and the executive
directors reviewed the financial results of the Group as a
whole reported under HKFRSs. Therefore, the executive
directors have determined that the Group has only one single
business component/operating and reportable segment
as the Group is only engaged in investment holding. The
executive directors allocate resources and assess performance
on an aggregated basis. Accordingly, no operating segment
information is presented.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's
revenue and non-current assets including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and interest in the associate
(i.e. "specified non-current assets”) by geographical locations,
determined based on physical location of the assets or
location of operations in case of interest in the associate, as
follows:

REDERAKEMN = B A R E
ERXZEB RS 2EXRED - THRE
AEBEFTBELEERREERHLERSE
BILNES RS BEREFHRE AR
BEEEZWEHBN - BE_FT_—_FLK
“E-—F-ZA=t+—HLEFE AN
TEFARERIERRBAFEMS
RIBEBEBRRE) REZENTERE
EXRBRINSME 2BMKERER
MATESCEHNAKEREEZAYB
BEEZ2RERYBKES - Bt -
HITEFEBEEASEES HE—X
BEKED EERAREDR - RA
RAKEEREREER - ITESER
BRTEEDRERLFERR - Bt -
BEZIKEDEEN -

TERREAREEERUEXREBLZEM
i (MMBRBERR 2R MET
BUBE D 2 AKERERIFRDEE
(BHEYE  BELERE EREEE
UERBE AR zEzDS (A [FEFRDY
BE|)) zofw™ :

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
RENAREE 2 W& BEXRBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-o—-fF —E-_—49 ZE-Z —E—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER FET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (2EHE) - S = 13

Annual Report £ ¥ 2022



China Investment Development Limited » f B % & 1 2 B R A A)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

7.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

7. WERHMUWA

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue = B B
Other income: H A A
Bank interest income ;RITF B A 3 4
Dividend income f% B.Ug A - 362
Government subsidy XA 78 B - 270
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  BERZEZ
plant and equipment Wz = 348
Interest income from other financial assets 1% # 5 5k AN 51 = 2 H fth B 7%
at amortised cost BENFBIA 4,999 =
Broker commission KRABE = 55
Exchange gain B 5 U &5 4,696 =
Others ik 402 4
10,100 1,043
Total revenue and other income W= K E b W A 4B RE 10,100 1,043

No other source of income contributed to the Group's

revenue for both 2022 and 2021.

RZE-_—Fh_T-—F TEHEAM

e X B 2 7 g 2 SR 2 o

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER THE ECL MODEL, 8. FEHIEEEEEXTHESIE - fl

NET OF REVERSAL BRIEME
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Impairment loss, (net of reversal) on: LTEEBZREEE
(OBR#EEME)
Interest receivable & UL F) B (2,400) -
Other financial assets at amortised cost HEEK AT EZHEMYH
BE 3,670 -
Deposits paid Eftiks (25,692) =
(24,422) -
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9.

10.

118

FINANCE COSTS

Ft % AN

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT THET

Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEAGENMERAX 97 =
Interest expenses on bonds BEHFHNNERX 2,175 =
2,272 -

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the Inland Revenue (Amendment) Bill 2017,
profits tax rate for the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits of corporations is lowered to 8.25% with the excess
assessable profits continue to be taxed at 16.5%. Overseas
tax is calculated at the rates applicable in the respective
jurisdictions. No provision for income tax expense is required
since the Group has no assessable profits either arising from
Hong Kong or other jurisdictions during the year (2021: Nil).

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before income tax expense per consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

10. FRIEBIMAX

BRE_F—LFEHB (BF]) GUESR -
CEERBUEN B2A BB TR NEHRR
K HIEE825% » BBHMERDEN
Al 4 1B 1216.5% B R THIR B IMR
BRAEMAZERERARENE - AN
AEENAFEYEREEZBLEMA
EEBZERBGEN - WBAFELHAE
MAXEE (ZFT=_—F: 8) -

AEERERETRAABERRBR
K 35 % P14 B 19 5 6 2 A 1B 2 B R
mT

2022 2021

—=2=-= —ET—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

Loss before income tax expense BRETIS R X AT E 18 (20,010) (15,450)
Tax calculated at the applicable statutory 1REAEEH Rt E 2 B 1A

tax rates (3,302) (2,384)

Tax effect of income not taxable BERBTRA B G ZE 825 677
Tax effect of temporary differences AERER =B 2HEEE

not recognised - 6

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBTEEB G E 2,477 1,701

Income tax expense

P15 B B X

At the end of reporting period, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately HK$225,520,000 (2021: approximately
HK$210,508,000) available for offset against future profits
that may be carried forward indefinitely. The tax losses are
subject to the final assessment of Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the unused tax losses due to unpredictability of
future profit streams.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. Fr8BiBE< (4
No deferred tax asset or liability has been recorded on other HREMEREZEBELBHBEE2HASE
temporary differences of approximately HK$4,173,000 (2021: MEWLTEKR - WA ERY B HRE AT
approximately HK$4,173,000) in the financial statements as RE ERE 44,173,000 (ZE - —F
the tax effect of the temporary difference is immaterial to the #4,173,000% 7T) BRBELEHIEEENE
Group. f& o
11. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. BRFT GBI AIE R
Loss before income tax expense is stated after charging the BRETEHAIAEBENER T SIEE
following: AR -
2022 2021
—=E-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Staff costs B IR
Salaries ;e 4,139 1,770
Provident fund contributions 58 18 & K 108 69
Share based payment expenses & 19 2 7 7 2 2,762 -
Total staff costs excluding directors’ BIXAHBEE
remunerations (T"BEEEEM2) 7,009 1,839
Auditor’s remuneration % E A B & 420 480
Depreciation e
Property, plant and equipment M - BELRB 15 38
Right-of-use assets EREEE 707 =
Directors’ remuneration (note 14) EEME (M5E14)
— fees — e 1,685 952
— Share based payment expenses — O EZAAEX 8,364 -
Investment manager's fee REKEEHR 160 -
Short-term leases EEE 5,473 949
Share based payment expenses excluding WM X HX (FBEF A
those included in staff costs and directors’ B T ANEZ=MEEH)
remunerations 1,686 -
Impairment of property, mME  BERZERE"
plant and equipment” 314 -
Impairment of right-of-use assets” EREEEME" 3,537 -
L These items are included in “administrative and other expenses” * ZEBAFAGEER A2 EKE K

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

BT REMER] -
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12.

13.

120

DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
The directors do not recommend the payment of any EFETEBEMBE_ZT__F=H
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil). =S+ -—BLEFERNEMKRE (ZF
——F &) o
LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share ARNAEREREAAEGERELRNR
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is BEERIRATEIEE
based on the following data:
2022 2021
—g=-= T —%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
(Restated)
(re&E5)
Loss BB
Loss for the year attributable to owners of FARFTEERERREEE
the Company for the purposes of basic B2ARAIHEBAEER
and diluted loss per share FEEE (20,010) (15,450)

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purposes of basic and
diluted loss per share

K6 ®AE
ARG ESRERNREEE
18 2 & i s hn 19 8
1,863,786,115  1,121,101,272

Note: B &

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the years ended REREARBEEENS  BE_T_—
31 March 2022 and 2021 for the purposes of basic and diluted loss per RZZEZ—F=A=+—HIEFENLTBRM
share have been retrospectively adjusted for the bonus element of the BTPHEER _E_—F+t A +THTHOE
rights issue of shares during the year ended 31 March 2022 which was ECER-__F-A=+-BRIEFEHRLMNE

completed on 20 July 2021, as detailed in note 27.

DETEPHE - FRMF27 -

The computation of diluted loss per share for both years did HERBEFENSREEEBEBITARARE
not assume the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share TEARGHARITEOERE - AR
options since it would result in a decrease in loss per share. ERERGREERD - At - MEF
Therefore, the diluted loss per share is the same as the basic EelRBEEEEGRENEEHER -

loss per share for both years.
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed
pursuant to Section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, (Cap. 622) and the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Cap. 622@) are as follows:

14. EERLEBREHFATZHE

(a)

EEMS

BEFBARIEN (F6228) 5383
EERAT (WEEEFNFER) R
Bl (F622GE) TUBBRZ RNEE
EE=Hew T

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Fees Ziahc A

Executive directors BITES 360 360
Non-executive directors IEMITEE 836 295
Independent non-executive directors B FEHITE S 489 297
1,685 952
Basic salaries and other benefits EARFH e & EAMEF = S

Contributions to retirement R R TR B &8I 3K
benefit scheme - =
Share based payment & 13 & 14 8,364 =
10,049 952

No directors had waived any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid to the directors as inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year (2021: Nil).

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company or its subsidiaries. The independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

REAFEE  BEZESREMTLHMHM
& NMERMESINTAME
EASBEMAREB SR IMAR
SERZEE - SERBBIME (=
T —F &) o

EXHTRMITEEMNE DT BEEK
FERARBARANEEER Z KRB
BB - EXPIRFEATEFTHMETD
ERREEFEARALENBER
AESEZMBER - EXAREL
FRTEEME DI ERREEML
ARBEEZREHER -
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERABERBHFALIZME @)
INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EE=M< (£
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 17 (2021: ERNHEMTE (ZEZ—F:10
10) directors are as follows: H)ESZHEWT
2022 —F-F
Employer's
contribution Share
Salaries and  to pension based
Fees other benefit scheme payment Total
HER BHEGE
we  EMER  BIHE ROXA @

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER

Executive director: HTES !

Chan Cheong Yee REE 360 - - - 360
Non-executive directors: FHTES .

Deng Dongping HERT 120 - - 1,161 1,281
Gao Yun (note (i) BE (MM 78 = = 674 752
Han Zhenghai RIS 120 - - 1,252 1,372
Li Jiangtao (note (ii) ZER (W) 94 - - 1,268 1,362
Liu Lihan (note (iii) 21502 (P Gi) 120 = = 1,161 1,281
Yan Peng (note (iv)) EF AGEID) 90 - s 855 945
Yang Xiao Qiu (note (v)) mER (W) 104 - - 855 959
Zeng Xiaohui (note (vi)) B (M) 32 = = = 32
Zhu Zhikun (note (vii)) FRE (0 & i) 78 = = 674 752
Independent non-executive directors: BUIKHTES:

Kan Yat Kit (note (viii)) BE G (0 5 (viii)) 86 = = 116 202
Lai Yuen Piu (note (ix)) BEF (Wi(x) 55 = = 85 140
Leung Mei Hing Carrie (note (x)) REE (M) 25 - - - 25
Lok Chiu Chan (note (xi)) SERE (Fx) 86 - - 116 202
Mo Li (note (xii) B (B2 (xii)) 95 = = 85 180
Shi Zhu (note (xiii)) RAE (F 3 (i) 78 = = 31 109
Yuan Wei (note (xiv)) 78 (M (xiv) 64 = = 3 95
Total @t 1,685 = = 8,364 10,049
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

14. EERAEREHFALTZME ©)

Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEME (&)
2021 —E-—F
Employer's
contribution
Salariesand  to pension
Fees other benefit scheme Total
Fek  RIKEEE
e HinigH EEET B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TET THT THT
Executive director: HITES
Chan Cheong Yee BRE% 360 = - 360
Non-executive directors: FUTES .
Deng Dongping (note (xv)) HEE (F ) 46 = = 46
Han Zhenghai (note (xvi) SEIEE (P E (i) 24 S = 24
Tom Xie (note (xvii)) A (P E (xvil) 60 - - 60
Yan Peng (note (iv)) B (M) 46 - - 46
Yang Xiao Qiu BER 120 - - 120
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES .
Lai Yuen Piu R 120 S = 120
Leung Mei Hing Carrie REH 120 - - 120
Li Li (note (xiii) 0 (M) 50 = = 50
Liu Lihan (note (iii) 2% (Bt Gi)) 6 S = 6
Total &t 952 = = 952

The number of directors whose remuneration fell within

the following band is as follows:

MENFUATHEEZEZABRWT -

2022 2021

—EC-CF —E-—F

Nil — HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000/ 7T 13 10
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 Tt &

1,500,000 7T 4 -
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

124

(a)

Notes:

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(xviii)

Mr. Gao Yun has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 6 August 2021.

Ms. Li Jiangtao has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 17 June 2021 and resigned on 6
April 2022.

Mr. Liu Lihan has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 11 March 2021 and has been re-
designated as a non-executive director of the board on 12
July 2021.

Mr. Yan Peng has appointed as a non-executive director
of the board on 13 November 2020 and resigned on 30
December 2021.

Ms. Yang Xiao Qiu resigned as a non-executive director of
the board on 13 February 2022.

Mr. Zeng Xiaohui has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 20 September 2021 and resigned
on 20 December 2021.

Mr. Zhu Zhikun has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 6 August 2021.

Mr. Kan Yat Kit has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the board on 12 July 2021 and resigned
on é April 2022.

Mr. Lai Yuen Piu retired as an independent non-executive
director of the board on 16 September 2021.

Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the board on 17 June 2021.

Mr. Lok Chiu Chan has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the board on 12 July 2021.

Ms. Mo Li has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the board on 17 June 2021.

Mr. Shi Zhu has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the board on 6 August 2021.

Mr. Yuan Wei has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the board on 20 September 2021.

Mr. Deng Dongping has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 13 November 2020 and has been
re-designated as a non-executive director of the board on
12 July 2021.

Mr. Han Zhenghai has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 20 January 2021.

Mr. Tom Xie retired as a non-executive director of the board
on 29 September 2020.

Ms. Li Li resigned as an independent non-executive director
of the board on 1 September 2020.
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14. EERAEREHFALTZME ©)

(a)

E=ME ()

CEE

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi

(xvii)

(xviii)

RERER_TEZ_—FNASAE
ZEREFEHENITESR -

TEELINR_T-_—EFE~A++
AEZAARESEHNTES - I
RZZE-_—FMANBEFE -

BT BEEAERN_TE-_—F=ZfF+—
AEZAABIFNTES - TR
—E-—FtAt+-—BHATAEES
CHEHITES -

BEAER_Z_TF+—-AF+=
AREZERESSINTES X
R-ZB-_—F+-A=1HEIE -

BERKLEIR T _F-A+=
FBHITESSFNTES -

BEER_T_—FALAZ-+
ZEREZEHNTES X
B —F+ A THRBME -

KABEENR _ZT-_—F\ANA
BZAAESSHERITES -

MRt Een—_E-—F+A+=
AEZTREZSBEIFATES
WARZZTZZFMANBEE -

%Lﬂ%i —E_-FARATR
EEé%Aﬁj#ﬁﬁ§$°

2EBLEIR=_ZT=_—F~A+t
ABRTEESEBIUFNTES -

REEEER _T-_—F+tA+=
#éﬁ%%iAﬁi#ﬁﬁ§$

BHztEtR=_FE-_—FXA++tH
%i&%%?Aﬁiﬁﬁﬁ§$

AREER-_ZT-_—FNASBE
é&%é%Aﬁj#ﬁﬁ§$°

REEEN-_ZE-_—FNAA=-T+H
BZAREZTSHEIUFRITES -

HEFTARER_ZT=_FTF+—A
+,Eﬁéﬁﬁﬁi#ﬁﬁ§$

WYHRZFEZ—FtA+ZHHATA
EFQHFPTES o

BESEER_ZT-_—&—F=+

ARZTAEECHERITES -

HEHEEER_ZZZFTF A

“THhBEFTEESHHNITES -
S

FHRETR-_Z_ZTFAA—HR
TESGBEIINTES -



China Investment Development Limited » f B % & 1 2 B R A A)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE!

FF %% ¥ 3% B &E

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments
The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
(which include 4 directors (2021: 1)) were as follows:

14. EERAEREHFALTZME ©)

(b) EEREEHFALZHE
hERmFAL (EheEss (=
FE-—F1R)EF)Z2Hem

T

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
Basic salaries and other benefits EXEHFEEREMBEF 1,502 1,984

Contributions to retirement RARAR A ET S H3K
benefit scheme 12 56
Share based payment A& A 32 A 4,842 -
6,356 2,040

The number of the five highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as

HENFUATHEZREZRESFALH
Banh -

follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = £ 1,000,0007% JT - 5
HK$1,000,001 to 1,000,001 7t &
HK$1,500,000 1,500,000 JT 5 =

There was no arrangement under which any of the
five (2021: five) highest paid employees had waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the directors or the highest paid
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

RAFE  HBiERAR (ZT=—
F AR RSFEEEPEMA
ITREXRERECAMESFT LA
gk e

RAFE  AEBYEREAES
IEReFEEXNEMAME - FR
EREMAREERRNMALREE
2 52E) - SFRBERME -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% - BERRE

Leasehold Furniture, Computer
improvements  equipment  Motor vehicle  equipment Total
BENXEE  BARRE "E S st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR TR TET TR
At 1 April 2020 R-2-2%HWA-H
Cost XA - 76 618 106 800
Accumulated depreciation 2iHINE - (66) (518) (83) (667)
Net carrying amount FEFE = 10 100 23 133
Year ended 31 March 2021 HE-2--F
ZR=t-RLEE
Opening net carrying amount HOREFE - 10 100 23 133
Disposal & = = (82 S (82)
Depreciation & . (6) (18) (14) (38)
Closing net carrying amount BREHTE = 4 = 9 13
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R=ZB=-f£ZF=+-H
R=B=-£NA-A
Cost A - 76 - 106 182
Accumulated depreciation 2t & - (72) S (97) (169)
Net carrying amount FREFE - 4 - 9 13
Year ended 31 March 2022 BHE-E-C
ZR=t-RLEE
Opening net carrying amount HOREFE - 4 - 9 13
Addition NE 216 65 - 35 316
Depreciation e = (4) = (1 (15)
Impairment HE (216) (65) - (33) (314)
Closing net carrying amount HRREFE - - - - -
At 31 March 2022 R-B--%#=fA=+-H
Cost A 216 141 - 141 498
Accumulated depreciation 2t & - (76) S (108) (184)
Accumulated impairment ZEtRE (216) (65) = (33) (314)
Net carrying amount REFME - - - - -

Note: Impairment of assessment was disclosed in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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16.

16. RBARZIRE
RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—B k=T =—
FZA=1T—"HARARETEHNE R A F
BT

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2022 and 31 March 2021 are as follows:

Attributable equity interests held

by the Company
RLAFMEEERE
2022 2021
Place of incorporation/  Issued and fully “BCCF ZEC-F

Name operation paid share capital ~ Direct Indirect  Direct Indirect ~Principal activities
i1 EMRL/EEEE CRORBZRE B [k Bk fE TEXE
China Equity Assets Holdings Limited  Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
PEREEEREERAT &b 1B REZR
Master Smooth Investment Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding

Development Limited
ERRBERARDA R 1B RABK
Eternal Fame Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
KEEEXBERAT &b 10,0007 ¢ REZR
Able Surplus Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
ERAXARDA &R 10,0007 REZRK
Smart Access Capital Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$100  100% - 100% - Investment holding
Smart Access Capital Limited RBAREE/BH 100%7T RABK
Urban Thrive Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Urban Thrive Limited EBEREE/BE 50,000% T RARK
Moonglory International Properties  BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000  100% - 100% - Investment holding

Limited
Moonglory International Properties ~ EB# RES /58 50,000% 7T REAR

Limited
Giant Treasure Global Limited BVI/Hong Kong Us$1 100% - 100% - Dormant
Giant Treasure Global Limited EBEREE/BE (E3 ERER
Ray Wealth Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% - 100%  Dormant
ERARAA &R 1T TEXH
Global Oasis Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100% - Dormant
BEZRBRAT &b 12T TEXH
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Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE
16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16. RBRATIZRE (&)

Attributable equity interests held

by the Company
RAFMEEERE
2022 2021
Place of incorporation/  lIssued and fully b St S it St

Name operation paid share capital ~ Direct Indirect ~ Direct Indirect  Principal activities
1 AEY/EEHE BROIRAZRE E& [k Bk fE TEXK
Fu Hao Investment Consulting The Republic of China Nif2 - 100% - 100%  Dormant

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.! ("PRC")
BERARA (RI) BRRA PEARANE £ 2 LEXH

(rE])

China Zhongzi Zhiyuan Technology ~ BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding

Co., Ltd.
PEBERENRBERAT REBARRE/ER 1% RERR
China Tianzhi Market Management ~ BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding

Co., Ltd.
TEXETREEERERAR  EBARER/ER (E3 REZRK
China Dingrun Supply Chain Co., Ltd. ~ BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
PERBMEEERAA EBRRER/FH (Ee REZR
Beijing China Zhiyuan Technology Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - 100%  Dormant

Co., Ltd.
EIRPEHEMRERAA &b 10087 TEXH
Guangzhou Dingrun Supply Chain Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - 100%  Dormant

Co., Ltd.
BNTSERERERAA B 10078 7T TEXH
China Investment Limited Anguilla US$1 100% - - - Dormant
PREREERAA REN 1% LEXH
China Investment Assets Co., Limited  Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - - Dormant
PEREBEARLA B 100787 TEXH
China Investment Finance Co., Ltd.  Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - - Dormant
PERAEAFRAA &b 10087 LEXH
Guangzhou Tianzhi Market Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - - Dormant

Management Co., Ltd.
ENXBTLREEERERRT  FA 100787 TEXH
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

16. RMBREIZKRE (4#)

Attributable equity interests held

by the Company
RRAFEEERE
2022 2021
Place of incorporation/  lIssued and fully b et S it Sl

Name operation paid share capital ~ Direct Indirect ~ Direct Indirect ~ Principal activities

8 EMRL/EEHE CRORBEZRE ER E:3 E% Bk TEEH

China Emergency Rescue Investment ~ BVI US$1 100% - - - Dormant

Group Co., Ltd.

PEEZHEREERBERLT  RBARES (E9e TEXH

Dingrunze Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - - Dormant

SEEERAA 3 1008 7T EEER

China Zhongzhixie Emergency Rescue  BVI US$1 100% - - - Dormant

Development Co., Ltd.

PERERERMEERARLAT REBARESR Ee TEXH

Hong Gaocheng Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - - Dormant

ERHERAA BE 1007 TEXH

Jiang Su Hao Lie Guang Dian Ke Ji  PRC Nif - 100% = - Dormant

Co., Ltd.!

IHEALEMRAERRAD E £ TEXH

Notes: M T -

1. Registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law. 1. RIEBEFPEEREIMRINEBELE -

2. The authorised share capital of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2022 2. ZMBARKR-ZZE-__F=A=+—H
was RMB200,000,000 (2021: 10,000,000). There was no paid share # % E R A A& A R #200,000,0007T (= &
capital as at 31 March 2022 (2021: nil). ——4 :10,000000) - R_E_-_—F=A

SET+-BAEEHREK - (ZT=Z—F:
")
3. The authorised share capital of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2022 3. ZHBARR-ZZE-__F=A=+—HHN

was USD50,000,000. There was no paid share capital as at 31 March

2022.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of

the year or at any time during the year.

YA E B AN A50,000000€ 7 c R T = =
FZA=Z+—"HIEBHBRAK -

ZE M B A R R F R SCF AT A B B AR AT
REREBHE S
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

17. EREESE

Leased

property

HEME

Carrying amounts as at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FWOA—-BNERAE -
Addition wNE 4,244
Depreciation e (707)
Impairment A (3,537)
As at 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_F=A=+—H =
Expenses related to short-term leases ERECHEENREX 5,473
Total cash outflow for leases HENEES R @ 6,250

The Group leases office for its operations. Lease agreements
are typically made for fixed period of 2 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment testing of right-of-use assets

The impairment charges related to right-of-use assets
amounting to HK$3,537,000 have been recorded in
administrative and other expenses. The Group has one cash-
generating unit. The impairment loss attributable to the cash-
generating unit was then allocated to write down the right-
of-use assets and property, plant and equipment to their
recoverable amount of nil.

Recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been
determined by value-in-use calculation based on the
present value of expected future cash flows. Management
determined the compound annual growth rate of revenue in
the remaining lease period based on past performance and
its budget of market development. The discount rate used
reflected specific risks relating to this cash-generating unit.

Key assumptions adopted in value-in-use calculation were as
follows:

FEREEE ©)
FEREEERENR
HEFREEES BN RE R 3,537,000
BEILERATHEEMAS - A5£EH
—EReELEMN -  WEeELEEMEN
BEBEEEESMRUNBRERESEE
k¥ - BEREEEATKRESEAT -

17.

AeELENUNA RO BEUNER AN
AXRERERENEREEFEEE °
EEERBAEREALRTLEREEE
ENBGEERNEaESFERER -
EAMNERERREZREELEMNA
B E R e

ERAEEFEMRANIZ/RKRAT

31 March 2022

—F=-=
=A=+—H
Growth rate within 2-year period in the financial EREHENMBAE2FHNR 3%
budgets approved by the management R E
Discount rate LT 12.5%

18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED

COST

For the year ended 31 March 2022

At 31 March 2022, the other financial assets at amortised cost
comprised of promissory notes held by the Group, amounted
to approximately HK$105,449,000 are unsecured, interest
bearing, non-transferrable, non trading related in nature and
issued by private entities.

18. RBERATTEZHMUBEE

BE-—E-_—_F=A=+—HItEE
RZE-—F=A=+—8 - RB#HK
A BEZHMEBEEEREALSERES
A 5 B24E - #9105,449,000/% JT A& 2 1K
BB Ao EE . FEZEBRMN
Iz AT o

==l

B =
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Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 18. MEBEMATERZEMUMBEE &)
COST (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 (continued) BE-SE-_“F=ZA=+—HLLFE (&)
2022 2021
—EB-F —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At amortised cost RE KR 109,119 =
Less: ECL allowance W TEHEEEBEERG (3,670) =
105,449 -
Ageing analysis SRR 20 AT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of BHERSHR  AELEER (IBREESB
promissory notes, net of allowance for credit losses based, on BEE BSEZEEIHBAMNERE T
the maturity date is as follows: K
2022
—E-_F
HK$'000
FHET
Within 1 year 1R 41,249
1 to 2 years 18224 64,200
105,449
Particulars of promissory notes classified as at other financial BELETHNFNERENAEERN =
assets at amortised cost held by the Group as at 31 March E__F=-A=T—HABBREHEKAK
2022 disclosed pursuant to chapter 21 of listing rules are as HECHEMUBEEI B ALERF
follows: BT
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Forthe yearended 31 March 202 L ZE T - —F = A=+ —

BiEFE

18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED

COST (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (continued)

Ageing analysis (continued)

18. MBHEMATEZHMEHBEE (&)

BE-ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—HLFE (&)

AR DA (&)

Place of
incorporation/ Amorised Net carrying Interest
Name of issuer operation cost ECL amount rate
MBS BHEE
BITAER EEM BEME &8 IREFE ERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
1. Zhongneng Jiahe Industrial Co., Ltd.* (note i) PRC 35,456 1,247 34,209 15%
1. PERENMEEERAA (M) H B
2. Lanzhou Wole Home Furnishing Service Co. PRC 34,917 518 34,399 15%
Ltd.* (note ii)
2. WNBRELRERBAEREMEL R (M i) B
3. Jiarun China Investment (Guangzhou) Industrial ~ PRC 6,372 80 6,292 15%
Investment Co., Ltd* (note iii)
3. BEAPKR (BEM) BEREARAA (Mati) PH
4. Hunan Honggaocheng Technology Investment ~ PRC 32,374 1,825 30,549 15%
Co., Ltd* (note iv)
4. HEABSBEBEREBRAA (MHiiv) el

for identification purpose only
Notes:

Business of issuers and terms of promissory notes

0]

Investment management; warehousing services (except hazardous
chemicals and refined oil products); loading and unloading
services; sales of construction materials, chemical products
(excluding hazardous chemicals), coal (do not carry out physical
coal trading, storage and transportation activities in Beijing),
metal materials, building materials, iron ore, hardware products,
electronic products, daily necessities, textiles, clothing, machinery
and equipment, jewelry; import and export of goods, technology
import and export; product design.

The promissory note is unsecured, interest bearing at 15% per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of 1-2 years. Subsequent
to the reporting date the promissory note was early terminated
by mutual agreement between the Group and the note issuer and
the outstanding of promissory note and interests were fully settled
prior to the issued date of the Company’s annual report for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

* EHRBEARR

M RE

ESSPNGE SV NS - L0k TN

(i)

BREEE  2RRE (BERi2mn MK
RSN  REHRS  HEZEME - (b
TER (TaRlEm) - KK (TEL
RRAREVENRS - REEH) -
SEME - ZEMH  EHBEAL > REE
mBFER - ARG HHEBH R
£ OBWRME  KEEH GWELQD
RiftEHR O - ERRFE -

ARABRAEEF - FRERAE15% - 5
BEHRAIZE2F - RIFEBBHE - &
HREBRCASERZREHTALRARB TR
BRI AEBARZERANEREARQR
BHE-_Z-_—_4#=-A=Z=+-—BLEEZE
WTEB AT EHES -
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mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED
COST (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (continued)
Ageing analysis (continued)

134

Notes: (continued)

Business of issuers and teams of promissory notes (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Wholesale and retail of cabinets, cupboards, wardrobes, furniture,
office furniture, daily necessities, building materials, decorative
materials, Wujinjiaodian; maintenance of ceramic products;
cleaning and cleaning services.

The promissory note is unsecured, interest bearing at 15% per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of 1-2 years. Subsequent
to the reporting date the promissory note was early terminated
by mutual agreement between the Group and the note issuer and
the outstanding of promissory note and interests were fully settled
prior to the issued date of the Company’s annual report for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

Sales of synthetic materials; supply chain management services;
sales of building waterproofing membrane products; sales of
gold and silver products; procurement agency services; sales of
construction machinery; information technology consulting services;
graphic design and production; sales of metal materials; sales of
lamps and lanterns; technical services, technology development,
technology consultation, technology exchange, technology
transfer, technology promotion; sales of rare earth functional
materials; sales of household appliances; wholesale of clothing
and apparel; wholesale of kitchen utensils and daily necessities;
landscaping engineering construction.

The promissory note is unsecured, interest bearing at 15% per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of within 1 year.

Food sales; motor vehicle inspection and testing services; online
taxi booking service; tourism business; bonded logistics center
operation.

The promissory note is unsecured, interest bearing at 15% per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of 1 year. Subsequent
to the reporting date the promissory note was early terminated
by mutual agreement between the Group and the note issuer and
the outstanding of promissory note and interests were fully settled
prior to the issued date of the Company’s annual report for the
year ended 31 March 2022.
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18. MBHEMATEZHMEHBEE (&)

BE-ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—HLFE (&)
BRI D (E)

Mz o ()

EARBRITANER (B)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

WiE - HA - KE - KE - BAKRE
FREE  ZEMH EHHH - "
RENHRBETE  BERMEE R -
RERERT -

ERAEBRAEEF - FHEXB15% - FH
BEBERABIZE2F - RIFE B BHE - &
REBCASERZREETALRBER
AR REBARXZEBRANERAEARQA
HE_T-_—"F=ZA=+—BLEEzF
RAEBHEHEE -

BRMBIEE  HEBEERY  BEH
KEMERBEE  SRERFEE  RER
BIR  EETRARMEE - E8RM
AR - BRATELE  SBMREE

BEEE  RWRS - RMHEE -
R RMAOR - BTEGE - R

MEIIEMBEE  XAEREE  REK
REAL S FABARBMAERILE B
MErE TiRIET -

AARBRREER - FRXH15% - 2H
BEHRB/IFA -

RmiHE  HBERBBARE : @RE
WHEBAREEERYE - REEL  REY

23 N 4R A
DiaallBY <A

ARAEBRAEEF - FHEXAB15% - FH
HEHBRAIF - RIS AHE - ERHE
BRASEHEZREITALRBERANL
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Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. REEE QTR

2022 2021

—E-CF T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Share of net assets of the associate DIEEE AR EEFE - -
(@) Details of the Group's associate at 31 March 2022 are as (@) AEEZBERARIR_ZT__F=

follows: A=+—B2&FBuUT :
Place of Issued and fully  Percentage of

incorporation/ paid registered  equity held by~ Proportion of
Name of associate operation capital the Group  voting power  Principal activity
ERAL/ BRTRAR B
BENTER EEHY ZRER  BREEEIL REBLA TEXEK
Bonicast Construction Material PRC Registered 49% 20%  Trading of construction
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. ("Bonicast”) RMB10,000,000 (note) materials
EREXREMH (AR) FRAT TE i 49% 0% ENES
(leRE%]) AR 10,000,007 (k)

Notes: B E -

0] The Group is able to exercise significant influence over (i) AEEEANHEREETFEERY
Bonicast because it has the power to appoint one out of five 2h FREARASEHEEREZAR
directors of that company under the articles of association of RIAKERAREZEEZARI RS Z
that company. —HEZE -

(i)  The management reviewed the carrying amount of the (i) EREEBEEENBEEQRFTMARRK
associate by considering the value-in-use based on REERENEREESHBEZE D
discounted future cash flows of the associate. The interest RIZERHEE - # E/\Hﬁﬁ )é NAEEE
in an associate was fully impaired as at 31 March 2020 as the BEaE  AER_Z_ZF=A
associate was inactive for over 4 years. ST -—HARBERRIZERETRH

BE -
(b) Summarised financial information in respect of the by WEZIEBEERF 2Bl 5

B THRAEES (B E QR

associate is not presented as the Group's share of the

result and net assets of the associate is insignificant to
the Group.

CEERAEFENAEAME Y
TEK -
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  20. AR E I AEEM 2 EHKEEE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ZHKEE
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET
Unlisted equity securities in PRC, at cost A EBIIE ETRAZSH + HHK K 16,390 16,946
Fair value adjustment N E AR (12,093) (7,530)
4,297 9,416
Particulars of investments in unlisted equity securities held by BELETHUNFNERBE2AEBRR =
the Group as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 disclosed pursuant TR -—F=ZA=+—HFA
to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows: FIELrMRABSREFBEOT :
Percentage
of effective
interest held Accumulated fair value
Name of investee companies Place of incorporation at At cost adjustment Carrying value
FERBAR
RREDAER HRATLY Al BAK 2 AT ERY HEE

31/3/2022  31/3/2022 31732021 31732022 31732021 31/3/2022  31/3/2021

—“§--f ZE--§ -—E--% CZ®-Z§ C-E--F B -Z--%

=B=+-R =B=t+-R =ZA=t+-BH =ZR=+-B zZA=f-H =ZA=1+-B =ZA=1-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT Tk THT T THRT T

GuangZhou Da Jian Company Management PRC 11.59% 9,800 9,800 (9,789) (4,514 1" 5,286
Consultation Limited (EMZRLEEEEH
AR AF) ("DaJian") (note (i) and (v))

BMEROXERZDARART ([EE]) HE
GEL)

Tianjin Bao Xin Ying Precious Metals PRC 12% 6,590 6,590 (2,304) (2,460) 4,286 4130
Management Limited ("Bao Xin") (note (i) and (i)

RREERESBUEERAA Gk

(FE&]) (W& RH)

Huge Leader Investment Development Limited BVI N/A - 556 - (556) - -
("Huge Leader") (note (i) TR
Huge Leader Investment Development Limited ABERES

(MHuge Leader] ) (Ft3% i)

16,390 16,946 (12,093) (7,530 4,297 9,416
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Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued) Z B

Notes:

B AT

(i) As at 31 March 2022, the investment in Da Jian is measured at (i)
fair value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The
fair values of Da Jian is determined by reference to the valuation
carried out by an external independent valuer by using Asset Base
Approach. The underlying assets of Da Jian as at 31 Mach 2022 are

cash and cash equivalents.

If the net book values of Da Jian was 5% higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
investments in Da Jian would increase/decrease by approximately

HK$1,000.

As at 31 March 2021, the investment in Da Jian was measured at
fair value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair
values was determined by reference to the valuation carried out by
an external independent valuer by using Guideline Publicly Traded
Company method with reference to similar listed companies and
adjusted to reflect the specific circumstance of the investments.

The significant unobservable inputs were as follows:

Da Jian was valued by a price-to-book ratio multiple of comparable
listed companies. A discount was applied to reflect the lack of

marketability of the unlisted investments.

20. RAFEFAEHMCEZEKEEE

BEE (#)

R-ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—8 ' REHEZE
BUAFEHNE  IHEAMBPRFER
B ERZAFENKE2EINBEB I HE
MEREEERAFFHZEEETE - K=
T _F-A=+-—BHERZHEBPEEA
HekBEEZED -

Mg REFE LT EKS% » A
EEMBHEARSTE  AIRERZRER
{8 1% 3 h0, % 4 #91,0008 7T -

RZEBZ-F=ZA=+—H  RERZK
BNDARFERNE  XOBREIFE
R AVENKE2ENBBILGEEMRE
BEMARESAFHZGEEEE - %A
BENE2ZEULTRARALRREZER
BZHEERAMETHE - EXTABR
BABEOT

ERBAALBR LT AR REGEEHE
ThE - CHRBRZEFLTRERZT
BmE M ABR -

Da Jian
et
Lack of marketability discount rate Rz s R eIt AL IR & 25%

If the lack of marketability discount rate was 5% higher/lower while
all other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
investments in Da Jian would decrease/increase by approximately

HK$88,000.

(ii) The investment in Bao Xin is measured at fair value and classified (ii)
as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair values of Bao Xin is
determined by reference to the valuation carried out by an external

independent valuer by using Asset Base Approach.

If the net book values of Bao Xin was 5% higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
investments in Bao Xin would increase/decrease by approximately

HK$214,000 (2021: HK$207,000).

WMERZ T HRBIERLIR R EF+ T #5% -
MEATAEMEFRBETE  HRNERZE
BERMEER D B 18 hn4988,000/% 7T °

REEZREURFESE  THEARS
BMAFEFE - BEZRAFENKE2ES)
BEIGEMEREEEREAFLZMHE
BE -

WESEZE®EFELATBS% - WA
EHEMEBEBHEBERE  AREBCRER
M E# 5 B 5 4 49214,0005%8 T (=
T~ — 4 1 207,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

Notes:(continued)

138

(iii)

(iv)

As at 31 March 2021, the investment in Huge Leader was measured
at fair value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. Since
the directors of the Company lost contact with the management
of Huge Leader and the directors of the Company were unable to
obtain any financial information of Huge Leader for the year ended
31 March 2021, the directors of the Company measured the fair
value of the Group's interests in Huge Leader by Adjusted Net
Assets Method based on the latest available financial information
of Huge Leader which was the net asset values as at 31 March 2019,
and adjusted for the factors they considered that might affect their
fair values including the indirectly held operating subsidiaries was
no longer held by the subsidiaries of Huge Leader as at 31 March
2020.

On 28 June 2021, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party by which the Company
agreed to sell, and the buyer agreed to buy 1% (representing
1 owned share) of equity interest in Huge Leader for a cash
consideration of HK$50,000.

Bao Xin is a PRC established company and principally engaged in
the trading of precious metals and gold products and investment
advisory in Tianjin, the PRC.

The Group's interest of Bao Xin is held through a nominee
shareholder. The Company understands that there would be
regulatory obstacles for the registration of transfer of equity
interests of Bao Xin under the name of the Group directly. As such,
the relevant arrangements in holding the 12% equity interest in Bao
Xin were made.

The Company has obtained PRC legal opinion to confirm the
validity and effectiveness of such arrangement. As stated in the PRC
legal opinion, there are contractual and legal obligations binding
on the nominee shareholder and such arrangements are valid and
effective under the relevant PRC laws. In addition, the Company has
obtained confirmations from Bao Xin and the nominee shareholder
to confirm its beneficial interests in Bao Xin. Confirmation has been
obtained from all the registered shareholders of Bao Xin to confirm
the shareholding of the Group in Bao Xin.

The aforesaid arrangement has been in operation for years and the
nominee shareholder(s) have complied with the relevant contractual
and legal obligations and are also the major shareholder of Bao
Xin. As such, the Company considers that the associated risks that
the nominee shareholder would be in breach of such arrangement
would be relatively low. Having considered the time and costs
to obtain the relevant approvals for the Group to become direct
registered shareholder of Bao Xin and the associated risks of not
being direct registered shareholder of Bao Xin, the Company
considers that the relevant arrangements are appropriate under the
current circumstances.

Da Jian is a PRC established company and principally engaged in
providing enterprise management and consulting service in the
PRC.

Annual Report £ ¥ 2022

20. RAFEFAEHMCEZEKEEE
ZHBEE (&)

B 5E

(iii)

(iv)

L (&)
RZEZ—F=A=+—H ' ®Huge
leader R E LR FEEE * WHEAS

BAFEFE - HRARFESEHEHuge
leaderW EBEAELAHE - BARTIES
LB Huge LleaderBl ZE T - —F = A
S+—HLEFENETAFBEER - AR
A)E BB B Huge Leader M) F 3T HA O] £ 13 B
BERBR=-ZE-NAF=ZA=+—HBH®
BEFE) RKABRBAEFEELAAERE
& A Huge Leader i & K9 2 T (A - I & %
ERBURFEEQATENER (BER
I TF-A=THHEERAENKE
i /@B A 7~ B A Huge Leader ) I [ A 71 4%
B) ELAE -

RZZTZ—FXA=Z+N\B  ARa#E—
LEUE=FIVEEHE B K
A AEEE HEmE 7R E B EHuge Leader
1% (BIMIREAKRD) -  ReRER
50,000/% 7T °

EEA-FRTERTZAT - TERT
BXENFRECBRECHUAERRRE
BARY -

AEBREBE 2R IERE - REERRE
A ARQRATHMINAEEREEE
BLESZRREZRFEREER -
b RARMEHHAEEB %R EZEH
2 e

ARARCBRBFEERERNERBH L
BRZBEBMERYES - HPBERERM
i REBHEPRER  HERRXA
HREREBEBHOR  BBEELTHEERE

Boe s ARFACEHBEREBERR
BMEHRE  UBRARANBEEZER

B o ARRTRESBZHAEELTRRER
BHERE  URRAKENESZRE -

tzHeEESFE - BRERRCDET
HEAHNRERER  TRAEEZIER
ReFBlt ARARR - BERRER
FRRHZAARARAERE - £EE5
AEBXRRBEEEXRELRRRGHBL
BZERERARYFERTERTCTRR
ZHEBERR  AQARE RERER
T HBERHEEE -

ERAB-BERPBEKIZAR 0 TERP
BEieERHECXEERERARSE -



China Investment Development Limited » f B % & 1 2 B R A A)
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Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  20. AR Bt AEEM 2 EHKEEE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued) ZHBREE (©)

The following is the analysis of fair value change of financial NTAREATEFAZEMZEHKEZE

assets at FVTOCI for the years ended 31 March 2022 and BZMBEERBE_T__FREK_F

2021: T F=ZRA=+—HBLFEZAFEEZ
£ il

Change in fair value
during the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HLEEZ

ATEES
2022 2021
—E-C-H —E-—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER TAET

Unlisted equity securities issued by: AATARBITZILTRAES

- Bao Xin -E5 156 234
- Da Jian —ER (5,275) 708
- Bio-Energy — YR - 200
- Yenbo Gain - HBEA = 200
- Perfect Worth — Perfect Worth - 381
- Golden Resources — Golden Resources - 816
- Huge Leader — Huge Leader 50 762
(5,069) 3,301

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. BAFE A GEESEEB 2 HKBE

PROFIT OR LOSS =3

2022 2021
—E-C-F —E-—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET

Hong Kong listed equity securities, BRELTRAES -
at market value (note a) BRmE (Mta) 17,758 18,715

Investments in convertible bonds, BERABRKRES -
at fair value (note b) BRAFE (HiEb) 16,280 9,749
Financial guarantee (note c) B EE (M) = 253
34,038 28,717
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mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  21. BAFEF A CEZEEBHBE
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) = (&)
(@) Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed @ BRELTRAUIFENEEZEZAEHEH
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2022 RZE - _FR_F-_—F=A
and 2021 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing ST —BERBBZEFELTRARS

140

Rules are as follows:

BREFBOT :

2022 —F-CF
Accumulated
unrealised
Percentage gain/(loss)
of interest Market arisingon  Change in
Name of investee companies Note Number of shares held held Cost value  revaluation fair value
EffE%R
EHES §)
fisER Wi/ AYE
BREARNAR Hit FEsRHEE ARl 2 miE (B8) 25
2022 2022
ZEC-CE ZECCE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL TERL TERL
Kidztech Holdings Limited ("Kidztech”) (iii) 1,686,000 ordinary share 0.3237% 1,753 1,450 (303) (303)
FrEBRRARAR ([FLE]) (i) 1,686,000 % # Mk
Asia Television Holdings Limited ("Asia Television") (ii) 80,510,000 ordinary share 0.8111% 3,059 966 (2,093) (2,093)
TNERERAERAE ([ENER]) (i) 80,510,000 & &Mk
Feiyang International Holdings Group Limited
("Feiyang”) (iv) 492,000 ordinary share 0.0820% 499 443 (56) (56)
RAERER (RE) BRAR ([RE]) () 492,000 & &
Future Bright Mining Holdings Limited (" Future Bright") (v) 20,000 ordinary share 0.0005% 1 1 - -
BEEEERERAA ([51E]) (v) 20,000k & &R
Morris Home Holdings Limited ("Morris") (vi) 200,000 ordinary share 0.0200% 17 21 10 10
ERRRERERDA ([E5]) (vi) 200,000 &
RMH Holdings Limited ("RMH") (vii) 344,000 ordinary share 0.0398% 35 47 12 12
EHERERAR ([BH]) (vil) 34,0008 &
Amber Hill Financial Holdings Limited ("Amber") (viii) 9,564,000 ordinary share 1.7802% 13,781 14,824 1,043 1,043
ZUeERHERAR ([ZW]) (v 9,564,000% £ &R
Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited ("Target") (ix) 4,228,000 ordinary share 0.8109% 4298 = (4.298) (4,298)
RNRE (BR) ERAF ([&M)) (ix) 4,228, 0008 & it
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. AR B AEESZEEB2HKE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) E (&)
(@) (continued) (@) (#&)
2021 —E-—F
Accumulated
unrealised
Percentage gain/(loss)
of interest Market arisingon  Change in
Name of investee companies Note Number of shares held held Cost value  revaluation fair value
EffEsy
EHES 3]
i@ K/ YR
HRELARER (i3 FRERH%E BAl A [l (B8 28
2021 2021
ZEC-F ZBI-F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEL TAL TAL TEL

Golden Ponder Holdings Limited (“Golden Ponder") 0] 37,560,000 ordinary share 4.6950% 4,883 9,766 4883 4,883
eRBERARRA ([2RER]) (i) 37,560,008 & & i
Asia Television Holdings Limited ("Asia Television”) (ii) 235,510,000 ordinary share 2.3121% 10,355 8,949 (1,406) (1,406)
ENERERERAA (TENEHR)) ) 235,510,000 £ %
Notes: B 5T
0] Golden Ponder was incorporated in the Cayman Islands 0] emRFAEHETMAYL - HRH
and its shares are listed on Main Board of the Hong Kong REBEZAER B (RHRIE :
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1783). Golden Ponder is an 1783) - &M A BEREZERAF -
investment holdings company and the principal activities of EMBARMEZEBRRABERE
its subsidiaries are provision of superstructure building and mEhiER FEABEEREE -
repair, maintenance, alteration and addition works as a main HE - RERNEIR  #HE-Z
contractor. For the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the —_—FZAZ+—HLUBEFE -
audited consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of ERIERFTAEARLGRERES
Golden Ponder was approximately HK$12,314,000 with basic B 18 %) /12,314,000 T - i E
and diluted loss per share of HK$1.54 cents. As at 31 March AR EEIBAISEWN - RZF
2021, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to Z—®=A=+—H ' ZRAREHR
owners of the company was approximately HK$167,957,000. ANEEHEEZESEEFENR
No dividend was received by the Group during the year 167,957,000 7T - BHE T = —F
ended 31 March 2021. AT -RLEEEASEHER
BMAERKE °
(ii) Asia Television was incorporated in the Cayman Islands (ii) TMHERRHESHEFMAY - H
and its shares are listed on Main Board of the Hong Kong BROREBBRZMER LT (BRH
Stock Exchange (stock code: 707). Asia Television acts as RER:707) - DMNER A —HKE
an investment holding company. For the financial year ERAR - BEZZ-_—%+-A
ended 31 December 2021, the audited consolidated Z+—BULEVREE  ENERZ
loss attributable to equity holders of Asia Television was HEFAABLEEEREABERY
approximately RMB260,665,000 with basic and diluted B A R #260,665,0007T fi% & 7
loss per share of RMB0.0263. As at 31 December 2021, LEBERAARKNR63T - B
its audited consolidated net liabilities attributable to the —ZE-_—-f+ZR=+—H " %
owners of the company was approximately RMB128,798,000. ARABEAEARMEREZEEEE
No dividend was received by the Group during the year FE K A AR #128,798,0007T © #
ended 31 December 2021. For the financial year ended 31 F_E_—F+_A=+—HIF
December 2020, the audited consolidated loss attributable EAEBHERDRTARKE - &
to equity holders of Asia Television was approximately E-TFEF+-A=+—HIH
RMB173,121,000 with basic and diluted loss per share BEE DMHNERZEZEAA
of RMB2.05 cents. As at 31 December 2020, its audited BHECEZEAEBEBENARARYK
consolidated net assets attributable to owners of the 173,121,0007C *© & R & K & & 5F &
company was approximately RMB126,271,000. No dividend BAARB2060 - RZZT=TF
was received by the Group during the year ended 31 +TZA=+—8 ' ZRGHEBARE
December 2020. HEEEREEEEFEARAR
#126,271,0007C - BE =T - T 5
TZA=T-—HBLEFEAEEHRE
WERAEAI AR B
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21.

142

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(continued))

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Kidztech was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 6918) on 18 March 2020. Its
principal activities are manufacturing and sales of toys. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of Kidztech
was approximately RMB26,086,000 with basic and diluted
earnings per share of RMB5.0 cents. As at 31 December
2021, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to
owners of the company was approximately RMB441,763,000.
No dividend was received by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Feiyang was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 1901) on 28 June 2019. Its principal
activities are (i) design, development and sale of outbound
travel package tours; (i) the design, development and sale
of free independent traveller products; (iii) the provision of
other ancillary travel-related products and services; and (iv)
the provision of information system development services.
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of Feiyang
was approximately RMB137,477,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of RMB27.07 cents. As at 31 December 2021,
its audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners
of the company was approximately RMB24,159,000. No
dividend was received by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2021.
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH . BAFEFACEREB 2 UKE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) = (&)
(@) (continued) @@ (#&)
Notes: (continued) Mt - (2)

v)

(vi)

Future Bright was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 2212). Its principal activities are
(i) excavation and sale of marble blocks; (i) production and
sale of marble related products; and (iii) trading of mineral
commodities. For the financial year ended 31 December
2021, the audited consolidated loss attributable to equity
holders of Future Bright was approximately RMB2,491,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of RMB0.06 cents. As
at 31 December 2021, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners of the company was approximately
RMB59,590,000. No dividend was received by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Morris was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 1575). Its principal activities
are manufacture and sale of sofas, sofa covers and other
furniture products. For the financial year ended 31 December
2021, the audited consolidated loss attributable to equity
holders of Morris was approximately RMB121,508,000 with
basic and diluted loss per share of RMB13.15 cents. As at
31 December 2021, its audited consolidated net liabilities
attributable to owners of the company was approximately
RMB49,541,000. No dividend was received by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

v)

(vi)

EEREHAESHERARERMASE
Sk AEREFERAR @ &
BHEEBSBHARSHAERARE
WE™M (BRMHARE :2212) - EXZ
¥BBONZRILHEERBEA R
(IWEETHERBLAHEBER &
(INfBEAEmESD  BE_T-_—F
TZA=+—BLUBREE 2k
PRESREANELRREREEAER
4 AN REE2491,000 7T+ FRRER
M#EEEAARKIWGS - R
T-—F+-fA=+—8 " Z2Q7A
BEANBEHEEERRGEETE
45 AR 59,590,000 - HE_-Z
T+ -A=+—BLFEEXRE
B B W TR B o

RABRBEREES AR ERNHASH
EdMKIAEERECERAR @ &
%@E%%%é&%%ﬁ@ﬁﬂz
™ Hm AR 1575 - H F
xﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ D DBE
FEMBMREER - BE_ZT_-_—F
TZA=Zt+-—BLUBEE BES
CEGRHREAELEERGREAER
4B AR #121,508,0007T @ & K% H
AREEEBEAARKIZIED o B
T —F+ZRA=+—8 " %A
RIEBABEECERRAARETF
B4 5 A RM49,541,0007T - BHE—
T —F+ZA=ZF+—BHLEFER
EEMERBRITMEMERE -
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21.

144

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a)

(continued))
Notes: (continued)

(vii)

(viii)

RMH was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the GEM Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 8437). Its principal activities are
(i) provision of all-round dermatology treatment solutions,
specialised in skin cancer, skin diseases and aesthetic
procedures, (ii) provision of community dermatology
services for less complicated dermatological conditions and
non-invasive medical aesthetic treatments, (iii) Specialised
Medical Services (Including Day Surgical Centers) and (iv)
Trading of health supplement and skin care products. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of RMH was
approximately S$8,785,000 with basic and diluted loss per
share of S$1.18 cents. As at 31 December 2021, its audited
consolidated net assets attributable to owners of the
company was approximately S$4,567,000. No dividend was
received by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2021.

Amber was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 33). Its principal activities are
(i) trading of party products and metals and minerals, (ii)
securities brokerage and assets management, advancing
business, credit guarantee and (iii) investment business and
trading of commodities. For the eighteen months ended
30 June 2021, the audited consolidated loss attributable to
equity holders of Amber was approximately HK$67,786,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK$28.55 cents.
As at 30 June 2021, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners of the company was approximately
HK$149,479,000. No dividend was received by the Group
during the period ended 30 June 2021.
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21.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a)

(continued))
Notes: (continued)
(ix)  Target was incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
on 28 August 2014 and its shares were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(stock code: 6161). Its principal activities are (i) writing of
general insurance business and (i) property investment. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of Target
was approximately HK$62,026,000 with basic and diluted
earnings per share of HK$11.9 cents. As at 31 December
2020, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to
owners of the company was approximately HK$338,660,000.
No dividend was received by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2020. Trading in the shares of the
Target on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited has
been halted with effect from 9:00 a.m. on Wednesday, 5
January 2022.

The fair values of the Group’s investments in listed
equity securities are based on quoted market price,
except for the investments in shares of Target. The
fair value as at 31 March 2022 of the shares of Target
held by the Group was estimated by the directors of
the Company to be insignificant value, taking into
consideration of the circumstances leading to the
suspension of trading since January 2022.

The proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 were HK$109,490,000 and
HK$22,467,000 respectively.

Particulars of investments in convertible bonds held
by the Group as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 disclosed
pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows:

Name of investee companies Place of incorporation

Unlisted debt securities, at cost

. BAFEFAGCRESREZMEBEER
E (#)

(a)

Fair value adjustment

(&)
MisE : (&)
ZEMR=_FE—WENA=+NAR
BEREEMAKLIABR LA - ER
NEBABARSMER QA ER
Em (MR 6161) o HEX B
BB —MRBEARER - K
%%&é HE-ZZTZ-ZF+=
H +T—BLEMRFEE TNz
R BABRGEEZEEENNA
&www%n*tk§$&%%ﬂ
BINYGEN  RZZTE_ZTF+ =8
S E'ai j%ﬁ/\%ﬁﬁf?“‘
EiZ i 6 & EIFE X 5338,660,000%
T BEZZTZ-_TEF+ZA=+—
BEFEREEHRERBREMRE -
EMRME-TE=_=_F—HAAAB (2
M) FFNABETREEEEEBH
AERGMBRARESR -

(ix)

AEERETRAZFSREZAF

BT EmEAKE - RN
M EBRIN RZE__F=A1

—+t—BXKEBBZRTIROA
FTERAREEHEAEBRTE
N m+& T F—HAReYy
FEEESHAMRMR -

B ZE-_—_FRrR-_FT-—4%=H
—+t—RALEFEHERAFETA
FEREEBZMEEENMESHIE
ﬁ%ﬁmm%aﬁ%ﬁ&n#mmo
BT e

BE TR FNEREZAEER
RZE-Z_—_Fh_FT-_—F=A
—+t—HFEBERERTRBRESF
ER NN

Carrying value

RREADER MR LR FLTEBRS RHA AVERE REE
31/3/2022 31/3/2021 31/3/2022 31/3/2021 31/3/2022 31/3/2021
—EoCE —E--f% “E-CE —Z--F “§-Ck —E--F
ZR=t-B =A=t-R Z=A=t-B ZA=t-R =R=t-B Z=A=1-A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx THL THET Thn TR TARL
Guanwan Investments Limited (note (i) BVI 20,000 20,000 (3,720) (10,251) 16,280 9,749
BERBARDA (M) ABARES
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. AR B AEESEEB2HKE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) E (&)
(b)  (continued) )y (&

0] On 22 December 2014, the Company invested in the (i) RZE—MOFEF+_A=Z+=H ' AR 7H
3% unsecured convertible bonds issued by Guanwan RERBEREAERAA([BEE]) &
Investments Limited (“Guanwan") with principal amount TRIBERMABRES  X2ER
of HK$20,000,000, bearing coupon interest rate of 3% per 20,000,000 7T - 1% = @ M X & F3E 5
annum. Guanwan is an investment holding company which B wg8pikErkan  HAEFAH
indirectly hold 100% of the issued shares of its subsidiary, /& WEBARRINESHBREER QA ([&
NEFBREBRAR ("L FIE"). /5B is established Figl) 2100%E BT M - SFBES
in the PRC and principally engaged in designing, Bk - TEEFBRRELRERT - &
manufacturing and retail of women'’s dress in PRC. The ERTE -  XEERBEGZARARESFRERN
convertible bonds held by the Group were originally due on —E—+tF+-_AZ+ZRAEH - KK
22 December 2017 and convertible into 24 fully paid ordinary BREGRRRKRMNEBIVBETLLBARTE
shares of Guanwan with a par value of USD1.00 each, which MR EE1.003 7T 2 B2 Bk Ak 240k
represented 24% of the enlarged issued shares of Guanwan HER-_Z—NF+_A-FT-HEEL
as at 22 December 2014, at a conversion price of HK$833,333 BAEETRM24% - AR AR E A1 B
per conversion share. The Company could exercise the RIBER TR HE - R_T—+F 1A
conversion option at any time until the maturity date. On 23 —+=8 " THREFIPAEBTITER
December 2017, the maturity date of the convertible bonds E-E-_FTF+=-_A=+=8H -
were renewed and extended to 22 December 2020.

On 23 December 2020, the maturity date of the convertible R—_E_FTF+-_A=-+=H ' ap
bonds were further renewed and extended to 22 December SR E—SEHEILCRE_T =
2023. All of the other terms of the convertible bonds +T_AZ+ZB - LAEEME
remained unchanged for the above renewals. BIREFZBEMGETREGEFTE -
The Group's investments in convertible bonds, represented AEBMBRERABRBRESERENTER
by investments in convertible bonds issued by Guanwan, fTrAmkES  ABEBSS REAR
have debt component and embedded derivatives PMETERS - RAIBRES ZIRERY)
components. The investments in convertible bonds were R ESDEARRATEFALERER
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or ZHBEE  WRAFERR  AFE
loss upon initial recognition and recognised at fair value, BEEHGABERERER RT_—_FRk=
with changes in fair value recognized in consolidated profit T —F A=t -HARABKRESFZE
or loss. The fair values of the investments in convertible B ATFEDK2ZEINEB LIAEMKA
bonds as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 were determined MR REBER AN MREEBENM
by reference to the valuation carried out by an external EEEMEE - MABBEAOT :
independent valuer by using Discounted Cash Flow Method
and Binominal Option Pricing Model. The inputs were as
follows:
Guanwan BB

2022 2021 —¥--f C¥--F
Underlying share price HK$660,211 HK$372,939 THERE 66021187 3729395
Number of shares convertible into 24 24 RARMEAE 24 24
Conversion price per share HK$833,333 HK$833,333 BRIERE 833,333 8333338
Time to maturity 1.7 years 2.7 years B SR 175 27F
Interest rate per annum 3% 3% Lk 3% 3%
Discount rate 41.50% 58.55% ik 41.50% 58.55%
Risk free rate 1.65% 0.29% EERANE 1.65% 0.29%
Volatility 52.10% 52.63% K 52.10% 52.63%
The fair value of underlying share is derived from market R M A FE TR B G AR
multiple — enterprise value to earnings before interest, WmiEEE42 (P EBEYRKRAE -
tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EV/EBITDA") valuation B B R 8 AT A B (TEV/EBITDA])
methodology using key inputs of 4.2 (2021: market price-to- HMEFECEZ—F:mHRE([MK
book (“P/B") valuation methodology based on a ratio of 0.51) E|) HEFE - AR ESY - WHER
and further adjusted for discount for lack of marketability of Z W5 E AR ER206% (ZF = —
20.6% (2021: 35.0%). 35.0%) FLAFHEE -
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value RFPEFETAAERTAEE®H AR
measurement are the underlying share price and expected TERERERRE - AFEFTEEME
volatility. The fair value measurement is positively correlated BRERTEEREBRIELL ©
to the underlying share price and expected volatility.

In addition, it is estimated that with all other variables o - HETERA E S IE KT

held constant, an increase/decrease in the underlying “FERT  HERELA T

share prices by 5% would have increased/decreased the Bo% K BHIZEERBEmEL MR

carrying amount of the investment by approximately 4 #1692,0007% Tt 622,000 It (=

HK$692,000/HK$622,000 (2021: HK$487,000/ T — —4F : 487,000/ 7T 487,000/

HK$487,000). BN

146  Annual Report 4 #§ 2022



China Investment Development Limited » f B % & 1 2 B R A A)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

21.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(0

On 11 March 2021, Ms. Yang Xiaogiu (“Ms. Yang”) ()
resigned as Board Chairman and transferred all the
remaining liability under the Deed of Indemnity to
the new Board Chairman, Mr. Han Zhenghai ("Mr.
Han”) on 15 March 2021. Mr. Han executed a new
Deed of Indemnity under which he promises to pay
the remaining liability to the Company, which is
HK$8,266,000, and guarantees that the value of the
Company’s investment in 1% equity interest in Huge
Leader will not fall below 70% of the fair value of
such investment as reflected in the audited financial
statements of the Company as at 31 March 2019. Upon
the change of the Chairman, the financial guarantee
provided by Ms. Yang has been derecognised. The
fair value of the financial guarantee was approximately
HK$7,713,000 at the date of derecognition. The liability
of Mr. Han amounting to HK$7,713,000 has been
recognised as amount due from the shareholder. The
balance of HK$253,000 represented the fair value of the
financial guarantee on the Company’s investment in
1% equity interest in Huge Leader as at 31 March 2021
based on the valuation report of an independent valuer.

The fair value of the guarantee as at 31 March 2021 was
determined by reference to the valuation carried out by
an external independent valuer. The valuation approach
used by the valuer was Discounted Cash Flow Method
(also known as Credit Default Swap Pricing Model). The
inputs were as follows:

21. BAVEFAERZEREZMEE
E (#)

RZEBEZ—F=ZA+—0 HB#&
Mzt ((BxLt]) BFEESEEE
B YR —_E-—F=A+HH
KRERBERETHAERNAKEEET
MEESESXIRELESLELE ([
FE])  BEEREE-—OHFEE
g AmRARAXNHNGE
f88,266,000/8 7T W IR &R R AR
Huge Leader 1% % # 8 % & {8 18 1%
TEERARIAR_ZE-—NEFE=A
ST —BZRERMBHREK TR
WEBRKERTFENION - EFEF
Bk BRIRHENMBERER
IETR - REUEER B A BER
B A F1E & #7,713,0007 T o 5L
A 8 & 1&7,713,000% T R B JE
W R FKIB © 4 #7253,00078 7T /3 =
E_—F=ZA=+—HBRBEIM
18 A1 &) 1 B8 3 & B KN 2 8 % Huge
Leader 1% IR IR E NI R 2
NFE -

R-ZZE-_—F=ZA=Z+—HBHWHER
ZAFETYEE 2 E SNIE IS 3L (kB AT
FIEEmMET - HEMAMAME
FEABMBRBESREEX (KBAE
BEEOEBHTERELN) - BEE A
HEMT

Huge Leader

HK$
BT

Fair value of 1% interest as at 31 March 2019 R-_ZE—NF=ZHA=+—H
1% w2 AT E 448,000
Maximum guarantee @70% = ER70% 314,000
Probability of default BB E 3.7%
Discount rate AL IR = 0.06%

The significant unobservable input used in the fair
value measurement was the probability of default. The
fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the
probability of default.

AFEFETPHAEATAERS
ABEBHEHORE - AFEFESR
BRI ERRLE -
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. AR B AEESEEB2HKE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) = (&)
(¢)  (continued) © (&)
As at 31 March 2021, it is estimated that with all other RZBE-_—F=ZA=+—H ' &
variables held constant, an increase/decrease in the ERMBHMEBERFAZBELT
probability of default by 5% would have decreased/ ERBL R MR 5% 8 B R
increased the carrying amount of the investment by BB E R 45 N 491,000 T
approximately HK$1,000/HK$1,000. /1,000 T °
22. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS PAID AND 22. HtEWRE - ENfRERFAANR
PREPAYMENTS b |
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FET
Interest receivable FEUF B 163 2,563
Prepayments B HIE 118 144
Other receivables and deposits paid (note a) £ Al & U 218 &
EftikRe (Mita) 72,549 59,006
72,830 61,713
Less: ECL allowance (note b) B BHEEBERE (WiTb) (33,475) (61,567)
39,355 146
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22. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS PAID AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at the end of the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's other
receivables and deposits paid were mainly deposits paid for
potential investments with gross carrying amount of HK$70,102,000
(2021: HK$59,000,000). The refundable deposits paid as at 31 March
2021 amounted to HK$59,000,000 were fully impaired due to long
outstanding and uncertain recoverability of the refundable deposits
paid. During the year ended 31 March 2022, refundable deposits
with gross carrying amount of HK$29,000,000 as at 31 March 2021
was recovered by the Group and hence a reversal of impairment
loss of HK$29,000,000 was recognised in consolidated profit or loss
for the year end 31 March 2022 (Note 8).

For the year ended 31 March 2022, in addition to the ECL of
HK$30,004,000 (2021: HK$59,004,000) recognised in prior years on
deposits paid for potential investments and other receivables which
are categorised as doubtful under the Group's credit risk grading
framework, the directors of the Company estimated the loss
allowance on the remaining deposits paid for potential investment
and other receivables amounted to approximately HK$42,545,000
at the end of the reporting period on an individual basis, at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL taking into account the expected
collection period as the deposits paid are categorised as low risk
under the Group's credit risk grading framework. Thus, an amount
of HK$3,308,000 was provided for impairment losses under the ECL
model.

In prior years, the directors of the Company estimated the loss
allowance on the interest receivables at the end of the reporting
period on an individual basis, at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL taking into account the expected collection period as these
receivables were categorised as doubtful under the Group's credit
risk grading framework. Under HKFRS 9's general approach for the
ECL model, the valuer has assessed and determined that the credit
risk of the interest receivables has increased significantly to the
Stage 3 risk level. The directors of the Company thus considered
that impairment on interest receivables with an aggregate amount
of approximately HK$2,563,000 was made due to significant delay
in repayments. During the year ended 31 March 2022, an amount
of HK$2,400,000 was recovered by the Group and hence a reversal
of ECL of HK$2,400,000 in relation to interest receivable was
recognised in consolidated profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2022 (Note 8).

The movements in allowance for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

HitEWFIE - ENRERANK
18 (&)

B 2

(@)

REBE_ZT-_—_F#=ZA=+—RALFEX -
AEEBzHMBERFEREHIEZSEEES
B A 2 B R 4 BR T 42 570,102,000
7T (=& — — 4 : 59,000,000/ 7T) ° AR
EHAEERTREENATREERS TR
Bl RZE-—F=ZA=+—HEMAR
i 3% 959,000,000 ST AEBURE - HE
TE-__HF=RA=+—BItFE  K£ED
WeERn—_E-_—F=ZA=+—BEEALE
#929,000,0007 T AT R EBIE & © Bt R #E
BT -_—FZ AT ALFEKREE
5 T 7 R 1B &5 18 & [2129,000,0007% 7T (P 5
8) °

BE-_Z-_—_€#=-ZA=+—RHALtFE K
TREFERRASECEERBITRIESR
THEAURNBEREZEMNZRERHE
ftb JE Uiz 3% TH /9 78 5B {= B &5 130,004,000 7T
(ZZ = — % : 59,004,000 7T) © AR A
ERREARNEEGHRBEHRBTE
BREAZEMN RS REMERFRENEER
%) 542,545,000 7T+ £ EAESKI12@A
EHEEEE  HRENEESEALSE
EEERBRIRELTHERR - W&
REHKZSH - Al - BREEHEES
B 15 = 5T 12 9% (8 5 183,308,000 7T ©

RBEFE  ARAEERREHKRMAS
HEERFENEERE  2EESHE
HEHEEBE  BRZSFERFIEEAR
SEEERRTRERSEARE - 8B
TR TEHMRE - BIEE AP KRS ER
FOREHEEBRERNZ —RFE
HEMETHTIETCERKANEZEERR
EBEEENEZFEIRERBARN - At -
ARABEEZRR @ HEEWH BRERTE
492,563,000 TC TR ERERTERE » #
E-FT-_—_FZA=+—HILEE ' A&
& 2 Yt [212,400,00058 7T - B Lt FE W) B A
78 #9112 & /5 18 % [@2,400,0008 TR E E —
T _FZAZ+-BULFEHRAIBER
R (KisE8) o

HEE R ERERBEIHNT

2022 2021

—E-C B

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET

At the beginning of year READ 61,567 61,579
Impairment losses recognised BEERBEERE 3,308 491
Reversal of impairment B (B [T (31,400) (503)
At the end of year MRERXR 33,475 61,567
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23.

24.

150

AMOUNT DUE FROM SHAREHOLDER 23. EWRERMRIE
On 15 March 2021, due to the change of the chairman, Mr. ﬁé\igi —F=ZA+HH BARETFE
Han, who is also a shareholder of the Company, agreed to CBEETDRABAARRE - ABEAAR
pay the remaining liability to the Company under the Deed T XNEBGRETEITNBRERERET
of Indemnity executed by Ms. Yang. Details are set out in the WEHEAE - FBEHRAQAFNHEZT
Company'’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021, T—FZA=ZF+—RHLFEZFHRH T
note 17(c). The amount is non-interest bearing. 17(c) © ZRXEATETE -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24. BERBAEEEY
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Cash and bank balances ReRBTHET 51,574 8,504
The effective interest rate of the deposits in 2021 range from :%@:—ir K E R A 2 A F0.001%
0.001% to 0.45% per annum and all of them have a maturity £045% - H2#RIMmMAKE=1A

within three months from initial inception. There was no time
deposits at bank as at 31 March 2022.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2022, cash and bank balances of
HK$17,957,000 are denominated in RMB and placed in
financial institutions in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible
currency in the PRC and the remittance of funds out of
the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange controls promulgated by the PRC government.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Annual Report £ ¥ 2022
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E’\fgi_izﬂz-f——ﬁ - ME KR

117,957,000 T A A R EEHE - 17
ﬁAEPIiﬁMM% A R 72 B B A 3k AT
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

25.

24 BERBEEED (@)

Lease Bonds
liabilities payables Total
HEEE ENES et
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 April 2020, R-ZZE-_FFNA
31 March 2021 and —B === —
1 April 2021 F=A=+-—H
EZZE=-—FH
A—H — _ _
Changes from financing cash flows: BMER &R E B
B
Proceeds P15 518 4,244 63,225 67,469
Repayments BN (680) (61,225) (61,905)
Finance cost paid B B B AR (97) (2,081) (2,178)
Non-cash changes: FREEH .
Finance costs B 7% Bk A 97 2,175 2,272
At 31 March 2022 R=ZZEZZ=F=H
=+—H 3,564 2,094 5,658
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS CHARGES 25. HihESREREFER
2022 2021
—E-- —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Bonds payables (note (i) &S (M) 2,094 =
Amount due to former director (note (i) JETAIE F 1 X IE (M 32 Gi) 600 =
Accruals and other payables FERT B A & E fh FE T 5B 5,388 5,178
8,082 5178
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25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS CHARGES 25. EMENRERETER (&)

(continued|)

Notes: B aE -

(i) The Company has entered into short-term unsecured bond i) AAREBY FE] Y EBAEETES S
agreements with independent parties, bearing interest rate at 12% FRERI2%  RZE__F=F=+—
per annum, and maturity dates of the bonds outstanding at 31 =] ﬂi@fﬂs FEBMAREZE-ZE-__F
March 2022 is up to 7 June 2022. AtH

(ii) The amount is due to Ms. Yang and is unsecured, non-interest (i) ZRBEAEMNEGELLE - AEEME . 28
bearing and repayable on demand. RRERERE -

26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEEE
2022 2021
—E-CHE —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Amount due for settlement within two years M F R E & E 2 1B 3,564 =
Less: Amount due for settlement within ~ J& : RW12M@ A R BB & & 2 &
12 months (shown under current H(MRRBHEEETYR)
liabilities) (2,037) =
Amount due for settlement K12 A& 2 BE&EE 28
after 12 months 1,527 -
As at 31 March 2022, the effective incremental borrowing rate RZEBE-_—_F+-_A=1+—H » B
was 10%. EERMERI0% o
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
Number of
ordinary shares
at HK$0.01
each '000 HK$'000
ZRREAE
BREE
0.018 7T
TR FAT
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 R-ZZE-_ZTFMAB—H
and 31 March 2022 —E_—f=ZA=+—H "
ZEZ-FMA—-HK
—E-__F=/A=1+—H 10,000,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid: BRTRARE

At 1 April 2020 RZZE-_ZEFMA—H 1,058,186 10,582

Placement of new shares (note (i) & F R, (BT EEG) 211,600 2,116
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

27. B (&)

Number of

ordinary shares

at HK$0.01
each '000 HK$'000

ERREE

BREE

0.018 71
TR FET

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZBE--—5=A=+—H8

k—Z2-—FWA—H 1,269,786 12,698

Rights issue (note (ii)) B (B &£ (1)) 634,893 6,349

Placing of new shares (note {iii)) fie & #AR 17 (B &3 Giii)) 380,900 3,809

At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—H 2,285,579 22,856

All shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the then RENDEBTHOMERMRETEES

existing shares in all respects. ReRAERNDERRF TEIS:& g

Notes: M T -

(i) On 23 December 2020, an aggregate number of 211,600,000 new (i) R—ZZE-F % +—A=-—+=Z8H: & H#
ordinary shares were issued at subscription price of HK$0.101 each 211,600,000% 7 & i I% 1% 38 & & & A%0.101
to the independent third parties of the Company at gross proceeds BLETTARRBYE=T * FMHFHE
of approximately HK$21.4 million, and related directly attributable mEAORNABEEET  HEBEREMER
expenses of approximately HK$0.96 million. S BOEBE T -

(i)  The Company has raised gross proceeds of approximately (i) ARFAUEREAZBEERKRERER
HK$127.0 million before expenses by way of a rights issue of up to FAR AR H0.2/8 TR E R IR N L 8% B BT 5
634,892,864 Rights Shares at a price of HK$0.2 per Rights Share on MR xﬁﬁﬂx o AT % — (1) B A 1
the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every two (2) existing Shares 2 B AEE AT i 634,892,864 1% AR AR 10 &
held by the Qualifying Shareholders on the Record Date. i@j)ﬁ RIEEEA127.08 S8 T (BRFA

RI) °
The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue are approximately HERMERERENH1270888 T - #
HK$127.0 million and the net proceeds from the Rights Issue, after BPTEFIEFE (ERaEAE RER
deducting the underwriting commission and all other relevant ZHAEHMBBERX) M4 R12408 8
expenses for the Rights Issue, are estimated to be approximately B e HFBHRARRBRA-T-_—F
HK$124.0 million. Details are set out in the Company's hTAM@MA - :?:_ifﬁﬂﬂ'ma -
announcements dated 4 May 2021, 14 May 2021, 28 May 2021, 25 E-_—FAA=-+N\B - ZE=—FXH
June 2021 and 19 July 2021. Z+RARZEZ—FEATABZRAE -

(i) On 18 October 2021, the Placing Agents and the Company entered iy RZT=Z—F+A+N\HB EEREHR
into the Placing Agreement pursuant to which the Placing Agents ARABIYEERRE Bt EBER
agreed to place, on a best effort basis, up to 380,900,000 Placing BRZNANBEMEFAMBEAERT D
Shares to currently expected not less than six Placees who are RARERBUB=ZFZ2EAREARERS
Independent Third Parties. 380,900,000% Al & A% 17 °
A total of 380,900,000 Placing Shares have been successfully placed & #£380,900,000/% B & & 15 2 K I e & T
to not less than six Placees (who are individual, corporate and/or TORRNEEBEA (BREREA - RAR
institutional investors), who and whose ultimate beneficial owner(s) Ve BEEE)  MASEBEARH&
are Independent Third Parties. The net proceeds from the Placing, REGHEBEANORBIYE=T - BMBMR
after deducting all related costs, commission and expenses, EHBEKAEA A kBR®R KEFHAE
amount to approximately HK$56.6 million, which is intended to be ZHSFIBFRAMNS6AE BT - L
utilised for the general working capital of the Group and future REAR % EAG RARA TR
investment opportunities as may be identified from time to time. ez R B FBEHNARQAH
Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 18 BR_Z A+tNBRZZEZ=Z—%
October 2021 and 8 November 2021. +—AN °
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T -FSASt-ALFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &

28.

154

22T

RESERVES 28. fw#tR
COMPANY ENNG
Investment
Share  Shareholder's Deemed  revaluation Share option  Accumulated
premium  contribution  contribution reserve reserves losses Total
RHEE RETE REERE REEMEE BRERR it HR @it
HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TER TER TERL TER TER TERL
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 - EZR=t+-H
R-Z-%F¥MA-H 372,760 10,934 - (75,676) - (277,767) 30,251
Loss for the year KEEER S S S S = (15,628) (15,628)
Other comprehensive income B2 AN
Change in fair value of financial assets ~ BATEFALEM2E
at FVTOC VERECHBREL
ATESH - - - 2359 - - 2359
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2ANERE = = = 2,359 = (15,628) (13,269)
Transfer of loss on disposal of financial ~ BB HERATEAK
asset at fair value through other Ef2EMARE N
comprehensive income to retained BRENEREREETN
eamings - - - 72,761 - (72,761) -
Placing of new shares REMRR 18,204 = = = = = 18,294
At 31 March 2021 RZFZ-F=A=1-H 391,054 10,934 - (556) - (366,156) 35,276
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - (40,257) (40,257)
Other comprehensive income B 2ENE
Change in fair value of financial assets ~ ZATEFAELMZE
at FV10C WERBHBEEL
ATEEY - - - 50 - - 50
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2HMEEE = = = 50 = (40,257) (40,207)
Transfer of loss on disposal of financial ~ BB L ERATEF AR
asset at fair value through other Ef2EMERE NS
comprehensive income to retained BENBREREET
earnings - - - 506 - (506) -
Deemed contribution arising from BEHBARFERENS
imputed interests on amounts due EXMBETE
from subsidiaries - - (3,385) - - - (3,385)
Rights issue 1R 120,629 - - - - - 120,629
Rights issuance expenses HREX (3,051) - - - - - (3,051)
Placing of new shares REMKRSR 53,326 S = = S S 53,326
New share placement expenses HROEERS (918) - = - - = (918)
Recognition of equity settled-share BREGEGIRA K
based payment = = = = 12,812 = 12,812
Lapse of vested share option EGBERELN = S S = (1,246) 1,246 S
Subscriptions received from share option  REBRER B A2 BE
holders - - = - 8,021 - 8,021
At 31 March 2022 RZB-Z%=A=1-H 561,040 10,934 (3,385) - 19,587 (405,673) 182,503
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28.

29.

RESERVES (continued)

The following describes the nature and purpose of each

reserve within owners’ equity:

Reserve

]

-

FZA=+—HLFE

28. f#fE (&)
DTAUBEAARXANSHEIHEER
B &)~ it

Description and purpose

LKk BB

Share premium
Bt 4 (B

Shareholders’ contribution
REHE
Investment revaluation reserve

REEMGMHE

Exchange reserve
PE 5 R 1

Share option reserve

B

Accumulated losses

RETEE

Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

RERAEBL®EE -

Contribution arisen from a financial guarantee by shareholders on 20
January 2020. \
BRR-_ZF_ZF-A-_THENMBERELNHLE -

Gains/losses arising on recognising financial assets classified as
financial assets at FVTOCI at fair value.

R A FESHBEERR I BRARAFEFAEREMEE KRR
ZHBEEMEE 2 W, BE -

Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign
operations into presentation currency.

)
W2 ERENREBNEBEEFEMEE 2 W BE

Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share options
to the employees over the vesting period and subscription monies
received from option holders in respect of which shares have not yet
been issued.

57 8 HA R ) (8 B % B R HE R R A S K A i R B AT O AL
BRER A AW RIEE -

Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

RIBaE R Z R RBEFE -

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) and terminated the previous share option scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an annual
general meeting of the Company held on 28 December 2018
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors,
eligible employees and consultants, and the scheme will
expire on 27 December 2028. Under the Scheme, the board
of directors of the Company may, at its discretion and on
such terms as it may think fit, grant to parties including any
employee, director, consultant or advisor of any member of
the Group options to subscribe for shares in the Company
at a price determined by the Board and shall be at least the
higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
on the grant date : (i) the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant : and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on
the date of grant. Options granted must be taken up within
21 days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made,
upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised
at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant.

29.

BRAESHE
RER-_F-NF+_A=-+N\BEfT
ZARBBRFBAFRE LBBHNEBR
mE - ARFDRMA —ABERESSS
([%&T&)) WRIESTATH BB ST &) -
IZEAERNES  FEREBREMIE
HER - ZFAEER T -_NF+_A
“+tBEH - RIEZFE - ARAFE
ZFEURBLRERBEENGR - [
B (BRASEEAKXENEFES
B BERIEARAA) BHARBAR
AIRDNBERE  BEROHEFTSETE
VYTRERELROARABRODER L BN
WiE: NEXXLBEHATA@ELEER
ZRHFEHETE  RG)VARRBRG
REHBEHcHE (UBRSERE) -
RHBREANBELHENZA (BFEZA)
E2AARAEX - LREHEBRE M
BT - BREAIREZSEETNHEA
BERSTTE - BFAFEBREBMETF o
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29.

FZA=+—HLFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

29. BRREFE &)

The following table discloses movements of the Company'’s
share options granted under the Scheme during the year

TREBENREBE_Z

——®#=ZRA=+-—

AIEFERETEROOAR R BRE

ended 31 March 2022: 2B
Number of share options
BREHE
Granted and
Exercise At accepted Exercised Lapsed At
price 1 April during during during 31 March
Category Date of grant Exercise period per share 2021 the year the year the year 2022
RZB=-F ERRA RZB-ZF
£ RLAH L3 BRITEE MmA-H R ERHK FR4¥ =ZA=1-8
Non-executive directors 2 August 2021 3 August 2021 to 2 August 2024 HK$0.5 - 52,931,142 - - 52,931,142
*u1ES “2--%/\AZH T_-£)\A=HE BT
“E-mENRZH
Independent non-executive directors 2 August 201 3 August 2021 to 2 August 2024 HK$0.5 - 3,528,740 - (882,185) 2,646,555
BUKHIES “2--5/\AZH “E--%¥\RZRHZ BT
“E-mENAZA
Employees 2 August 2021 3 August 2021 to 2 August 2024 HK$0.5 - 10,586,220 - (1,764,370) 8,821,850
EE —E2--%/\AZH Z$--%\RZHE oy
“E-AENAZRA
Consultants 2 August 2021 3 August 2021 to 2 August 2024 HK$0.5 - 12,350,597 - (10,586,227) 1,764,310
B “E2--¥\AZH ZE2--%/\R=HE B
“Z-mENAZH
Non-executive directors 7 January 2022 8 January 2022 to 7 January 2025 HK$0.068 - 90,460,000 (32,960,000) - 57,500,000
FATER ZEZZE-A4H ZZ-Z5-BNBZ B
“2-n%-AtH
Independent non-executive directors 7 January 2022 8 January 2022 to 7 January 2025 HK$0.068 - 4,000,000 - S 4,000,000
BUFHTES “Z--%-H+A ZZ--5-F)\BE B
“T-R%-AtA
Employees 7 January 2022 8 January 2022 to 7 January 2025 HK$0.068 - 64,700,000 (63,700,000) (1,000,000) -
E& “E--%-A+A 2 RZE BT
-AtA
Consultant 7 January 2022 8 January 2022 to 7 January 2025 HK$0.068 - 21,290,000 (21,290,000) - -
B ZEZZE-A4H ZZ-Z5-BNBZ BT
“E-R5-AtH
Total @ - 29846699 (1179500000  (14232782) 127663917

The number and weighted average exercise price of the share

options exercisable and not yet exercised at the end of the

reporting period are 127,663,917 and HK$0.2919 respectively.
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29.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share
options outstanding at the end of the reporting period is 2.55
years (2021: Nil).

The total number of securities available for issue under
the share option scheme as at 31 March 2022 in respect of
outstanding share options granted but not yet exercised was
127,663,917 shares which represented 5.59% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2022. During
the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has received
subscriptions monies from share option holders amounted
to approximately HK$8,021,000 upon their exercises of the
share options held by them for subscriptions of 117,950,000
ordinary shares of the Company. The share allotment for
the subscriptions of these 117,950,000 ordinary shares is
completed on 14 April 2022.

On 2 August 2021 and 7 January 2022, the Company issued
equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors
and grantees as encouragement. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of
non marketbased vesting conditions) at the date of grant.
No vesting condition was imposed and the share options
were exercisable immediately on grant date. The fair value of
the equity-settled share-based payments were determined
as at the date of grant and recognised as expenses when
the share options were accepted by the grantees. The total
estimated fair value of the share options was HK$12,812,280,
which had been expensed in profit or loss and credited in the
share option reserve during the year. The following significant
assumptions were used to derive the fair value using the
Binomial option pricing model:

1. an expected volatility range of 89.79 and 105.72 per
cent, respectively;

2. expected annual dividend yield range equal to zero;

3. the estimated expected life of the options granted
during the year is 3 years; and

4. the quoted risk free rate with expected life of 3 years
were 0.2 and 0.95 per cent, respectively, which are
adopted to calculate the fair value of share options
grant on 2 August 2021 and 7 January 2022.

29.

BRERE (2
PR A HI R R 17 2 18 AR HE 2 0 4 35 7
BRENFERR266F (ZFT=_—F : &) -

R-ZBE-—F=A=+—H8 - BIR#E:
BETHERBERITENEITEIING
% 1 T 31T 2 7B 5 BB R127,663,917
Ry - HMERARTIR B -__F=
A=+—HB 2B BTRAS9% - B 2
TE-_F=ZA=Z=+—HIEEE K
RARERERSEATEESEBEZER
REEZEEREERERAEAZCRERE
478,021,000 7T © LA 52 B8117,950,0004%
KARL@K - 3R E % %117,950,000
BEBR2BMEER_Z=__FH A
+PUHTK °

RZE-_—FNAZBR T __F—
BtH  ARAMEBETESERERAE
HEZEEURNDNRIEAEE - #x
HEURODARAKRLE ABRZQFER
ETEREUNETSEER BB GG
28  c iEMmEEEBEY - W
ERETREL B BPRIETE - #Ex
HEEUROERZAFERREBSHE
o UREBRAZENBERESERSH
X FRN BRECHAEAFELEE
12,812,280 L E RIBm A 8 - WET A
BREREE TR _BAPETEERER
AEATEREHEAUNTERBR

1. BEHKIE®E D R R8ITI% K
105.72%

2. BHEREFXHBLEMRFINT

3. FAEKHUBREFEFHAIF
K

4, MHER-_ZE-_—ENAZBHER=
T _F-RARtHABRNERES
ANEEMRMNETFHAIFZE
2 & F & 5 Bl £20.2% 5% 0.95% ©

15/
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29.

30.

31.

158

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The volatility assumption, measured at the standard deviation
of expected share price returns, is based on a statistical
analysis of daily share prices over the last three years for the
share options grant on 2 August 2021 and 7 January 2022.

The Binomial option pricing model requires the input of
highly subjective assumptions. As changes in subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimated,
in the Directors’ opinion, the existing model does not
necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value
of the share options.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the net
assets included in the consolidated statement of financial
position of approximately HK$224,016,000 (2021: net assets of
HK$49,331,000) and the number of ordinary shares in issue as
at 31 March 2022, being 2,285,578,593 (2021: 1,276,071,797, as
adjusted for the bonus element of the rights issue of shares
completed on 20 July 2021).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Compensation of key management personnel, including
the directors and other members of key management,
during the year is as follows:

29.

30.

31.

B ESTE ()
BEMGHEREL R EEREFE 2N
BREDAZZE-_—FNAZBHRZ-Z
T F—AtHEHRHEEREBE=FF
BREZHRFTDOMBELE -

—HEAHREEEREAERBASETE
SRR BEROERKE - AREIES
ABREEAEEHATERBTERE
AEE  HMEFRRAAEARLARE
HASE-—FEBREAFEZNE -

BREERE

EREEFERTAREGUBERIKZ
& EEE(E #9224,016,0008 T (Z & = —
F 0 B EF 849,331,000 7T) B AW =
T - FZAZ+—HZBETER
A% 8% H2,285578,5930% (= & — — 4F :
127607179788 - 8 =T = —F £ H
“HHEERZHEBRANMIEDAE) HE

BREALXRS
) FTEEBAB (BREERAME
ZEBAR) FAMESOT :

2022 2021
—E-- —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT

Salaries, allowances and e EMHK
benefits in kind EWHE 1,685 952
Share-based payment R = 8,364 =

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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31.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

BEALRES (£)

During the year, the Group entered into the following b) FARA - > AEEZBEBAEALTFTIZA
transactions with related parties: RS
2022 2021
—E-- —E-—%F
Name of related party Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
BMEATER REME TER FHAT
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Investment manager fee
Limited ("ESHK") (Note i) 160 -
BAES (BE) BRAA REKEER
(MEXREH]) (M)
Yang Xiaogiu (Note ii) Shareholder’s contribution - 1,200
BB (B aEii) RELIE
Han Zhenghai (Note iii) Shareholder’s contribution = 7,966

8 1E8 (Y 3Eiii)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

The annual investment manager's fee payable to ESHK
is HK$480,000 (2021: Nil). The investment management
agreement is effective from 1 December 2021. The
investment management agreement between the Company
and China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited has been
terminated with effect from 6 January 2020.

On 20 January 2020, the former Chairman of the Group,
who was also a shareholder of the Company, issued a Deed
of Indemnity to the Group. On 15 March 2021, the former
Chairman transferred the obligation under the deed of
indemnity to the new board chairman. The details of which
are detailed in note 21(c).

On 15 March 2021, the new chairman of the Group, who is
also a shareholder of the Company, accepted the transfer
of obligation under the deed of indemnity from the former
Chairman. The details of which are detailed in note 21(c).

(ii)

(iii)

BERNEBABHAZ2EREAKEERA
480,000 T (ZZE=Z—F : Z) - HEE
i@Tﬁz’mﬁé_?_*ﬁ‘!’ H B LR -
ARNREPRENEAKES (HF) GRAQA
MNREE @Tﬁ]u#ﬁa557777¢ A7/~B
AR IE o

RZZTEZZTF—A=Z+H ' A5EHXF
(FABEARRRRE) MA%EBR L HER
B -RZTZ—F=A+HB ' fExRE
HREZBRBTHNESERTHESE X
& oo HBEERME210 -

R-ZTE-_—F=ZA+HA AEENHE
B RARARIRE) BMBE A EEEE
E’\JEMWQ ZEETHER - BAFBEER
M 3E21(c)
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32.

33.

160

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group has participated in a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all eligible employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of
the Group (the employer) and its employees makes monthly
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. The contributions from each of the
employer and employees are subject to a maximum
contribution of HK$1,500 (2021: HK$1,500) per month with
effective from 1 June 2014 and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated income
statement amounted to approximately HK$108,000 (2021:
approximately HK$69,000), representing contributions
payable to the MPF Scheme by the Group in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2022.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of reporting period, the minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases for leased premise
which were not recognised as right-of-use assets were
payable as follow:

32.

33.

RAKBR T

AEEZRBAGERTE S EGORMH
BERERBAREZ2BTHRMHABRH ML
NELFE ([RESE]) - #ES
AEZEERAREZEESR - BE
AAZHZESRE - REZXFE - K

5FAMBBERAEELHR - BZF
—mHFEANA—HE BXIREEEBZ
HAZSREFR1508T (ZT-—F:
15008 7L) @ MERZHKEERE - W&
R BRI D R EFE R A Z K -

TR A W E R 2 M F 4R EE 49108,000
BIL (ZEZ—F : #69,0008 7T) © 38
AEERBEE-_E-_—_F=A=1+—8H
IFFEEMRES T & 2 f#E5R -

REHERE
RBEHR - RETTHELEHEN
HENME (YERRARERAREE) BN
ZREBRSKREBENLT

2022 2021

—E-CHE —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTEx TET

Within one year —FR - 79

Annual Report £ ¥ 2022



China Investment Development Limited » f B % & 1 2 B R A A)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

Forthe yearended 31 March 202 B ZE T - —_F=A=+—HILFE

Annual Report & § 2022

34. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 4. RZE=-Z—F=A=+—HEZRAT
FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2021 BN &
2022 2021
—E-- —E—%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 TR FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
Non-current assets EkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE = 13
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZIRE 781 781
Amounts due from subsidiaries = NEIE 33,026 =
Other financial assets at amortised cost BEHRAFTEZHM
MBEE 64,200 =
98,007 794
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit A F{E AEEZEE
or loss LHBEE 34,038 28,717
Other receivables, deposits and HiEWHRE  Ee Rk
prepayments SEENE @2 36,933 125
Other financial assets at amortised cost REEKAGTE 2 E M
BEE 41,249 =
Amount due from the shareholder JiE U j% 3R 308 949 7,713
Amounts due from subsidiaries = NGIE @] = 7,323
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBEeEEY 2,192 8,480
115,361 52,358
Current liabilities B EE
Other payables and accrued charges HtENFBELETER 7,985 5,178
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE 15 BT B A R FRA 24 -
8,009 5,178
Net current assets REBEEFE 107,352 47,180
Net assets BEEFE 205,359 47,974
EQUITY B &=
Share capital f& 27 22,856 12,698
Reserves #1E 28 182,503 35,276
Total equity B ERE 205,359 47 974
On behalf of the directors RRE=SE
Han Zhenghai CHAN Yiu Pun Clement
BIEE PR R M
Director Director
EZE EZE
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35. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 35. BEHES WM BEERVKAE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BE
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair TRINTHMFUNFTAEAREB M BEE
values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities as defined MBEZERERATE :
in note 4(q):
2022 2021
—E-- —E-—%F
Carrying Carrying
amount  Fair value amount  Fair value

REE AFE FREE AFE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR T TAT TAT

Financial assets: BBEE:
Financial assets at fair value through B AFEFH AT HEMEE
other comprehensive income WREB L WBEE
— Unlisted equity securities —FLTRAESR 4,297 4,297 9,416 9,416
Financial assets at fair value through R FE AEB R E
profit or loss HBEE

— Investments in convertible bonds - RERATBRKRES 16,280 16,280 9,749 9,749

- Listed equity securities — EABRAES 17,758 17,758 18,715 18,715

— Financial guarantee - WHER - - 253 253

Financial assets measured at amortised R HEK AN EZH B E

costs 3

— Other receivables and deposits paid — H b U FIE & B 1 1%

i 39,237 39,237 2 2

— Amount due from shareholder — EWRREZE 949 949 7,713 7,713

— Promissory notes - EHERE 105,449 105,449 = =

- Cash and cash equivalents - HekREEEYD 51,574 51,574 8,504 8,504

Financial liabilities HHaE

Financial liabilities measured REHKATEZ

at amortised cost BikaE 8,082 8,082 5,178 5,178

The following table provides an analysis of financial TRINTERATFEZRE D AR TFET

instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy: BZHBEITASN :

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F—H: HRAEESEBZERMER
identical assets or liabilities; B CREHE)

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within E_M& - BE¥ (BIER) skEE (XA
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, BR)WEEXBBEZAHE
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. WABUE - MIEE-—RAEE
derived from prices); and WwmE R

Level 3:  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based B=ZH: WHEERATBETSHEENE

on observable market data (unobservable inputs). EXBEZHASE (TR &
R ANEE) -
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35.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

35. BERBS 2 HMBEERMBEE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (continued) BE #)
2022
—EZCF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—R B E=ZR wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET THET FERT
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAEEMEE
other comprehensive income MERBECHKEE
— Private equity securities - EREE S - = 4,297 4,297
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEFAEEZEE
profit or loss ZHBEE
- Listed equity securities - FTRAES 17,758 = = 17,758
— Investments in convertible bonds - RERATBRERES - = 16,280 16,280
17,758 - 20,577 38,335
2021
—E-—%F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—HR B F=H Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAEEMEE
other comprehensive income MERBECHKEE
— Private equity securities -LEREZESH = = 9,416 9,416
Financial assets at fair value through A FEFAEEZEE
profit or loss ZHBEE
- Listed equity securities - FTRAES 18,715 = = 18,715
— Investments in convertible bonds - RERATBRERES = = 9,749 9,749
- Financial guarantee - B ER - = 253 253
18,715 - 19,418 38,133
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35.

164

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (continued)
Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value
based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as
follows:

35. RERES 2 MBEERMKEAR
BE @)
REEATTREHARE (F=H) U
AVEFIENSBTAZHENT :

Financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive income:
Investments in unlisted

Financial assets at fair

value through profit
or loss: Investments in
convertible bonds and

financial guarantee equity securities Total
BATEITA
BATEIA EH2E
EREREY KEREL
BBEE: HBEE:
RU#RES RELTRE
REREBER E5RE At
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk iR T
At 1 April 2021 R-F--%¥EA-A 10,002 9,416 19,418
Disposal i3 - (50) (50)
Shareholder contribution RRIE (264) . (264)
Total gain/loss) Br%/ (BE)
- in profit or loss (note a) -REE (W) 6,542 5 6,542
- in other comprehensive income (note b) -RERZENE (Hib) - (5,069) (5,069)
At 31 March 2022 R-F-_%=A=1+-H 16,280 4,297 20577
Gain recognised in profit or loss relating to financial RAEERRERRLERE
instruments held by the Group at the end of reporting ~ FTi B TERBET
date B §Y 6,542 - 6,542
At 1 April 2020 RZZ-TENA-A 26,806 8,593 35,399
Disposal & 7.713) (2478) (10,191)
Shareholder contribution RRTE (1,200 - (1,200
Total gain/loss) BrER/ (BE)
- in profit or loss (note a) -REE (Hia) (7.89) - (7.89)
- in other comprehensive income (note b) -REM2ENE (Fib) S 3,301 3,301
At 31 March 2021 R-B--%=A=+-H 10,002 9416 19,418
Loss recognised in profit or loss relating to financial AAEERRERBLERE
instruments held by the Group at the end of reporting ~ FI A B TERB&T
date BALER 7.891) - 7.891)
Notes: B EE -
(a) Included in the change in fair value of and net realised gain/(loss) (a) FARATFEFAEBREEBZMEEE
on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL. ANFEZEZHREERATFESALER
BEZHBEEZEE B kE/ (BE)
FEE o
(b) Included in the OCl related to investment revaluation. (b) AAFBEREEGRZEMEEKE
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. BIEREEEEREEK

AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include equity
investments, promissory notes, other receivables, other
payables and borrowing. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies applied by the
Group to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

Except for the cash and cash equivalents which carry
floating interest rate, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets or liabilities with floating rates. The
Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis

Assuming the balance at 31 March 2022 was the amount
for the whole year, if the interest rate on cash and cash
equivalents was 50 basis points higher or lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's loss for the
year ended 31 March 2022 would decrease or increase by
HK$257,870 (2021: decrease or increase by HK$42,520).

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations.

AEBTFEVBEIABRERARE - &
REE - HMEERE - AR KA
igE - 2E5UBITAZFBERBBN
ARE -  ARAZFUHEIAZARREAR
SEANRBZEFRRZBREINWMT -
EREERAFARNERER AR

LS EEE -

MRER

BRRELBASFEMANIBN R BI
AEBYEBEMATHHNERGFREZEX
MEEEXAE - AEERAREER
EREXRFEDHBIRNMSHNREF -

BREDN
BRER-_ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—HZ&E&
DEFEZRE  WHRaEESEED
R EFsl TRRSOMES - mATE EM
BHERFTE  AAEEHZE-_T -
FZA=Z+T—HLEFEZEBEBEBR DK
1 257,870 L (Z 2 = —F Bk
#N42,520/8 7T) °

4B L B

REBMEBBRARE  AXXREZEHER
ZHONERR - ER X ERBRREARE
(TAR®]) - SNERBRK B BINER
ZARBERS  EBIAEENRBEN
REEFE -
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  36. B REMBEEEZEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency AEEREMEDHUINEAENEE
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the respective EEMBEREENT !
reporting dates are as follows:

2022 2021
—E-CHE B
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FAT
Assets BE
Other financial assets at amortised cost UIARBHEREEKNAGTEL
denominated in RMB HtwM & E 105,449 =
Other receivables and deposits paid VAN R¥EGHE < H it e W 5R0B I
denominated in RMB BEftRe 36,795 -
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in UMARBHEZHE KRS
RMB EEY 47,386 6
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36.

AND POLICIES (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5%
increase/decrease in RMB against the Hong Kong dollars, the
effects on the loss for the year is as follows:

M¥EREEEERBE (2

HREDSH
TRINTMAREEBILIAE B E%H
REREBEBRZEZHREIN

Impact of RMB

AR¥ZEE
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHAT
Decrease/increase in loss for the year AEEBBRLD EM 9,482 471

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
investments in convertible bonds, investments in PRC unlisted
equity securities and investments in Hong Kong listed equity
securities, which were classified as either financial assets at
FVTOCI (note 20) or financial assets at FVTPL (note 21) on
the consolidated statement of financial position. To manage
its price risk arising from investments in financial assets, the
Group diversified its portfolio.

B A (E 45 ER
AREBAZBEANERRR - JIRERE
EUMBRARKRFDBR/EBEAFESAL
Hivr 2 sE 2 2 M5 EE (FFE20)
FRAFEFAEEREREZMBEE
(ffaE21) 2 AT iR B/ E - PEIFELE
MEAESRERNRE L LMRAE S
BRE - REEREMBKEEMELZE
RER  AKBOHMEKREMAS -
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36.

168

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
(2021: 5%) change in the fair value of the financial assets with
all other variables held constant and based on their carrying
value amounts at the end of the reporting period.

Impact of investments in

convertible bonds

RETERESZHTE

2022
—E-CE
HK$'000

—E--%

36. BRAREEEEREE (£)

HRED I (F)
TERRAEMBERMBEHEFTTEZE
AT REFBEERNRERRZER
EcHBEAE 2FEEEHH (=F
— 5 5%) ZHURE o

Impact of financial assets Impact of investment
at fair value through other in Hong Kong listed equity
comprehensive income securities

BATEGAEEMEARER

ByRBEESE REBLTRERSNREYE

2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
“E-CF “E--F “E-CE —E--%

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TiEx TEL TER TiEn AR T
Increase/decrease in loss for the year AEEEBEEN/ AP 814 487 5 = 888 936
Increase/decrease in other equity reserve EtEREELN/ B = - 215 499 - -
Credit risk FERR

None of the Group's financial assets are secured by collateral
or other credit enhancement.

The credit risk for bank deposits and balances is considered
negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with
high quality external credit ratings.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has a systematic
internal credit management policy, which includes both credit
and risk management and collection management.

Before placing an investment in a debt instrument or an
advance to a counterparty, the Group conducts a credit
risk assessment on each of the counterparties, including
assessing the potential credit quality, defining credit limits
and calculating the interest rate by considering the underlying
financial risks. The Group subsequently performs on-going
review on the recoverable amount of each individual
financial assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate derecognition process are made for any
irrecoverable amounts and impairment loss under ECL model
is recognised for future potential loss.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. BiIEREBEEREEK &)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) FERK (&)
The Group uses the following benchmarks to perform internal AEBFRAATEERTEREERER
credit risk grading and impairment assessment under ECL RATET 2 AEE & E 2 &F & &R E &
model: (G
Level of credit risk Benchmarks ECL assessment requirement
FERBKF BEE RHMEEBEFEER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default 12-month ECL

and does not have any past-due amounts
Ve RGEFHENRREEREEAABNNE 12/ BHEEERE
Watch list The counterparty has amounts past-due but ~ 12-month ECL

is continuously settling after due date and
with continuous business transactions with

the Group
BREAE ZEHEERR MXZEFRIHAREE

BEER YEAKEBELETEERS

Doubtful There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or
externally resources while the counterparty
is with continuous business transactions
with the Group

] &t BEBABEXRZERSSINBER  EERAR
BYEBREBAZEN EXZHFRAR
BIBEETEBRS

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

18 EEBRREECRLAGERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the

debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

s BEEBRNEBABARENMEEZHEE K
SEYEEZEREH KAWL AEBREA

128 ARBEEREE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

2HMBEHEERR - YEEERE

Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired

2HBEHEEBR - EERE

Amount is written off

s A BE SR
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  36. M RMEEBRZRBUR (£)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) FERK (&)
Gross carrying amount
FEAE
External Internal 12-month or
Notes  creditrating ~ credit rating Lifetime ECL 2022 2021
EREES
W7 HBEETR ABEEIR AHEEESR ZE-CE —T--F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER
Other financial asset at amortised REER RS2 EMY 18 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 109,119 -
cost BEE TER EER NEAEHESHE
Amounts due from the shareholder MR F0B 23 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 949 7713
TER BERR VEABHEEESE
Other receivables and deposits paid ~ EfEUFERER RS 2 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 42,545 2
TER EER NEAEHESHE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL 30,167 61,567
TER g  2HESEEESR
Cash at banks BIRE 2 AAT-AA3 Low risk 12-month ECL 51,574 8,504
EER NEAEHESHE
234,354 77,786

In term of collection management, the Group monitors the
repayment against the pre-determined repayment terms and
considers to take and conducts these actions to recover the
overdue receivables in a default event:

()  To negotiate with the counterparty, understand their
financial position and plan for debt restructuring, if
necessary;

(i) Toissue legal letter to the counterparty as a warning;

(i)  To appoint external debt collection agency to recover
the debt against the counterparty; and

(iv) To take legal actions against the counterparty to collect
the overdue receivable.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Although the Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover the credit risk, the directors of
the Company consider these internal control policies could
effectively manage the Group's credit risk.

The Group's credit risk exposure is primarily attributable to its
financial assets at amortised cost, including promissory notes,
other receivables, deposits paid and cash at bank.

The credit risk on other financial assets at amortised cost is
arisen from the promissory notes issued by certain unlisted
companies in PRC. The Group's investment strategy is to
balance the credit risk and return by investing in medium
risk corporate promissory notes. These corporate promissory
notes are always lacking of independent and public
recognised credit ratings available, as such, management
of the Company carried out additional credit and risk
management policy against these investments:

(@) To review and monitor the portfolio, financial
performance and financial positions of these unlisted
companies on regular basis; and

(b) To prepare impairment review under ECL model
by using historical repayment record and past due
information to consider whether the credit risk changed
since initial recognition.
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36. BRAREEEEREE (£)

FERR (&)
BEASETERSETAEAFmKEMW
EREBRNEEEERR -  ARARES
RR - ZEABEFEEIAREEAR
SENEERR -

AEENEERRIERS RZEHEK
AAEZWHEE  BRERARLRE - H
KR - ENRERRITERESE -

BBHEKAHEZRMOYBEEZEE
RBREETHEE LT R R ETHA
RER - AKENRERBEBERE
hERBRARALRE - LWEIEER
BREHBNFE - ZFRAALEER
FREZBILRARNEEFNL - Bt
ARPEREBUREREBTHRING
ErEBREERSEK

@ TEHRTMEEZFHELTAAN
BREMEG » MBRALMBENR
K

() BBEBBERKDGRAHEHR
1RIE B B S R R TR R -
BLE S B R WA B R U SR 2
TREBL -
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36.

172

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group has
recognised the expected credit loss on financial assets at
amortised cost as follows:

36.

M¥EREEEERBE (2

FEERRK (&)
BE_ET-_—_H#RkR_ZET=-—F=A
ZT—HLEFE @ ~&EEBRIEEH
KAGFECHBEEZBREEBEN
T~

12 month-ECL 12 month-ECL  Lifetime ECL Total
Other financial ~ 12fEA#EH 2HEHEE
assets at FEFB BB @
amortised cost
128 AREE
EFBREH Other receivables and
BAGTEZHE deposits paid
hEEEE HttEKREREFES
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B
As at 1 April 2020 RZE-ZENA-H - - 61,579 61,579
Expected credit losses recognised ~ BHERZ BHEEER = = 491 491
Expected credit losses reversed BROzBEHEEEE = = (503) (503)
As at 31 March 2021 and R-B--£=ZA=+-RHK
1 April 2021 “¥--fQNA-H - - 61,567 61,567
Expected credit losses recognised ~BHERZEHEEFR 3,670 3,308 = 6,978
Expected credit losses reversed BEEREHEERBE - = (31,400) (31,400)
As at 31 March 2022 R-—B-Z-f=ZA=t-H 3,670 3,308 30,167 37,145

The Group writes off a financial assets at amortised cost
when there is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Other than that, taking into consideration that there is no
default payment noted in the previous repayment history of
the debtors and adequate impairment assessment under ECL
model performed, the directors of the Company consider the
credit risk on these other financial assets at amortised cost
held by the Group is manageable.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. BiIEREBEEREEK &)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk REE & R

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors REBRHECRRMNE - AEEEE
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed THFHEBEERRAK IR GRS S
adequate by the management to finance the Group's EYKFE  UAKAEEXRBLERHESR
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash T YRERESRERBZTE - 3L
flows. With regard to 2020 and thereafter, the liquidity of Z_TERHEEmNE  AEB2ZRHE
the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain TFEMARBEEXRBEBTHRE R
adequate cash flow from operations and to raise funds EUNRERBETEEETRNEEE R
through issue and placement of new shares to meet its debt AR EB B R RN EERAE 28N -

obligations as they fall due.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the AEBERBERRIHMBARBINHEBER
end of reporting period is as follows: mE
Total Within second
Carrying  undiscounted Within one year to fifth years
amount cash flows  or on demand inclusive
AR E-ERER
REE RERBLE -FAARER (BREERMEF)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT THT THT THT
As at 31 March 2022 i ———
=RA=+-H
Other payables and accrued H A & FOE R EE
charges BH 8,082 8,122 8,122 =
Lease liabilities HERE 3,564 3,885 2,331 1,554
As at 31 March 2021 R-BE-—F
=RA=+-H
Other payables and accrued Hib 5B R ER
charges £8 5,178 5,178 5,178 =
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37.

38.

174

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Group's objectives of managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as debts divided by equity attributable to owners
of the Company. Debts included amount due to former
director and bond holder as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period was as
follows:

37.

ESEERE
AEBzEeEBBRDRERAEERE
FERLE  UARREROBLSEM
BamAATKNGD  ARBEFRESR
REBABEERKAER » SERFHAER
BEARGERE  AEEATHERARRIKMNZ
BEeE  MRREMER - HITHK
MREEEENREBY -

AEBHAMRAEMRE B REEAR
BUERB/ERERER L RTINUE
BRARBDHEEABREEZNE - &R
EMBRAKRAT  EHEEEMNAE
EREFHHEARE -

RBERR - EERBLERMOT :

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHT THET

Debts &% 2,694 N/AT 3 A

Equity attributable to owners of KARIEBEARMGER

the Company 224,016 49,331

Gearing ratio BEBELX 1.2% N/AT i A
EFFECT OF COVID-19 38. MIERENEE

Since January 2020, the outbreak of Novel Coronavirus
(“COVID-19") has dealt a big blow on the global business
environment. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the Group applies fair value to measure its
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income and fair value through profit or loss. In the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, fair values of the Group's
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss suffered
from fluctuations due to the COVID-19 outbreak. The
development and spread of COVID-19 subsequent to the
date of this report may result in further changes in economic
conditions arising thereof which may have negative impact on
the financial results of the Group, the extent of which could
not be estimated as at the date of this report. The Group will
keep monitoring to the situation of the COVID-19 and react
actively to its impact on the financial position and operating
results of the Group.
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39.

40.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 6 April 2022, the Company entered into the following
agreements: (A) the Wole Agreement with Zheng Hongping
(BB 4T 5 ) (the “Wole Vendor”) in respect of the acquisition
of 100% of Lanzhou Wile Home Furnishing Service Co.
Limited (B M H % R E R B R A7) (the "Wole Target”)
at the consideration of HK$36 million to be settled by the
allotment and issue of the Wole Consideration Shares; (B)
the Jiajiafu Agreement with Tider Holdings Limited (the
"Jiajiafu Vendor"”) in respect of the acquisition of 7% of
Jiajiafu Modern Agriculture (HK) Limited (R R = 38 X B ¥
(&%) BMR AR (the “Jiajiafu Target”) at the consideration
of HK$40 million to be settled as to (a) HK$10,928,000 by
cash and (b) HK$29,072,000 by the allotment and issue of the
Jiajiafu Consideration Shares.

On 8 April 2022 the Company and the Wole Vendor entered
into a new agreement (the “New Wole Agreement”) to acquire
30% equity interestinthe B M K ERERBEE R E L A A
(Lanzhou Wole Home Furnishing Service Co. Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC) at the consideration of HK$36
million to be settled by the allotment and issue of the Wole
Consideration Shares. The New Wole Agreement shall
supersede the Wole Agreement, which was terminated and
became void on 8 April 2022.

At the SGM held on 26 May 2022, all the following resolutions:
(A) To approve the issue of the Wole Consideration Shares
pursuant to the Wole Agreement; (B) To approve the issue
of the Jiajiafu Consideration Shares pursuant to the Jiajiafu
Agreement were duly passed as ordinary resolutions of
the Company. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated on 6 April 2022, 7 April 2022, 8 April
2022, 10 May 2022 and 26 May 2022.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2022.

39.

40.

HREWEREBEE
RZTF-__FWARAE  ARAGIZA
TEZEWZE - AREBAY ([BREEHR])
RBBEBEMNBERERBER AR ([
LBRAA])100%ET L HEHH - K
BIEBEETHBEBERENBETRER
B E R+ (B)E2Tider Holdings Limited
(IRXBEA]) RUBRXEERR
¥ (F8) BRAA (IRRXEEBERQAF])
TR LRREW#E - REOBEETH
(a) LA 3R & 18 15110,928,0007% 7T : K (b) AL 3%
RETRRERERD E1~29,072,000%
T o

RZE-—FWEANB » AR A HEHH L%
BELERTHE ([FREHBHE]) LK
BEMNBRLRERBBEREETLF (B
REFEMASZEH AR 0%KE - KB
6E BB T AR RBETRERERD
B - REHERINARBLRE - H
RZEZZFHANBEKIEWER -

NRZEBEZ—_FRAZ+NBEITZRE
HRXE  MENTREBER : AER
BRELHZHETRERERD - B)IE
BEXRXREBBETRRERERD

ERXBBAEARGIZEBIAZE - B
HE o B2EARFTBHAE-_ZT -
WARNE » ZE-Z=-_FWA+H - =%

—“—H#mWMANB - ZE-—_4FFHATH
E-_ZE-—EFRA-t+RABZRE -

e A B 3R &
EEQEN-_T--_FAA=tAKAE
REEHERBERE -
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFMBHRE

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1T—-HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZBo-F T ZEZTHE T-NE ZT)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERx FHT FHAL FHT FHT
RESULTS EF
Revenue Wi = = = 600 600
Loss before income tax expense BETSHAYAEE (20,010) (15,450) (52,541) (87,911) (19,365)
Income tax expense b - > S . =
Loss for the year attributable to ARAEEABIEREE
owners of the Company 18 (20,010) (15,450) (52,541) (87,911) (19,365)
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1T-HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
- —Z--F% Z2-%F —E-hF ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FET FET TET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
Non-current assets ERBEE 68,497 9,429 8,726 37,778 105,423
Current assets MEEE 167,165 45,080 37,193 71,694 125,716
Current liabilities mEaf (10,119) (5,178) (4,849) (3,601) (821)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (1,527) = = - -
Total equity BB 224,016 49,331 41,070 105,871 230,318
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